

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

# Behavioral, Demographic, and Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus in Zambian Women

Debebe Masresha Gebreyohannes Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Public Health Education and Promotion Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Health Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Debebe Gebreyohannes

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Ji Shen, Committee Chairperson, Public Health Faculty Dr. Kelley Sams, Committee Member, Public Health Faculty Dr. Simone Salandy, University Reviewer, Public Health Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2020

Abstract

Behavioral, Demographic, and Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus in Zambian

Women

by

Debebe Gebreyohannes

MS, Alemaya University, 2003

BS, Awassa University, 1998

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health

Walden University

2020

### Abstract

The rate of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection shows a diminishing trend at the global level while it shows increasing in intensity of mortality, morbidity, and burden in Sub-Saharan Africa. The intertwined behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants fueled the incidence of infections in Zambian women. The purpose of this study was to determine the association between demographic, behavioral, and clinical determinants with HIV serostatus in Zambian women. With the conceptual framework of the World Health Organization's Commission for Social Determinants of Health (CSDH) and quantitative method of MANOVA, this study examined Zambian Demographic Health Survey data for Zambian women of two age groups (adolescent and adult). The findings showed statistically significant results in the association between HIV serostatus and self-perceived HIV risk for both groups and in the association between education and HIV serostatus among women in both groups (adolescents and adults). However, there was no statistically significant association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants of HIV serostatus. These findings imply the need to conduct prospective studies to curb this deadly virus and improve community health for women in Africa.

# Behavioral, Demographic, and Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus in Zambian

Women

by

Debebe Gebreyohannes

MS, Alemaya University, 2003

BS, Awassa University, 1998

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health

Walden University

2020

# Dedications

This manuscript is dedicated to my late father, Masresha Gebreyohannes Babu and my late mother, Askale Woldetensay Tekle, who allowed me to commence my education and continuously encouraged me with the tremendous material, spiritual and emotional supports to obtaining the glorious landscape of these tremendous educational achievements. All heartfelt encouragements of friends, bypassers, and people from all walks of life are highly credited and do deserve my appreciation.

# Acknowledgments

First of all, I would like to praise the Almighty God, who guided me for accomplishing the highest caliber of education, Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.), in Public Health Specializing Community Health. I exceptionally would like to thank Dr. Ji Shen, my chairperson, who provided me full support, guidance, and expertise to go through the process of the dissertation and come to the end of the accomplishment of this academic journey. Special thanks to Dr. Kelly C. Sams, my committee member who supported me with timely feedback and excellent teamwork with the chair. Dr. Diribwa Debebe Mintesnot facilitated sending of my education documents from three universities and I was able to start my Ph.D. journey at Walden University because of this fantastic effort. I very much appreciate all my dear friends and priests, deacons, and parishioners of Ethiopian Orthodox Tewahido Church for their support, prayers, and encouragement to accomplish this prestigious academic milestone.

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study1
Overview1
Background2
Problem Statement
Purpose of the Study
Research Questions and Hypotheses
Conceptual Framework of the Study9
Nature of the Study
Acronyms11
Assumptions13
Scope and Delimitations13
Limitations13
Significance14
Summary15
Chapter 216
Introduction16
Literature Search Strategy16
Conceptual Framework
Overview of HIV
Distribution of HIV24
HIV Serostatus

# Table of Contents

	HIV Incidence	27
	Stages and Classification of HIV Infection	27
1	Types of HIV Tests	29
	HIV Prevention Strategies	31
	Behavioral Determinants of HIV Serostatus	42
•	Demographic Determinants of HIV Serostatus	43
	Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus	44
•	Behavioral, Demographic, and Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus	45
	HIV in Sub-Saharan Africa	46
	HIV in Zambia	47
	Summary and Conclusions	49
Cha	pter 3	51
	Introduction	51
	Research Design and Rationale	51
	Methodology	52
	Population	. 52
	Sampling and Sampling Procedures	. 53
	Using Archival Data	. 54
	Research Questions and Hypothesis	55
	Data Analysis Plan	. 57
	Preparing the Data	. 58
1	Threats to Validity	59

External Validity	59
Internal Validity	60
Ethical Procedures	60
Summary	61
Chapter 4: Results	62
Introduction	62
Data Collection	65
Results	65
Demographics	65
Hypothesis Testing 1	71
Hypothesis Testing 2	80
Hypothesis Testing 3	88
Hypothesis Testing 4	94
Hypothesis Testing 5	100
Hypothesis Testing 6	108
Hypothesis Testing 7	116
Hypothesis Testing 8	128
Summary	140
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	143
Introduction	143
Interpretation of the Findings	143
Behavioral Determinants of HIV Serostatus	

Demographic Determinants of HIV Serostatus 144
Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus 145
Demographic, Behavioral, and Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus 146
The linkage between the Findings and the Conceptual Framework 147
Limitations of the Study147
Recommendations148
Implications148
Conclusion149
References

# List of Tables

Table 1 Cross-tabulation of Education $\times$ Location for Zambian Women Aged 18–49
Years
Table 2 Cross-tabulation of Marital Status $\times$ Location for Zambian Women Aged 18–49
Years old
Table 3 Descriptive Statistics for Dependent Variables and Clinical Determinants of
Zambian Women Aged 18–49 Years67
Table 4 Multivariate Tests on Behavioral Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian
Women Aged 18–24 Years72
Table 5 Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference for Behavioral Determinants of HIV
Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 18–24 Years75
Table 6 Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Behavioral Determinants of HIV
Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 18–24 Years78
Table 7 Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference for Behavioral Determinants of HIV
Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 25-49 Years
Table 8 Multivariate Tests on Behavioral Determinants of HIV Serostatus on Zambian
Women Aged 25–49 Years
Table 9 Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Behavioral Determinants of HIV
Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 25–49 Years
Table 10 Multivariate Tests on Demographic Determinants of HIV Serostatus on
Zambian Women Aged 18–24 Years

Table 11 Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Demographic Determinants of HIV
Serostatus on Zambian Women Aged 18–24 Years
Table 12 Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Demographic Determinants of HIV
Serostatus on Zambian Women Aged 25–49 Years95
Table 13 Multivariate Tests on Demographic Determinants of HIV Serostatus on
Zambian Women Aged 25–49 Years
Table 14 Multivariate Tests on Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian
Women Aged 18–24 Years101
Table 15 Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference (HSD) and Least Significant
Difference (LSD) for Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women
Aged 18–24 Years
Table 16 Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus
for Zambian Women Aged 18–24 Years106
Table 17 Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference (HSD) and Least Significant
Difference (LSD) for Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women
of Aged 25–49 Years 109
Table 18 Multivariate Tests on Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian
Women Aged 25–49 Years111
Table 19 Tests of Between-Subjects Effects for Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus
for Zambian Women Aged 25–49 Years 114

Table 20 Multivariate Tests on Synergistic Analysis of Behavioral, Demographic, and
Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 18-24 Years
Table 21 Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Synergistic Analysis of Behavioral,
Demographic, and Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women
Aged 18–24 Years 120
Table 22 Multivariate Tests on Synergistic Analysis of Behavioral, Demographic, and
Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 18-24 Years
Table 23 Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Synergistic Association of Behavioral,
Demographic, and Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women
Aged 18–24 Years 126
Table 24 Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Synergistic Analysis of Behavioral,
Demographic, and Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women
Aged 25–49
Table 25 Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Synergistic Association of Behavioral,
Demographic, and Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women
Aged 25–49 Years
Table 26 Multivariate Tests on Synergistic Association of Behavioral, Demographic, and
Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 25-49 Years

Table 27 Tests of Between-Subjects Effects for Synergistic Association of Behavioral,
Demographic, and Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women
Aged 25-49 Years 138

# List of Figures

Figure 1. WHO's Social Determinants of Health Conceptual Framework17
Figure 2. WHO Conceptual Framework for Action on Social Determinants of Health18
Figure 3. Modified WHO Conceptual Framework for Action on Social Determinants of Health
Figure 4. HIV status for Zambian women aged 18–24 years
Figure 5. Pie graph for the variable ever tested AIDS in Zambian women aged 18–49 years

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

## **Overview**

Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) is a virus that infects humans and leads to acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS), a lethal disease that weakens the immune system (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2015). Approximately 37 million people are living with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV); about 2 million new infections and almost 1 million AIDS-related deaths occur each year (Schwetz & Fauci, 2019).

Although infection rates of HIV/AIDS are decreasing globally, both infection rates and prevalence have increased in Zambia and other Sub-Saharan African countries (Ranganathan et al., 2017; Wakeham et al., 2017). Meager HIV prevention and insufficient access to clinical services are common issues in countries in this region. Ninety percent of HIV infections in this region is due to poor condom use and multiple sexual partners (Muzyamba, Broaddus, & Campbell, 2015). In Zambia, in particular, about 14% of people aged 18–49 years have HIV (Amoyaw, Kuuire, Boateng, Asare-Bediako, & Ung, 2015).

The purpose of this study is to assess the associations between the behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants of HIV serostatus in Zambian women. Findings from this study may inform methods to reduce new infections, deter mortality and morbidity associated with AIDS, and improve the quality of life for Zambian women living with HIV/AIDS.

### Background

Behavioral, demographic, and clinical factors affect HIV serostatus, as well as the risk acquisition levels, spread, and epidemic of HIV (Qiao, Zhang, Li, & Menon, 2018). Behavioral factors include the use of condoms and the number of sexual partners. Demographic determinants of HIV serostatus include age, sex, marital status, location, and education. Finally, clinical factors include HIV diagnosis, individuals' relationships with their health care providers, and access to counseling. Some factors serve as barriers to HIV testing and treatment, whereas others (such as access to counseling) facilitate the prevention of the disease.

# **Behavioral Factors**

Behavioral factors, such as multiple sexual partners, unprotected sex, nondisclosure of HIV positive serostatus, increased HIV new infections, and spread of HIV for adolescent and adult women, contribute to the prevalence of HIV (Pinchoff, Boyer, Mutombo, Chowdhuri, & Ngo, 2017; Salam et al., 2016). Mathur et al. (2018) found that, for heterosexual couples, having multiple sexual partners alone contributed to 15% of female HIV-positive cases and increased HIV prevalence by 4% for 15- to 19year-old Zambian women. Other researchers have found a positive correlation between the rate of HIV infection and sexual risk-taking in adolescent and adult women (Toska et al., 2017). For 15- to 49-year-olds, risky sexual behaviors led to greater increases in HIV prevalence for women than for men (Hegdahl, Fylkesnes, & Sandøy, 2016).

## **Demographic Factors**

HIV serostatus correlates with demographic variables such as age, sex, and location. For example, Chanda-Kapata, Klinkenberg, Maddox, Ngosa, & Kapata (2016) and McCarraher et al. (2018) found that women have higher HIV infection rates than men. Furthermore, Okawa et al. (2018) found that female adolescents did not understand HIV transmission methods, even though they were concerned about it affecting their future marriages. Kharsany and Karim (2016) found consistent increases in HIV infection and transmission rates in Zambian women aged 18–49 years; these rates are six times higher than those of similarly aged Zambian men. Both HIV/AIDS infection rates and HIV-associated deaths are higher among women (Amoyaw et al., 2015). Research also suggests that the risk level is higher in urban areas than in rural areas (Chanda-Kapata et al., 2016; McCarraher et al., 2018).

People who are unaware of their HIV status are at an elevated risk of spreading the virus. In Zambia, HIV affects 2.9% of the population, and an estimated 1.2 million women aged 15–49 years have HIV (Qiao, Zhang, Li, & Menon, 2018).

#### **Problem Statement**

Zambia is a country in the Sub-Saharan African region that has people living with a high burden of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infections and sustained HIV transmission. Zambia is one of the ten countries that have one of the highest HIV prevalence in the world, accounting for 4% of the worldwide HIV infected people (Kharsany & Karim, 2016). The different types of HIV serostatus (HIV positive serostatus, HIV negative serostatus, unknown HIV serostatus) indicated an association

with risk of HIV infection and rate of mortality, and rate of morbidity with other sexually transmitted diseases (Moodley, 2017). Researchers in their literature review found age and education critical to awareness of HIV serostatus and the risk of HIV transmission due to risky behaviors (inconsistent condom use) for adolescent and adult women at personal, interpersonal, and community levels (Okawa et al., 2018; Omonaiye, Kusljic, Nicholson, & Manias, 2018; Pinchoff, Boyer, Mutombo, Chowdhuri, & Ngo, 2017). Toska et al. (2017) have shown that multiple sexual partners in HIV infected women (aged 18-49 years) correlated with an increase in HIV infection and a decrease in HIV status awareness and concluded the lack of conclusive evidence on the main HIV risky sexual behaviors succumbing individual to HIV infections. The HIV epidemics and prevalence due to risky sexual behaviors were higher for 15-49-years older women compared to men with the same age group (Hegdahl, Fylkesnes, & Sandøy, 2016). The nonawareness of HIV status has been a risk in contributing to the spread of new HIV infections at a scale of 2.9% and an estimated 1.2 million HIV infected Zambian women aged 15-49 years (Qiao, Zhang, Li, & Menon, 2018). Demographic factors such as age, gender, and location are also associated with HIV serostatus at a higher rate of infection for females than males and more prevalence in urban communities than rural communities (Chanda-Kapata et al., 2016); McCarraher et al., 2018). In a cross-sectional study, Okawa e al. (2018) reported the association of knowledge deficiency to HIV transmission in female adolescents with unknown status and concerns of HIV infected female adults due to nondisclosure of HIV positive status. Their findings suggested a future study for in-depth understanding and more conclusive results on the

level of association of HIV serostatus and demographic factors (age, location, gender). Previous studies suggested having more data for drawing conclusive findings on behavioral determinants and demographic determinants to understand challenges and facilitators of HIV serostatus of Zambian women (Qiao, Zhang, Li, & Menon, 2018). Kharsany and Karim (2016) reported a continuous increase of HIV infection in Zambia women of 15-24 years at a scale of six times compared to men of similar age range and recommended future research focusing on risky sexual behaviors and knowledge gap in HIV serostatus awareness at a community level. Systematic and meta-analyses showed a limitation of research on behavioral factors associated to the HIV status of adolescents in Zambia and other Sub-Saharan Africa because of the studies focus on specific sexual behaviors (Ssewanyana et al., 2018). Moreover, systematic reviews recommended further studies on clinical factors such as linkage to treatment and commencement of antiretroviral medications to increase testing and treating and advance HIV treatment outcomes (Mark et al., 2017; Williams, Renju, Ghilardi, & Wringe, 2017). Therefore, this study assesses the association between the behavioral determinants (condom use, sexual partners, and HIV self-perceived risk), demographic determinants, and clinical determinants (use of HIV services GOV, use of HIV services clinic, and use of HIV services NGO) with HIV serostatus and infer findings for possible recommendations to specific populations of Zambia, such as adolescent women from age 18 to 24 years and adult women from age 25 to 49 years.

#### **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this study is to assess the association between behavioral and demographic determinants with HIV serostatus in Sub-Saharan Africa and propose preventive measures to reduce the burden of HIV, eliminate new infections, and promote community health of Zambian adolescent and adult women. I plan to understand the association of behavioral and demographic determinants with HIV serostatus and the impact of positive social change specifically on Zambian adolescent and adult women and possibly make a generalizable recommendation for women in similar settings who reside in Sub-Saharan African Countries.

# **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

Research Question 1: What is the association between behavioral determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24 years?

 $H_0$ 1: There is no statistically significant association between behavioral determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24 years.

 $H_{a}1$ : There is a statistically significant association between behavioral determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24 years.

Research Question 2: What is the association between behavioral determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from ages 25 to 49 years?

 $H_0$ 2: There is no statistically significant association between behavioral determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from ages 25 to 49 years.

 $H_a$ 2: There is a statistically significant association between behavioral determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from ages 25 to 49 years.

Research Question 3: What is the association between demographic determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24 years?

 $H_0$ 3: There is no statistically significant association between demographic determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24 years.

 $H_a$ 3: There is a statistically significant association between demographic determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24 years.

Research Question 4: What is the association between demographic determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from ages 25 to 49 years?

 $H_0$ 4: There is no statistically significant association between demographic determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from ages 25 to 49 years.

 $H_a$ 4: There is a statistically significant association between demographic determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from ages 25 to 49 years.

Research question 5. What is the association between clinical determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24?

 $H_05$ : There is no statistically significant association between clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24 years.

 $H_a$ 5: There is a statistically significant association between clinical determinants and HIV serostatus in Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24 years. Research question 6. What is the association between clinical determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from ages 25 to 49 years?

 $H_06$ : There is no statistically significant association between clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from ages 25 to 49 years.

 $H_a$ 6: There is a statistically significant association between clinical determinants and HIV serostatus in Zambian female adults from ages 25 to 49 years.

Research Question 7: What is the synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus of Zambian adolescents from ages 18 to 24 years?

 $H_0$ 7: There is no statistically significant synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24 years.

 $H_a$ 7: There is a statistically significant synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus in Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24 years.

Research Question 8: What is the synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus of Zambian adults from age 25 to 49 years?

 $H_0$ 8: There is no statistically significant synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from age 25 to 49 years.  $H_a$ 8: There is a statistically significant synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus in Zambian female adults from age 25 to 49 years.

## **Conceptual Framework of the Study**

The World Health Organization's Commission for Social Determinants of Health (CSDH) is a conceptual framework used for this study. The CSDH reviewed extensive evidence on social determinants of health and addressed the behavioral and demographic factors that impact health equity and the community health (Östlin et al., 2011). This conceptual framework addresses population health and understands the community health inequalities at the global level in wealthy and developing countries (Venkatapuram, 2010). Moreover, WHO conceptual framework had been applied in low and middleincome countries and proved sufficient to measure health inequalities and involve policymakers for health promotion of the population health (Guerra, Borde, & de Snyder, 2016). Mtenga, Pfeiffer, Tanner, Geubbels, & Merten (2018) have shown that there is a connection between men's involvement in multiple sexual partners and HIV acquiring to the extent women have a higher risk of HIV infection at individual levels. In addition to men's several partners, factors such as women's economic dependence, alcohol drinking behaviors, and lack of financial certainty increased the risk of HIV to women (Mtenga, Pfeiffer, Tanner, Geubbels, & Merten, 2018). The authors created a literature review on the social determinants of HIV health in different social, economic, and demographic settings. The authors revealed that differences in gender, age, and race, sexual behaviors (multiple sexual partners, sex worker, noncondom use), low literacy level,

unemployment, low economic status were risk factors for increased rate of HIV infection and HIV transmission (Araújo, Duarte, & Pereira, 2018).

# Nature of the Study

The nature of this study will be an inferential study. For this study, health data on "Survey of HIV Status and Fertility Preference in Sub-Saharan Africa 2009-2010 (ICPSR 36718)" will be used for secondary data analysis. The survey included female adolescents (18-24 years) and female adult Zambians (25-49 years). The behavioral, demographic, clinical determinants of HIV serostatus will be assessed. The outcome or the dependent variables will be HIV serostatus: HIV test result, ever tested HIV, ever tested AIDS). The quantitative approach will be used to quantify the behavioral and demographic determinants for testing statistically significant results. I will conduct a multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA). The quantitative method will further produce quantitative descriptive statistics on HIV serostatus from this demographic health survey data.

#### Acronyms

*Abstain, Be Faithful, Condomize (ABC) strategy*: An HIV prevention strategy that combines abstaining from sexual intercourse, being faithful to a one sexual partner, and using a condom during sexual activities (Burman, Aphane, & Delobelle, 2015).

*Acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS)*: HIV with an advanced stage of a compromised immune system leading to the manifestation of opportunistic infections (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2015).

Acquired drug resistance (ADR): the development of mutation due to the replication of the virus while on ART (Omooja et al., 2019).

Antiretroviral therapy (ART): HIV medication used to prevent and treat the virus. Cluster of differentiation 4 (CD4): glycoprotein instituted on the surface of immune cells like T helper cells, monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells that has significant roles in T cell growth and host resistances at the time of the viral infections (Xueyan, Yanping, Jianfeng, & Jiying, 2018).

*Deoxynucleic acid (DNA):* double-stranded (helix) with sets of nucleotides containing genetic (hereditary) material in almost all living organisms.

*Highly active antiretroviral therapy:* A combination of antiretroviral treatments, aimed at both targeting various stages of the HIV replication cycle and maximizing suppression of the virus.

*HIV incidence*: The number of new HIV infections in a specific time and population (Friis & Sellers, 2004).

*HIV prevalence*: The number of individuals living with HIV in a specific population at a particular time (Friis & Sellers, 2004).

*Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV):* A virus that infects humans and leads to AIDS (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2015).

*Ribonucleic acid (RNA):* a single-stranded (helix) nucleic acid present in all living organisms and acts as a messenger to carry instructions from DNA and to synthesize proteins

*Serodiscordance*: Mixed HIV serostatus in a sexual relationship; that is, one of the partners is HIV positive and the other is HIV negative (Persson, 2013).

*Serostatus*: The result of an HIV blood test, either positive (referred to as *seropositive*) or negative (*seronegative*). When a person has not taken an HIV blood test, they have *unknown serostatus*.

Sexually transmitted infections: Infectious diseases transmitted through sexual activity.

*Sub-Saharan Africa:* The region of Africa below the Sahara Desert composed of countries located in East Africa, Central Africa, South Africa, and West Africa (Merdad & Ali, 2018).

*Test and treat:* An approach to HIV management in populations with an HIV epidemic, in which health workers test people for HIV and immediately start them on ART (regardless of their CD4 cell count; Rozhnova, van, Heijne, & Kretzschmar, 2016).

#### Assumptions

In this study, I use secondary data from the 2009–2010 *Demographic Health Survey* conducted in Zambia and Nigeria. In selecting this data, I have made the following assumptions: (a) the data are accurate, (b) the survey designers selected the appropriate measures for the variables, (c) experienced personnel collected the data, (d) survey administrators used the participants' native language, and (e) participants provided accurate data. For the current study, I have further assumed that the sample size of 1,441 women is sufficiently large and that the data accurately represent the population of Zambian women (because the survey administrators collected data from both urban and rural groups).

### **Scope and Delimitations**

In this study, I analyze demographic health survey data collected in 2009 and 2010 in Zambia and Nigeria. I explore the demographic, behavioral, and clinical determinants of HIV serostatus in two groups of Zambian women (1,441 women total): adolescents (ages 18–24 years) and adults (ages 25–49 years).

## Limitations

There are several potential limitations to this study. First, due to cultural, normative, or religious pressures, participants may not have provided full or accurate data (particularly in the areas of HIV, family planning, current and past sexual practice, previous abortions, and attitudes toward and use of HIV services). Women may have also withheld information due to fear of stigma or sexual violence from a male partner. Second, the generalizability of this study's findings may be limited because Zambia has a diverse population, and it may have been challenging for survey administrators to collect data from all ethnic groups, particularly those that are isolated. The sample may not include equal numbers of women from urban and rural locations. Therefore, sampling, selection, and recall biases might be introduced at the time of the data collection. Third, because the current study is a cross-sectional study, data are only available from one particular point in time, as opposed to over an extended period.

### Significance

This study will contribute possible prevention strategies that target the women population who are at elevated HIV risk and is assumed to have potential relevance in impacting a positive social change specifically for Zambian women and possibly for the Sub-Saharan women with similar settings. The category of variables for this study includes independent variables and dependent variables from a secondary data set *"Survey of HIV Status and Fertility Preference in Sub-Saharan Africa 2009-2010 (ICPSR 36718)."* The independent variables are demographic determinants (age, location, marital status), clinical determinants (use of HIV services GOV, use of HIV services clinic, and use of HIV services NGO), and behavioral determinants (condom use, sexual partners, and HIV self-perceived risk). The dependent variables are HIV test result, ever tested HIV, and ever tested for HIV/AIDS. At the individual level, younger women in urban areas have male sexual partners of higher ages who practice risky sexual behavior (alcohol before sex, unprotected heterosexual interaction). The practice of perilous male sexual partners was disproportionately impacting women in Zambia and

women in other Sub-Saharan countries (Maughan-Brown, Evans, & George, 2016). There is a trend of increased risk of HIV and other sexually transmitted diseases (STDs) during pregnancy. The incidence and prevalence of sexually transmitted infections (HIV, chlamydia, gonorrhea, and syphilis) have increased in pregnant women in Sub-Saharan African and the rest of the world with the higher burden of STD infection for women below 30 years old (Teasdale et al., 2018). At the racial level, the rate of HIV mortality for Black women was eight times compared to White women (Nesbeth, Kandala, Najeeb, Nazneen, & Murthy, 2018). At a global level, the unknown HIV status was reported to cause eight times more deaths for women compared to men, and future research was recommended for identification of individuals with a high risk of HIV acquisition and detect their status and confirm this finding (Platt et al., 2016). I assume this study will provide additional insight in understanding the combination of behavioral, demographic, and clinical factors in determining HIV serostatus for Zambian female adolescent (18-24 years) and female adult (25-49 years) who are in an uncontrolled burden of HIV infection, continuous risk of HIV transmission, and a higher epidemic in era of diminishing trend of HIV in the rest of the world (Agbor, Etokidem, & Ugwa, 2017; Freeman et al., 2012; Goldberg & Short, 2016; Mojola, 2017).

#### Summary

This chapter provided an overview of the study and literature on HIV/AIDS in Zambian women. Chapter 2 includes a detailed review of the conceptual and empirical research on HIV/AIDS in Zambian women.

# Chapter 2

# Introduction

In this chapter, a review of the literature deals with behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants of HIV serostatus in Zambian women. Two age groups participated in the demographic health survey; 18-24-year-old (adolescents) and 25-49-year-old (adult) Zambian women. The literature review was used to assess the association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants of HIV serostatus. The literature review is sectioned into categories including the conceptual framework, HIV awareness of women, HIV in Sub-Saharan Africa, HIV epidemics in Zambia, HIV prevalence in Zambia, HIV prevalence in Zambia women, behavioral determinants of HIV serostatus, and types of HIV testing.

### **Literature Search Strategy**

Secondary data for the previous dissertation topic, *The Immunomodulatory Role* of Vitamin D in HIV Infected African American Women, was researched. The efforts and requests, which lasted approximately four months, for the secondary data from database managing organizations, were not fruitful. During a dataset search in the Walden University databases, Center for Research Quality, under the search word "HIV," a demographic health survey called the *Survey of HIV Status and Fertility Preferences in Sub-Saharan Africa, 2009-2010 (ICPSR 36718)* updated/released by Bankole Akinrinou was located. This prompted the development of a new topic on April 10, 2017. The survey was conducted in Zambia and was posted in the Inter-University Consortium for Political and Social Research (ICPSR). The dataset was used to address the research questions under the topic, *Behavioral, Demographic, and Clinical Determinants of HIV Status in Zambian Women*. The keyword used to search this secondary data in Walden University's "Center for Research Quality," specifically in ICPSR datasets, was HIV. The literature sources for the current study were searched solely within the Walden University EBSCO search engine. The search keywords were *HIV, HIV/AIDS, HIV Serostatus, HIV prevalence, HIV incidence, Global HIV prevalence, HIV prevalence, HIV incidence, Global HIV prevalence, HIV prevalence, HIV incidence, and HIV epidemics, HIV in Sub-Saharan Africa, and HIV in Zambia, Women HIV awareness, and women HIV awareness in Sub-Saharan Africa. The search modes and expanders (Boolean/phrase, find all my search items, and find any of my search items) under the search options of the EBSCO search engine were pertinent mechanisms that provided tremendous possibilities and opportunities to obtain specific literature and diverse literature types that could be used for the various contents of the literature review.* 

#### **Conceptual Framework**

The World Health Organization's Commission for Social Determinants of Health (CSDH) was the conceptual framework used in this study. The CSDH reviewed extensive evidence on the social determinants of health and addressed the behavioral and demographic factors that impact health equity and community health (Östlin et al., 2011). In the conceptual framework, population health was addressed, and an understanding of the community health inequalities at the global level, both in wealthy and developing countries, was provided (Venkatapuram, 2010). Moreover, the aforementioned

conceptual framework had been applied in low and middle-income countries and proved useful for measuring health inequalities and involving policymakers for health promotion of the population (Guerra, Borde, & De, 2016).

In a cross-sectional sequential explanatory mixed-method design guided by the World Health Organization Commission Social Determinants of Health, the connection between men's involvement with multiple sexual partners, and the extent to which women were at a higher risk of HIV infection were publicized at community and individual levels. In that study, in addition to men's multiple partners, factors such as economic dependence, alcohol-drinking behaviors, and lack of financial certainty increased women's risk of HIV (Mtenga, Pfeiffer, Tanner, Geubbels, & Merten, 2018). The authors conducted a literature review on the social determinants of HIV health in different social, economic, and demographic settings. The authors revealed that differences in gender, age, race, sexual behaviors (multiple sexual partners, sex worker, noncondom use), low literacy level, unemployment, and low economic status were risk factors for increased rates of HIV infection and HIV transmission (Saffier, Kawa, & Harling, 2017). Biomedical researchers dealt with this conceptual framework, which was used to find the causal agents of communicable diseases, control methods by biomedical researchers, identify the risks associated with chronic disease, and minimize the chances of chronic illnesses by epidemiologists (Masic, 2018). The World Health Organization's Commission for Social Determinants of Health influenced the dynamic HIV/AIDS for demographic determinants (gender, age, social network) and behavioral determinants

(sexual partners, condom use) on the rate of HIV infection to people living with HIV (Araújo & Duarte, 2018).



Figure 1. World Health Organization's Social Determinants of Health Conceptual

Framework.



Figure 2. World Health Organization (2010) A conceptual framework for action on the

social determinants of health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010.


*Figure 3*. Modified World Health Organization (2010). A conceptual framework for action on the social determinants of health.

#### **Overview of HIV**

The human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) is a retrovirus that infects humans and may cause AIDS if left untreated. The HIV-1 is a ribonucleic acid (RNA)-coated virus that lacks deoxynucleic acid (DNA) and is believed to be etiologically responsible for the development of active immunodeficiency syndrome(AIDS) (Trovato, D'Apice, Prisco, & De, 2018). The major types of HIV classification include HIV type-1 and HIV type-2, with differences in genetic features and viral antigens. On the other hand, the immunodeficiency virus has two categories: human (human immunodeficiency virus, HIV) and nonhuman origin (simian immunodeficiency virus, SIV).

According to epidemiological and phylogenetic analyses, the origin of type-1 HIV was the Central African Chimpanzee, and the origin of type-2 HIV was the West African Sooty Mangabey (German Advisory Committee Blood Subgroup, 2016). The type-1 HIV (HIV-1) is globally more predominant, spreads at a faster rate, and varies in genetic structure and antigenicity, compared to type-2 HIV (HIV-2), which has limited distribution and a relatively low rate of progress (Júnior, Andrade, Ferreira, Oliveira, & Pinheiro, 2014). The transmission of HIV-1 from one partner to another mainly occurs via sexual activities, and from an HIV positive mother to her child during labor, delivery, and breastfeeding. HIV can also be acquired by a healthy person, from an infected person, through an injecting-needle exchange, and through occupational needle sticks blood exposure.

The human immunodeficiency virus contains two ribonucleic acids(RNA) and it acquires DNA through reverse transcription, which provides the opportunity to integrate,

assemble, and commence viral reproduction using the host cells as replication machinery. HIV mainly infects and destroys the cluster of differentiation 4 (CD4) immune cells, 60% of which are found in the gastrointestinal tract, and works by disrupting and dislocating the normal flora, progress into the stages of immunocompromising and succumbing the host to opportunistic infections (Williams-Orlando, 2017). The scale of HIV infection varies along gender lines, and in most situations, women are at a higher risk of acquiring the virus. Out of about 1 million HIV positive Zambians, 58% were women, indicating the level of vulnerability of females compared to males. The level of vulnerability was attributed to an uneven physiological risk in a heterosexual relationship and gender-related violence experienced by women (Viljoen et al., 2017).

The awareness of HIV serostatus has paramount importance in controlling new infections. In the United States, of 1.2 million people living with HIV, about 13% are not aware of their infection, which increases new infections, and weakens the public health efforts to slow down HIV prevalence (Wei, Mulatu, Rorie, Hui, & Gilford, 2017). There are three major types of HIV infections. Acute HIV infection (AHI) is characterized by the presence of viremia (the virus in the blood) in human blood, with the absence of specific HIV antibodies, and has a higher potential of infectiousness (Hino et al., 2018). In 2016, the mortality of approximately 35 million people from acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS)-associated calamities, and 36 million people living with HIV were reported (Word Health Organization, 2017). In an era of prevention and treatment advancements, HIV/AIDS remains a critical cause of death and suffering in the

SSA, accounting for 70% of worldwide emerging HIV infections and AIDS-related mortality and morbidity (Akinyemi, 2016).

In the era of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) use and the subsequent changing pattern of HIV transmission, the heterosexual transmission now accounts for greater than 70% of the new cases identified worldwide, with the higher number of HIV infections victims being women (Devadas et al., 2018). HIV initially attaches to the human cells and then multiplies using the CD4 machinery of replication, progressing throughout the body in a seven-stage life cycle process, which informs the target of therapeutic interventions to suppress the virus. The life cycle stages of HIV are binding (attachment), fusion, reverse transcription, integration, replication, assembly, and budding, which are the targets of action of HIV medications (Adamson & Freed, 2010; Chupradit et al., 2017; Lucera et al., 2017; Malik, Chauhan, Rath, Murthy, & Goyal, 2017).

#### **Distribution of HIV**

HIV-1 and HIV-2 are the two main types of HIV. HIV-1 is more pathogenic than HIV-2, which is limited in distribution in West Africa (Williams-Orlando, 2017). It also has temporal and spatial distribution. The spatial distribution of HIV is a paradigm that deals with geographical distributions. The temporal distribution of HIV was assessed to understand factors that caused mortality, despite early commencement of antiretroviral therapy (ART), of HIV infected individuals in Nigeria, a Sub-Saharan African country with the highest burden of HIV infections (Akinyemi et al., 2015). Akinyemi (2016) found that the variations in the spatiotemporal distribution of HIV implied that the direction of the focus of interventions should address high-risk communities and sections of society, to minimize new HIV acquisitions. The HIV prevention strategies were more effective with even distribution of HIV testing sites, including the increase in nonclinical tests and self-testing kits (Chen et al., 2017). Although the higher prevalence of HIV-2 is in West Africa and India, the report by Zbinden, Dürig, Shah, Böni, and Schüpbach (2016) demonstrated that the distribution of HIV-2 in the United States and Europe was due to migrations, and they recommended the consideration of diagnosis for coinfection of HIV-1 and HIV-2.

## **HIV Serostatus**

Awareness of HIV serostatus provided the opportunity to start, link to, and adhere to antiretroviral medications. At a societal level, approximately 30% of new infections were attributed to unknown HIV serostatus persons infecting their sexual companions (Bradley, Vidot, Gaul, Sutton, & Pereyra, 2018). Based on Bradley and colleagues (2018), many public health practitioners highlighted the essentiality of HIV testing, specifically for communities that are excessively impacted by HIV. The National Institute of Health in South Africa suggested the "Seek, Test, Treat, and Retain" HIV prevention strategy for HIV serodiscordant couples (Doherty et al., 2016). Awareness of HIV serostatus has several public health benefits such as effective prevention, reduction of transmission, and managing epidemics. Authors in South Africa reported that about 24% of older adults living with HIV were untested and that efforts focused on self-reported HIV serostatus would lead to interventions, launching treatments, and taking prevention actions (Rohr et al., 2017).

HIV serostatus is classified into HIV positive, HIV negative, unknown serostatus, and mixed HIV serostatus. A mixed HIV serostatus in a couple relationship (serodiscordant couple) refers to one of the partners being HIV positive and the other being HIV negative (Bazzi, Leech, Biancarelli, Sullivan, & Drainoni, 2017). HIV positive refers to the acquisition of the retrovirus in blood, confirmed through serological tests, while the presence of the HIV antibody is an indicator of acquiring the virus in the body (Zemp, Johnson, & Bodenmann, 2019). An HIV negative serostatus confirms the absence of the virus in the blood post serological test, and HIV negativity informs to follow safety measures and practice prevention interventions to avoid new HIV infection and thereby control HIV pandemic (Mayaphi et al., 2018). Mixed serostatus is a condition where one partner is HIV positive, and the other partner is HIV negative within a couple's relationship. Researchers presented a possible explanation for the existence of a mixed HIV serostatus also called HIV seroconcordant couples. For an HIV serodiscordant couple, intervention is required to protect HIV uninfected women and HIV infected men from HIV acquisition from their HIV positive partners, specifically at the time of conception and limit HIV vertical transmission (Joseph et al., 2018). The identification of HIV during acute HIV infection underlines positive serostatus, and the disclosure at this stage will have a profound advantage for the prevention of HIV transmission (Hino et al., 2018). There is an interconnected congruence of HIV incidence, prevalence, and epidemics, and HIV prediction serves to measure incidence from prevalence, prevalence from incidence, outbreaks from the occurrence, and prevalence (Saffier, Kawa, & Harling, 2017).

#### **HIV Incidence**

HIV incidence varies with heterosexual partners, ages differences, occupation, demographics and population heterogeneity, and the state of risk associated with exposure to HIV infection. HIV incidence is the result of HIV seroconversion, discourse to the development of a detectable HIV antibody as a result of a response to HIV infection (Marty et al., 2018). Laeyendecker et al. (2018) reported that the implementation of advanced testing techniques was necessary to best estimate HIV incidence from HIV surveillance, and longitudinal cohorts depending on the availability of funds. The extent of risk factors was highly related to the incidence and the rise of HIV epidemics. Typically, injection drug users in the Middle East and North Africa showed elevated new epidemics and a higher prevalence of HIV (Mumtaz et al., 2018). Among the general population in sub-Saharan Africa, young women aged 15 to 24 years are at the highest risk of HIV infection, with 25% of new infections occurring among this group in 2015. Young women's increased risk of HIV acquisition is due to a complex interplay of biological and behavioral factors (Acharya et al., 2018).

# **Stages and Classification of HIV Infection**

CD4 cells are part of the immune system in the white blood cells, whose roles are to fight infections. The CD4 cell (CD4+) counts have a direct relationship with the viral load and CD4+ counts with a threshold of 350 cells/mm<sup>3</sup> and initiate ART for new HIV infections (Govender et al., 2014). In contrast to the threshold of CD4 counts necessary to start HIV therapy, Yah (2017) advised providing treatments to HIV-infected individuals regardless of the CD4 counts, to advance prevention, and to reduce and control HIV- associated illness, deaths, and opportunistic infection. ART is believed to reduce the viral load and reconstructs the CD4+ T-cells. Researchers in Nigeria showed the failure of immune reconstruction to the CD4 of 500 cells/mm<sup>3</sup> post taking ART for a year. Old age, comorbidity of infections with HIV, and development of immunological nonresponsiveness were the reasons for the failure of the immune revival (Motayo et al., 2017; Udeh et al., 2019).

HIV is categorized clinically and with regards to phases. The Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) classified HIV infection into three clinical stages (A = 10, B = 16, and C = 8), which indicate the stages of disease development (Alvarez-Tostado, Inozemtseva, Aguiñiga, López, & Matute, 2016). The CD4+ count is considered the gold standard for measuring the advancement of HIV infection (Olusola et al., 2017). A study on the pre-AIDS stage of HIV infection indicated that HIV infection was defined by stable CD4+ T-cell counts, the viral load, and the length of the symptomless HIV infection (De Medeiros et al., 2016). HIV-1 has two phases of infection, acute and chronic, and stages during the development of the disease that causes the deterioration or reduction of the helper CD4+ cells, and the hyperactivation of the immune system (Gorenec et al., 2016). Depending on the signs and symptoms in HIV-infected individuals, HIV could be in the form of symptomatic, asymptomatic, and opportunistic infections (Gascón et al., 2018). Anto et al. (2018) recommended proteinuria, a urine test for monitoring HIV, for predicting the extent of HIV infection and the immediate use of HAART to increase CD4 counts for immune declined HIV infected people.

#### **Types of HIV Tests**

The most common HIV test types are the HIV Antibody test, HIV Antibody/Antigen combination test, and the HIV Nucleic Acid RNA test (Masciotra et al., 2017; Stafylis & Klausner, 2017). The nucleic acid test identified the presence of HIV RNA in the early stages of HIV infection. Each of the HIV test types has characteristics in terms of sensitivity, specificity, and efficacy, to minimize false results and assure the quality and cost-effectiveness of the tests (Delaugerre et al., 2017). The combination of antibody and antigen (AB/AG) test is more efficient for the detection of primary HIV infection (Ghisetti, Coignard, Allice, & Thoai Duong, 2017). As Fransen et al. (2017) indicated, a combination of testing agents showed the efficacy of specificity and sensitivity of the test to identify acute HIV infection, which was challenging due to asymptomatic signs. For urban and semiurban settings of low- and middle-income countries, Moshoeu, Kuupiel, Gwala, and Mashamba-Thompson (2019) demonstrated the application of home-based HIV testing and counseling, to address clinical determinants associated with HIV testing in high epidemics settings. In Zambia, oral HIV tests are utilized to increase testing coverage (Chanda et al., 2017). There are barriers and facilitators of HIV testing in Zambia (Qiao, Zhang, Li, & Menon, 2018). Rapid antibody tests and advanced medicine and technologies that have shaped HIV testing are the facilitators of HIV testing. Barriers to HIV testing include stigma and discrimination. Qiao and colleagues (2018) further emphasized that improvements in HIV testing allowed HIV status awareness and the beginning of cascades of treatment that preclude

HIV transmission, connection to HIV care, beginning of medication, sustaining to ART, and consequentially suppressing the virus in crucial communities.

Based on experimental evidence, universal testing and treating would progress HIV care and HIV prevention at community levels despite application at a broader scope (Perriat et al., 2018). HIV testing, concomitant with counseling at a community level in Zambia, was successful in teaching the sexual risk (behavioral determinant) for developing HIV awareness and strengthening HIV prevention and HIV care (Witzel, Lora, Lees, & Desmond, 2017). The preference of antigen/antibody tests was higher in effectiveness relative to the detection of an acute HIV infection and was able to reduce the risk of viral transmission and development of resistance. Although these tests were effective in the detection of acute infection, most primary infections can be asymptomatic; thus, retests were recommended after a month for any missed initial infection (Delaugerre et al., 2017). Peter et al. (2017) suggested that health professionals implement coordinated approaches, and familiarize themselves with a wide range of testing areas, with increased scalability and equitability to the HIV tests.

In a wide-scale community HIV testing in Zambia, authors advised on the practice of the right HIV testing algorithm and rigorous training to maximize the testing performance at large scale (Bock et al., 2017). The authors encouraged future research to consider the individuals in the community in ART, who contributed to false-negative results after the implementation of HIV population-based HIV testing.

#### **HIV Prevention Strategies**

The purpose of HIV prevention strategies is to reduce new infections, thereby precluding horizontal and vertical transmission, and improve the quality of the lives of people living with HIV/AIDS through HIV interventions, sexuality education programs, policies, and the implementation of evidence-based information (Anderson, Ghys, Ombam, & Hallett, 2017; Sharma, Barnabas, & Celum, 2017; Warren et al., 2018). A brief discussion of each of the HIV prevention strategies follows.

# Advocacy on HIV Disclosure

Promoting open sexual communication is part of advocacy efforts to curb the spread of HIV. One of the advocacies relies on the implementation of voluntary medical male circumcision for reduction of HIV incidence (Sgaier et al., 2017). Biomedical HIV prevention deals with the practice of preventing the spread of HIV through vaccinations. Addressing infidelity, through teaching and counseling, in concurrent sexual partners was suggested as an effective HIV prevention strategy (Parker, Pettifor, Maman, Sibeko, & MacPhail, 2014). HIV prevention strategy targets the HIV serostatus of couples. For HIV discordant couples, prevention strategy depended on the concurrent actions of reducing risks and preserving the couple's relationship (Ngure et al., 2016). HIV serostatus disclosure allows for treatment services and facilitates HIV testing for a sexual partner. Both serostatus disclosure and partner testing will contribute to the reduction of new HIV infections and to the ultimate goal of eliminating HIV (Adeniyi et al., 2017). Advocacy for the reduction in HIV risk improves social interaction, influences public health policy,

prevents overdoses, and eventually decreases HIV transmissions (Story, Kao, Currin, Brown, & Charles, 2018).

### Nutrition for People Living with HIV

The efficacy of ART increases with nutrition that promotes health and helps maintain the immune system. Essential nutrition, such as vitamins, minerals, micronutrients, and vitamin D was extensively studied and recommended as an integral component of HIV prevention. Vitamin D has a traditional homeostatic role in calcium regulation, and most importantly, it immunomodulates the immune system and defends the body from infections that include HIV (Myszka & Klinger, 2014; Mastaglia et al., 2017). Vitamin D deficiency increased the viral load and elevated inflammation with higher HIV related mortality and morbidity for Black Americans compared to White Americans; the severity of HIV was more pronounced for Black American women than White American women (Bobbitt et al., 2015; Coelho et al., 2015; Havers et al., 2014).

### **Cultural Competency**

Perry-Mitchell and Davis-Maye (2017) stressed the use of evidence-based African-centered prevention that is culturally appropriate, to reduce disproportionate new infections and contain the fast spread of HIV in this community. Religion and culture possess taboos, metaphors, and understanding about HIV. The negative perceptions of people in Guinea Bissau, Africa, led to inadequate responses to HIV and succumbed the population to its spread, and increased mortality, and morbidity (Kelly-Hanku, Aggleton, & Shih, 2014; Shaw, McCrimmon, Mergenova, Sultangaliyeva, & El-Bassel, 2017). The integration of culturally relevant approaches proved beneficial for the promotion of HIV prevention, addressing health behaviors at the individual, community, population, and policy levels (Wilson et al., 2016). From a holistic lens, the comprehensive consideration of the social determinants of health, and the design of strategies to use social capital, improve ART compliance, and address disparities (geographical, race/ethnic, gender, literacy level) will significantly reduce new HIV infections (Bayati, Feyzabadi, & Rashidian, 2017; Gonah & Mukwirimba, 2016; Jun-Fang et al., 2017; Perez-Brumer et al., 2017).

### ABC-Strategy (Abstain, Be-faithful, Condomize)

The ABC-strategy promotes HIV-prevention factors such as abstaining, being faithful, and using condoms. The ABC-strategy was practiced in South Africa through advocacy and education showed success in turning the HIV epidemic into a manageable state (Burman, Aphane, & Delobelle, 2015). Eggers et al. (2017) advised implementing sexual abstinence interventions in conjunction with addressing HIV health awareness, understanding the ability to postpone sexual activities, and working on behavioral changes to drinking alcohol. Besides using an HIV prevention strategy, abstinence from sex was a suggestion as alternative protection of teenage pregnancy and other sexually transmitted infections (Mokwena & Morabe, 2016).

### The Test-and-Treat Strategy

The test-and-treat strategy is the WHO's guideline to initiate ART for HIV infections, post-diagnosis, to maximize HIV medication and limit subsequent spread (Rozhnova, Van, Heijne, & Kretzschmar, 2016). The ART will be initiated instantly, irrespective of the number of CD4+ T-cells, in accordance with the Universal-Test-andTreat WHO strategy. Kabogo, Muniu, Wamunyokoli, Musoke, and Songok (2018) recommended UTT to Africa by developing a new strategy to improve medication compliance with children and youth. Similarly, the strategy of seek, test, treat, and retain (STTR) will be more conclusive in reducing HIV morbidity and mortality. The STTR strategy could be used for the general population, and specifically for prisoners (high-risk population), to improve testing, advance medication adherence, and maintain a connection to caring services during incarceration, and after release to society from imprisonment (Golin et al., 2016; Normand, Montaner, Chi-Tai, Zunyou, & Yi-Ming, 2013).

# **HIV Surveillance**

The purpose of HIV surveillance varies across countries and settings. The primary purpose of HIV surveillance in the USA changed from the monitoring of HIV epidemics and the people affected, into assessing the impact of integrating HIV surveillance and field activities and connecting to healthcare providers (Hood et al., 2017; Beltrami, Dubose, Carson, & Cleveland, 2018). HIV surveillance was conducted in the USA based on algorithms categorized into a traditional algorithm (initial HIV antibody immunoassay followed by a Western blot or immunofluorescence antibody test), recommended algorithm (initial HIV antibody followed by HIV-1/2 type-differentiating antibody test), and rapid algorithm (rapid tests on the same date). The rapid diagnostic HIV test algorithm increased the number of people diagnosed, whereas the combination of traditional algorithm and the recommended test algorithms connected more HIV infected people with HIV care services than the traditional algorithm alone (Peruski, Dong, &

Selik, 2018). The HIV-1/2 antibody test was a procedure to detect concomitant infection type-1 HIV and type-2 (HIV-1 and HIV-2) in serological tests (Luo et al., 2019).

An adverse effect active surveillance system was used to monitor the Perspex male circumcision device in seven African countries, and such programs could increase its acceptability when supported with passive surveillance through an electronic information delivery system (Adamson, Tafuma, Davis, Xaba, & Herman-Roloff, 2017). Schwartz et al. (2017) reported, specifically for disproportionately high HIV-burden regions, the need to use a routine viral load monitoring tool to increase treatment efficacy and interoperable the surveillance data for facilitating the exchange of valid information in the healthcare institutions. A study conducted in six Sub-Saharan African countries identified gaps in HIV treatment distribution and delivery strategies, and HIV diagnosis policies to ensure continuity of health care for people living with HIV were recommended (Church et al., 2017). Likewise, a global study by UNAIDS focused on the maximization of antiretroviral drug distribution and increasing HIV testing, to understand the viral load and determine HIV therapy efficacy to meet the 90-90-90 therapy objectives for 2020 (Inzaule et al., 2016). Moreover, Buthelezi, Davidson, and Kharsany (2016) emphasized fast-track HIV surveillance data collection on incidence and prevalence, for resource-limited to understand obstacles, the pattern of spread, and forecast new HIV infections.

### **Biomedical HIV Prevention**

Biomedical HIV prevention intervention includes the use of a condom, treatment, antiretroviral therapy, and male circumcision to reduce the risk of HIV transmission. HIV

treatment options include anti-HIV medications taken pre-and post-exposure, and ART taken after HIV infection occurs. HIV negative individuals use Pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) to prevent HIV infection, and post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP) for individuals who have the probability of HIV exposure or are indeed exposed to HIV positive individuals, to deter HIV transmission (DiStefano & Takeda, 2017). The use of vaccines is ongoing in trials with a prospective promise to be part of the biomedical HIV prevention strategy. The efficacy of biomedical HIV preventions is maximized when used with the combination of a standardized testing for sexually transmitted infection, consistent treatment, use of counseling, and consistent compliance with all prevention strategy involves the use of condoms, vaccines, ART, PrEP, and PEP for HIV negative individuals, microbicides, male circumcision, and management of STIs.

# Herbal Inhibition of HIV

Bunluepuech, Tewtrakul, and WattanapiromsakuL (2016) claimed the first report on the screening of Thai plants to test the inhibitory behavior on HIV-1 protease and provided a suggestion for further study of HIV/AIDS treatments. These researchers reported that one of the 29 cotton extracts, C. gerrettiana, had the highest potential in inhibiting HIV-1 protease activities. In a similar study, Áy, Hunyadi, Mezei, Minárovits, and Hohmann (2019) observed that the herbal medication herbacitrin, extracted from cotton, had inhibited both the HIV-1 reverse transcriptase and integrase and further suggested that herbacitrin had probable efficacy to interfere with the life cycle of HIV at various stages.

## Eradication of HIV

The suppression of the HIV-1 by antiretroviral drug therapy enables the establishment of a latent HIV reservoir in the resting CD4 cell memory. Following the aforementioned, HIV is neither targeted by ART nor detected by the immune system, hiding without apparent causes of damages. However, the Cessation of ART allows the regrowth and replication of the provirus (HIV-DNA in the reservoir), and the regrowth of new HIV will not be an easy target with ART in the reservoir (Fryer, Wolinsky, & McLean, 2018). The goal of HIV eradication evolves from overcoming the challenge of eliminating the virus that hides in reservoirs. Researchers are optimistic about the elimination of HIV and recognize the cascades of challenges and barriers to realizing such a breakthrough achievement. Viral latency is one of the most challenging in quantifying latency reversal and depletes the reservoir of provirus that would have the potential to resume infection under favorable pathogenic conditions (Spivak & Planelles, 2016). Bashiri, Rezaei, Nasi, and Cossarizza (2018) described sterilizing cure (stem cell transplant, genome edit, gene therapy) and functional cure (suppressing the viral load and boosting CD4 counts), whereas Pankrac, Klein, and Mann (2017) used therapeutic vaccinations to eradicate HIV. In both cases reversing the latency period provirus (HIV DNA) into detectable levels and eliminating the virus by the "shock and kill" strategy was used; "shock" refers to initiating the resting provirus into transcriptional form and making it detectable, and "kill" refers to eradicating the virus with therapeutic means or immune system.

Herbal medications are potential complements to ART in reducing drug resistance and performing a probiotics' role. According to an author's description, the herbs and medicinal plants are probiotics that increase the number of CD4 cells and initiate the activity of natural killer cells. The increase in the activity of killer cells during pathogenic invasion and attacks, deprives the virus of its replicating abilities, becoming an efficient means to wipe out the pathogens (Williams-Orlando, 2017). Xu et al. (2017) published about a German HIV-infected patient and the success in eradicating HIV in this patient through stem cell transplant and the development of mutant cells resistant to HIV infection after eight years. The success in the German patient signified a cure to HIV. In short, reversing the latency and clearing the provirus could be a target to eradicate HIV through the combination of ART, therapies, and prevention strategies (Margolis, Garcia, Hazuda, & Haynes, 2016). Drug resistance developed from non-compliance of HIV medications, and the use of low dosage medications adds another level of challenge to eradicating HIV.

The acquired drug resistance (ADR) HIV somewhat complicates the efforts to suppress the virus and reduce transmission. When the ADR virus transmits to ART naïve persons, it forms a transmitted drug resistance (De Luca & Zazzi, 2015). Dubé et al. (2018) warned to avoid unrealistic promises for the worldwide elimination of HIV and they instead advised a focus on suppressing HIV to sustainable levels for the millions of people living with HIV/AIDS. Derivatives of natural products were used as a "shock and kill" strategy to target HIV reservoirs, reactivate the latent HIV DNA, and kill them with the immune system or anti-HIV drugs. To date, such approaches have been unsuccessful

in consistently eliminating the reactivated latent HIV DNA (Andersen, Ntie-Kang, & Tietjen, 2018).

The derivatives of natural products are types of latency reversal agents. Maraviroc serves as an antiviral latency-reversing agent, and subsequent interventions are required for eradication of HIV-1, post activation of the viruses in the latency reservoir (Madrid-Elena et al., 2018). When the HIV DNA is in the latency period, the immune system does not recognize the virus, and there is no effect of the anti-viral drugs; consequently, latency reversal agents are needed to implement the "shock and kill" strategy. Antibodies are considered candidates for the eradication of HIV in HIV research. The administration of antibodies is being used as an immunotherapeutic approach to eradicating HIV (Mujib et al., 2017). This immunotherapeutic approach shows an eradication of the HIV infected cells in vitro, and facilitates the development of a combination of antibodies for the prospective effective elimination of HIV infected immune cells and the viral reservoir. The Algorithm of HIV Prevention

The World Health Organization used the algorithm of HIV prevention for screening, diagnosis, treatment of HIV, and prevention of HIV transmission. The WHO recommended the validation of the HIV-1 testing algorithm for applying rapid diagnostic tests tailored to each country, and retesting HIV-1 positive results before starting ART to reliably assure quality in Sub-Saharan Africa (Kravitz et al., 2018). There were several available HIV prevention algorithms. "Simple risk score algorithms" were reliable means to detect individuals with extended high viremia in Sub-Saharan Africa (Powers et al., 2018). Harbertson et al. (2017) suggested increasing the specificity and sensitivity of a rapid diagnostic test, to resolve the causes of the HIV positive diagnosis properly, and save costs in resource-constrained countries. HIV point-of-care testing (HIV-POCT) at non-facility-based community settings should follow the correct testing algorithm to ascertain quality assurance. In HIV-POCT, quality assurance can be proved possible by conducting rigorous training and supervisions to maximize sensitivity (Bock et al., 2017). The rapid diagnostic test does not always show high sensitivity and correct identification of HIV serostatus.

Kufa et al. (2017) determined that random diagnostic tests had low sensitivity, high false negatives, and few false positives in a community setting HIV testing. They associated false negatives with new infections and the initiation of ART. The result of the HIV diagnosis algorithm requires a confirmatory algorithm to ascertain the HIV serostatus of the tested individuals (Kufa et al., 2017). A confirmatory HIV diagnosis rules out the false-negative and false-positive results and determines the appropriate HIV serostatus. The source of false-negative results can be due to misclassification of results and the inability to detect early infections.

HIV diagnosis algorithms that assure quality testing are essential in linking HIVinfected individuals to treatment, and for strategizing prevention interventions. According to Johnson et al. (2017), who corroborated the HIV diagnosis algorithm, HIV testing strategy and retesting practices will prevent false results (false negative or false positive) that could occur due to testing mistakes and new testing procedures. The HIV test algorithm, which applied rapid diagnostic tests, was recommended for Sub-Saharan Africa and other resource-limited areas that lacked laboratory facilities, infrastructure, and a trained workforce capable of using advanced diagnostic techniques such as immunoassays and immunoblots (Kosack et al., 2017). False HIV results impair prevention efforts, erode the trust of HIV testing centers, and harm individuals who were misled regarding their serostatus. At the community level, false HIV positive results and the initiation of anti-drug therapy endanger public health through unnecessary administration of medication, facilitating an increase of the viral load, and accelerating horizontal and/or vertical transmission (Johnson et al., 2017; Kosack et al., 2017; Bock et al., 2017).

### Modeling and Simulation in HIV Prevention

Modeling and simulation is an approach to strategize based on scientific evidence for practical measures that drastically reduce HIV transmissions (Jacobsen & Walensky, 2016). The reduction of HIV transmission targets fundamental thresholds of intervention that consider global HIV treatments and cost-effective standards. A dynamic complex network determined a close similarity between the simulation and actual registry of new HIV incidents, implying the aspects of HIV expansion is a reason to teach male circumcision for HIV prevention in the Sub-Saharan Africa medication scenario (Campain et al., 2017). A simulated study on condom use helped to reduce new infections in HIV serodiscordant couples, and couples with unknown HIV serostatus (Monteiro et al., 2016). Researchers showed feasible modeling would be made using a geographic information system (GIS) simulation to predict HIV distribution effectively, and emphasized the need to conduct future research that outlines epidemics parameters (Shu et al., 2017). Moreover, computer simulation modeling was a highly efficient tool for making public health and policy decisions (Shu et al., 2017). Computer simulation modeling allows assessing multilevel prevention interventions at downstream and upstream structures and minimizing costs. Minimization of costs could scale up prevention services in low- and medium resource countries. Anderson, Ghys, Omba, and Hallett (2017) strongly supported modeling tools that prioritized the geographical allocation of prevention interventions. This geographic allocation should augment the number of people living with HIV/AIDS (PLWHA), the patterns of HIV transmission among target populations, the specific choice of intervention tailored to the community and location, as indicators to strategize prevention interventions.

### **Behavioral Determinants of HIV Serostatus**

Madiba and Ngwenya (2017) suggested the presence of increased HIV acquisition in women is due to the negative influence of male dominance leading to unsafe sexual practices. Mobility in the rural East Sub-Saharan African countries is pronounced with higher HIV sexual risk to women compared to men, associated with the exposure of unsafe sexual practices, induced by sexual violence and forced sex (Camlin et al., 2018). In Zambia and other Sub-Saharan African countries, adolescent HIV positive women who were with/without HIV medication were more prone to conceive children than adolescent HIV negative women, and an opposite trend was noted for women over 35 years old (Marston, Zaba, & Eaton, 2018). The increase in the number of sexual partners created pressure in living conditions of families and harmful effects in contracting HIV and other sexually transmitted infections for a large percentage of adolescent women living with HIV in sub-Saharan Africa (Zgambo, Kalembo, & Mbakaya, 2018).

Condom use had several barriers in Sub-Saharan Africa. The availability of condoms, the consistent use of condoms, the types of condoms (efficacy of the condom), the cost of condoms, male willingness to pay for condoms, and the need to engage in HIV medication while using condoms were in strong association with women exposure to HIV infections (Nehl, Elifson, DePadilla, & Sterk, 2016; Evans et al., 2019). As reported by Zhang, Jemmott, and Heeren (2017), even though improvement in communication contributed to the ease of condom use and reduced sexual partners' instability in couple relations. Furthermore, the determination of fertility preferences was a challenging decision in Zambian women and the other Sub-Saharan Africa women. The current data were inadequate in determining the fertility preferences of HIV infected Zambian women to better understand the trend of HIV epidemics (Yeatman et al., 2016).

#### **Demographic Determinants of HIV Serostatus**

Shisana et al. (2016) suggested having a focus on unmarried populations to advocate for HIV prevention. The unmarried individuals had shown low social coherence and unstable sexual partnering that would increase the risk of HIV transmission. The HIV risk had an increased rate for unmarried individuals, especially people with low socioeconomic status and low literacy levels. In Sub-Saharan Africa, the study on gender inequality has shown an HIV prevalence disparity between females and males (Sia et al., 2016). In most of the SSA countries under this study, discrepancies in age, marriage situation, and careers contributed to higher HIV prevalence for females compared to males. Besides, the relationship between jobs and education status, and the site of the HIV testing, impacted the effectiveness of volunteer counseling and testing efforts (Bibiana, Emmanuel, Amos, Ramsey, & Idris, 2018); whereas inadequate understanding of HIV became an obstacle to HIV testing and HIV serostatus cognizance (Nabukenya & Matovu, 2018). The demographic determinants (age difference between women and men and marital status) contributed to differences in HIV prevalence and the associated sexual risks to HIV infections between women and men (Sia et al., 2016). Knowledge of HIV serostatus was found critical for married couples to facilitate joint education and the prevention of HIV in marital relations (Musheke, Merten, & Bond, 2016).

# **Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus**

Pilgram et al. (2018) noted an emphasis on the benefits of avoiding the negative perceptions of healthcare professionals by providing training on the potential use of preexposure prophylaxis (PrEP) for preventing new HIV infection, and the need and colleagues for improving the PrEP delivery system in adolescent and adult women. Pilgram et al. (2018) also advised taking clinical steps of increasing PrEP accessibility and healthcare delivery to prevent the community from horizontal and vertical HIV transmission. The initiation of anti-HIV drugs (PrEP) for naïve ART persons had shown a significant role in reducing the acquisition of HIV infections (Pilgrim et al., 2018), and the use of PrEP had shown increased recipients among the adult population with durable acting PrEP medications (Krogstad et al., 2018). Besides, Masters et al. (2016) revealed that the promotion of HIV self-testing to pregnant and postnatal women might warrant cognizance of HIV status to men, and could maximize couple HIV self-testing. The use of HIV services is one of the indications of HIV medication compliance. Part of the HIV infected individuals at community clinics in Sub-Saharan Africa discontinued their medications for unknown reasons (Asiimwe, Kanyesigye, Bwana, Okello, & Muyindike, 2016). The cessation of HIV medications could jeopardize the health of HIV-infected individuals and might result in HIV transmission to the community.

# Behavioral, Demographic, and Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus

Authors stated that demographic and behavioral factors predicted HIV, ethnicity, sexual partners, and sexual partners' behaviors were tested in the prediction model used for improving electronic health archives (Dube, Marshall, Ryan, & Omonijo, 2018). Adeniyi et al. (2017) reported a significant association between adolescents (18-24), and HIV serostatus that include demographic (age, gender, employment, education, marital status, location), behavioral (attitude towards sexual partner, HIV disclosure), and clinical (ART adherence) determinants of HIV serostatus disclosure. Youth who had multiple sex partners and persons with drinking behaviors were more likely to non-disclose HIV status in their sexual relationships. Sexual acts, marital status, and HIV care services were risk factors for adolescent Zambians to the spread of vertical and horizontal HIV infections (Okawa et al., 2018). A lack of guarantee in food security played a role in the increase of HIV risk and susceptibility to HIV-infected women (53% of the study participants) younger than 24, with education levels lower than high school (Nyirenda, 2018). The rate of HIV varied with gender, age, and race (demographic determinants), while sexual relations with multiple partners and sexual practices of not using condoms amplified the rate of HIV infection; macro-determinants of HIV signaled an impact in the spread of the

HIV epidemics (Araújo & Duarte, 2018). As opposed to Araújo and Duarte (2018), Agbor, Etokidem, and Ugwa (2017) reported a high prediction of HIV serostatus disclosure with the association of ages, marriage status, and locations.

Social factors, such as education, wealth, and media exposure, determined the level of knowledge and awareness and affected the behavior of women regarding STDs and HIV/AIDS (Rana, 2016). The promotion of health education was suggested to increase HIV awareness and reduce the erroneous perceptions of HIV as being a curse that is limited to Africa (Tecle & Andrasik, 2015; Zainiddinov & Habibov, 2016). The increase in general literacy levels and higher HIV health literacy was a demographic determinant that improved HIV awareness. Vanamail, Sehgal, and Kriplani (2014), and Vieira et al. (2017) concluded that education level was a critical demographic determinant for the prevention of mother to child transmission for people living with HIV. As a result of a qualitative study in Zambia, Musheke, Merten, and Bond (2016) noted that addressing the differences in gender power dynamics and improving couple's HIV test centers could guarantee the development of shared awareness and acceptance, and management of the HIV serostatus within heterosexual relations.

### **HIV in Sub-Saharan Africa**

The lack of a contemporary HIV testing algorithm for the identification of an acute HIV infection with the absence of specific HIV antibodies is a potential risk to resource-limited regions of the world, including Sub-Saharan Africa. Public health practitioners require timely diagnosis that confirm the presence of HIV at the earliest stage, and design treatments and preventions to reduce the spread of the virus, disrupt the chain of infection, and promote HIV health in communities of resource-limited regions (Hino et al., 2018). In Zambia, HIV acquisition in a heterosexual HIV serodiscordant couple is risky for both men and women who are HIV negative, and the level of risk increases for women (Joseph Davey et al., 2018). Bazzi, Leech, Biancarelli, Sullivan, and Drainoni (2017) inferred the use of pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) for HIV uninfected women in the USA who have couples an HIV serodiscordant men (an HIV infected man to secure safe conception and prevent horizontal and vertical transmission of HIV. The differential power dynamics in a heterosexual relationship in most of Sub-Saharan Africa disproportionately burdened women with HIV risk associated with intimate partners' violence (Pulerwitz, Mathur, & Woznica, 2018).

Sub-Saharan Africa is a region with the highest burden of HIV. In 2013, of 3.2 million children who were living with HIV, the majority was from Sub-Sahara Africa. The routes of HIV transmission were from mothers to their children through prenatal, delivery, labor, and breastfeeding practices (Tadesse, Foster, & Berhan, 2015). Despite the disproportionate burden of HIV, Sub-Saharan Africa uses rapid HIV tests, which have no specificity for early detection, and provide false negative results to potentially infectious persons. The limitation to rapid HIV tests is due to low cost, and the use of HIV tests with high specificity and sensitivity was not possible due to the price and low availability in Sub-Saharan Africa (Mayaphi et al., 2016).

#### **HIV in Zambia**

The prevalence of HIV/AIDS in Zambia was much higher in adolescent girls (15-19) due to associated factors such as stigma, shamefulness, religion, culture, negative social media messaging, and conditions of infections (Mackworth-Young et al., 2017). The HIV prevalence for persons 15-64 years rated at 12.3%, 10.6%, and 14.6% in Zambia, Malawi, and Zimbabwe, respectively. As part of the prevention program, global and timely HIV therapy was recommended for those infected, those aware of their status, and those who disclosed their status (Mwenge et al., 2017). Stigma and discrimination, including healthcare provider stigma, were a particularly salient barrier. Improving knowledge, social support, and acknowledgment of FSWs and women's role in society emerged as facilitators to testing. Interventions to improve HIV testing among FSWs in Zambia will need to address barriers and facilitators at multiple levels, to be maximally effective (Chanda et al., 2017). Zambian women, 10-14 years in Sub-Saharan Africa were in amplified exposure to new HIV acquisition. The low general education level, lack of sexual education, and cultural barriers in having parent-daughter conversations on the risk of HIV contributed to the continuation of new HIV infections (Butts et al., 2018).

HIV prevalence was 9.8% in urban Zambia compared to the rural communities where the prevalence is 5.0%; there existed a double risk in urban inhabitants than their rural counterparts (Chanda-Kapata et al., 2016). In communities with higher HIV prevalence, male circumcision helped reduce the rate of infection and minimized the cost of HIV prevention (Awad et al., 2015). The general trend in Sub-Saharan Africa was an increase in the rates of new HIV infections in adolescent women, which was attributed to the association of biological and behavioral determinants. The use of condoms was one of the prevention methods to reduce the risk of biological and behavioral determinants to new HIV infections (Acharya et al., 2018). Hegdahl, Fylkesnes, and Sandøy (2016) stated that the constant vulnerability of women to HIV compared to men could indicate the roles of physiological characteristics in Zambia and other Sub-Saharan African countries. Besides, there was an increase in the prevalence ratio of HIV in younger Zambian women compared to younger Zambian men (Hegdahl, Fylkesnes, & Sandøy, 2016), and the overall trend implied 25% of new HIV acquisition occurred through individuals other than sexual partners (Kamali et al., 2015).

#### **Summary and Conclusions**

In Chapter 2, the World Health Organization's Commission for Social Determinants of Health assessed the disproportionate HIV burden in Zambian women related to gender, age, disparities with male partners, and unsafe sexual behaviors. The different types of HIV serostatus (HIV positive serostatus, HIV negative serostatus, unknown HIV serostatus) indicated an association with the risk of HIV infection, rates of mortality, and rates of morbidity with other sexually transmitted diseases (Moodley, 2017).

The association of HIV serostatus (HIV positive serostatus, HIV negative serostatus, unknown HIV serostatus) with behavioral determinants was reviewed. Scholars of HIV, in systematic reviews, indicated the importance of demographic determinants such as age and education, HIV serostatus awareness, and the level of risk to HIV transmission because of non-condom use. Previous studies lacked conclusive findings on the levels of association of HIV serostatus with key demographic determinants (age, location, gender). Systematic reviews also recommended additional study-linkage to treatment and the commencement of antiretroviral therapy. The findings in this study aim to contribute to the literature, with inferences on the data that can be generalized to Zambian women (adolescent women ages 18 to 24 and adult women from ages 25 to 49). In Chapter 3, the methodology and analysis of the present study are discussed.

# Chapter 3

# Introduction

This study assessed the association between demographic, behavioral, and clinical determinants of HIV serostatus for Zambian adolescent women (18-24 years) and Zambian adult women (25–49 years). The purpose of this study was to minimize the HIV epidemic among Zambian women, recommend possible measures to reduce new HIV infections and to promote the quality of life of Zambian women living with HIV/AIDS. The research strategy involved comprehending the association of key behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants of HIV serostatus to affect positive social change among Zambian women and to draw possible generalizations to women with similar settings in the other Sub-Saharan African countries. In what follows, I included a description of the secondary data analysis used in the study's research design and rationale. Following the research design and rationale section, I provided a brief description of the research methodology, which contains the study population, sampling and sampling procedures, and instrumentation and operationalization of constructs. Finally, I presented the data analysis information, ethical procedures, chapter summary, and transition to Chapter 4.

## **Research Design and Rationale**

This dissertation research is an inferential study. The quantitative analysis would apply to secondary data from a demographic health survey. The research used the sample of women of 18 to 49 years old; the findings offered generalizations about the general population of Zambian women and possibly about communities in the other Sub-Saharan African countries with similar settings. The independent variables were demographic factors (age, location, language, education, religion, and marital status), clinical factors (use of HIV services and attitudes toward use of HIV services), and behavioral factors (sexual activity; sexual partners; condom use; fertility preferences; attitudes toward and knowledge about HIV). The dependent variables were HIV serostatus and ever tested for HIV/AIDS. A cross-sectional survey design assessed the association between the independent variables and the dependent variables since the demographic survey data were collected at one point in time. A cross-sectional design is appropriate for the research questions focused on the association of independent variables with dependent variables from data collected by an on-site questionnaire for generalizing from a sample to a population (Cresswell, 2014).

In a technological era where archived data sets are abundantly available by downloading various publicly available databases and other resources through formal requests, a secondary data analysis saves time and it is cost-effective (Tripathy, 2013).

#### Methodology

The researcher used a quantitative method to conduct the study.

## **Population**

The study population included Zambian women 18 to 49 years old who were permanent residents in 8 provinces. The target population was from a demographic health survey conducted between 2009 and 2010. The demographic health survey contained 1,4441 responses from Zambian women aged 18 to 49 years old about issues of fertility preferences; HIV status; fertility preferences; attitudes toward and knowledge about HIV, and attitudes toward and use of HIV services (Bankole, 2017).

# **Sampling and Sampling Procedures**

The sampling strategy divided each of the nine Zambian provinces Zambia into enumerative equal areas, based on the 2000 Zambian population and housing census. All households had the chance to be selected as part of the Zambian Demographic Health Survey (ZDHS) sample. The sampling procedure stratified the ZDHS sample into urban and rural areas. There were 18 sampling strata from the nine provinces. The samplers selected the EAs (enumeration areas) independently for all stratifications, beginning with the Census Supervisory Area (CSA) level and moving to the EA level. The sampling frame included Zambian women age 18 to 49 years old. The sampling frame excluded females younger than 18 years old, women older than 49 years old, and all males of any age.

The research sample was sub-sampled from the 2007 Zambia Demographic and Health Survey (ZDHS). The sample was designed to provide specific indicators, including reproductive health indicators and HIV prevalence for each of the nine provinces in Zambia. Sorting the sample frame followed an implicit stratification and proportional allocation based on the geographical/administrative order and by using a probability proportional to size. Stratification sampling was completed before the selection of the sample (Croswell 2014).

Specific procedures guided the sample selection. Households were listed from 319 EAs. From each EA, an average of 25 households was selected through equal

probability systematic sampling. Out of the average total of those EAs, the ones in Northern province and Lusaka province were sub-sampled that shall be used for this study. I used a power analysis to determine sample size. The power analysis to determine the sample size included the justification for the effect size, alpha level, the power level, and the citation of the source for calculating the sample size.

### **Using Archival Data**

This study used archival data from the Walden University website. The data source for this study was the Inter-University Consortium for Political and Social Research (ICPSR) Datasets. The ICPSR datasets were accessed through Walden University under Research and Quality for Research. Regarding the Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs, an on-site questionnaire was the basic data collection of the ZDHS. The operationalization of the ZDHS data indicated the unweighted data but in the form of a weight variable (WGT) which was used directly in the study analysis. The scores represented numeric values for the independent variables (behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants of HIV serostatus). There was no available operational definition for each of the variables. The on-site questionnaire was a vital instrument used for these survey data. I plan to use SPSS statistics 25 software for the data analyses. The study dataset indicated the availability of the data suitable for analyses in SPSS format. The restated research questions and the hypotheses are presented in the next section.

### **Research Questions and Hypothesis**

Research Question 1: What is the association between behavioral determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24 years?

 $H_0$ 1: There is no statistically significant association between behavioral determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24 years.

 $H_a$ 1: There is a statistically significant association between behavioral determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24 years.

Research Question 2: What is the association between behavioral determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from age 25 to 49 years?

 $H_0$ 2: There is no statistically significant association between behavioral determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from ages 25 to 49 years.

 $H_a$ 2: There is a statistically significant association between behavioral determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from ages 25 to 49 years.

Research Question 3: What is the association between demographic determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24 years?

 $H_0$ 3: There is no statistically significant association between demographic determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24 years.

 $H_a$ 3: There is a statistically significant association between

demographic determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24 years.

Research Question 4: What is the association between demographic determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from ages 25 to 49 years?

 $H_0$ 4: There is no statistically significant association between demographic determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from ages 25 to 49 years.

 $H_a$ 4: There is a statistically significant association between demographic determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from ages 25 to 49 years.

Research question 5. What is the association between clinical determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24 years?

 $H_0$ 5: There is no statistically significant association between clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24 years.

 $H_a$ 5: There is a statistically significant association between clinical determinants and HIV serostatus in Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24 years.

Research question 6. What is the association between clinical determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from ages 25 to 49 years?

 $H_06$ : There is no statistically significant association between clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from ages 25 to 49 years.

 $H_{a}6$ : There is a statistically significant association between clinical determinants and HIV serostatus in Zambian female adults from ages 25 to 49 years.
Research Question 7: What is the synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus of Zambian adolescents from ages 18 to 24? years

 $H_0$ 7: There is no statistically significant synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24 years.

 $H_a$ 7: There is a statistically significant synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus in Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24 years.

Research Question 8: What is the synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus of Zambian adults from ages 25 to 49 years?

 $H_0$ 8: There is no statistically significant synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from ages 25 to 49 years.

 $H_a$ 8: There is a statistically significant synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus in Zambian female adults from ages 25 to 49 years.

#### **Data Analysis Plan**

For this study, a data-driven approach will be applied to answer the research questions by using the Zambia demographic health survey data available in the Walden University Inter-University Consortium for Political and Social Research (ICPSR) databases (Cheng & Phillips, 2014). This study utilized quantitative variables. The outcome variables were HIV serostatus (HIV positive, HIV negative, unknown status, and serodiscordant status). The independent variables were a sexual activity, number of sexual partners, condom use, fertility preferences (behavioral determinants), age, gender, location, marital status, education, employment (demographic determinants), clinical services, and medication adherence (clinical determinants).

The confounding variables in these survey data were handled using a proportionate stratified sampling. The proportionate stratified sampling dealt with the selection of the study participants based on the stratum of the sampling frame for appropriate sampling representation (Salazar, Crosby, & DiClemente, 2015; Bankole, 2017). The Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 25 was used for all the analyses and statistical significance tests with a *p*-value  $\leq 0.05$ .

#### **Preparing the Data**

Cleaning data

The most common source of errors was missing data, coding errors, errors in data entry, inconsistency in responses, extreme outliers, abnormal distributions, and non-linear association among quantitative variables (Warner, 2013; Borkotoky & Unisa, 2014). Descriptive statistics for quantitative variables help to detect those errors by providing frequency tables, scatterplots, histograms, and observing whether the distribution shapes are approximately normally distributed (Warner, 2013). SPSS (version 25) was used for analysis and managing missing data by list-wise or pairwise deletions (Warner, 2013). Multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) statistical tests was used to test this study's hypotheses.

This study contained multiple independent variables and three dependent variables. A multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was used to test these hypotheses. As enumerated by Warner (2013), the statistical analysis procedure steps for multivariate analysis of variance were followed to assess the association between the independent variables and dependent variables of this study. In addition, an extensive description of the statistical significance testing is provided in the result section of this dissertation, and the meanings of these test results are discussed in depth.

There was no rationale for the inclusion of potential covariates for this two-way MANOVA. Data analyzers were required to observe the normal distribution (to transform or remove outliers if they exist); linearity (deviation from linearity compromises the analysis); homogeneity of variances (test of Homoscedasticity); homogeneity of variances and covariances (testing the homogeneousness of the dependent variables); and proceeded to the analyses (Warner, 2013).

#### **Threats to Validity**

#### **External Validity**

The survey data were collected using an equal probability of systematic sampling. Therefore, the probability of systematic sampling provided equal opportunity for selection; then, the sample of the survey was the representative of the population. This survey description clearly stated all households in Zambia had an equal likelihood of being selected as a part of the Zambia Demographic health survey sample with the deliberate exclusion of restricted areas, such as military camps (Bankole, 2017). Therefore, the sample of community survey (Zambia demographic health survey) was representative of the population since each household had the probability of being selected from the whole population (Creswell, 2014).

#### **Internal Validity**

This Zambia demographic health survey applied proportional stratified sampling which was an accurate description of the broader population. The standardized questionnaire used further confirmed the internal validity of survey data (Babbie, 2017). After the survey data collection, the researchers removed temporary variables and labeled those variables with "temp" in the variable label. Some original variables in the dataset contained invalid values and discrepancies in the original variables. Those invalid variables and variables with differences were recorded. The data collector research institute advised me to use the recoded variables (cleaned data) for analysis and comparing cross-checking the recoded variables with the original ones would be necessary to perform data cleaning before performing analyses for this study (Bankole, 2017).

#### **Ethical Procedures**

Ethical procedures were the formal requirements for conducting this study. I gained access to the archived data through the Institutional Research Board at Walden University. Institutional permissions, IRB approval, and the IRB approval numbers will be described in the final dissertation. The data description indicated the data were anonymous and personal information identifications were excluded to protect the anonymity of study participants. The dataset is publicly available and could be accessed through a formal request to the Guttmacher Center for Population Research Innovation and Dissemination who prepared this public-use dataset. The research institute provided no incentives for participation in the survey.

#### Summary

A demographic survey data collected in Zambia from 2009–2010 assessed the association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants of HIV serostatus in Zambian women. The collection of demographic health survey data was from 1,4441 Zambian women 18-49 years old; the survey included questions about issues of fertility preferences; HIV status; fertility preferences; attitudes toward and knowledge about HIV; and attitudes toward and use of HIV services. Demographic variables included age, location, native language, education, religion, and marital status. Independent variables included behavioral factors (condom use, sexual partners, fertility preferences, sexual activity, and attitudes toward and knowledge about HIV), demographic factors (age, location, native language, education, religion, and marital status), and clinical factors (use of services and attitudes toward, attitudes toward and use of HIV services). Dependent variables were HIV test result, ever tested for HIV, and ever tested AIDS. HIV positive (HIV concordant positive couple, HIV discordant male, and HIV discordant female): each indicates HIV seropositivity. HIV negative (HIV concordant negative couple, HIV discordant male, and HIV discordant female): each shows HIV seronegativity.

#### Chapter 4: Results

#### Introduction

The purpose of the study was to investigate the association between dependent variables measuring HIV serostatus (whether participants know their HIV test result, ever tested for HIV, and whether participants had ever tested for AIDS) behavioral determinants (participants' sexual partners, condom use, and self-perceived HIV risk), demographic determinants (participants' location, education, and marital status), and clinical determinants (participants' use of government services, clinic services, and NGO services) for Zambian women aged 18–49 years using secondary data collected in 2009–2010. I compared adolescents (aged 18–24 years) to adults (aged 25–49 years) to determine whether there were differences in the associations between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and HIV serostatus between these age groups.

The research questions that directed the study, along with the corresponding null and alternative hypotheses, were as follows.

**Research Question 1** 

What is the association between behavioral determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 18–24 years?

 $H1_0$ : There is no statistically significant association between behavioral determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 18–24 years.

 $H1_{a}$ : There is a statistically significant association between behavioral determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 18–24 years.

**Research Question 2** 

What is the association between behavioral determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 25–49 years?

 $H2_0$ : There is no statistically significant association between behavioral determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 25–49 years.

 $H2_a$ : There is a statistically significant association between behavioral determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 25–49 years.

**Research Question 3** 

What is the association between demographic determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 18–24 years?

 $H3_0$ : There is no statistically significant association between demographic determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 18–24 years.

 $H3_a$ : There is a statistically significant association between demographic determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 18–24 years.

**Research Question 4** 

What is the association between demographic determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 25–49 years?

 $H4_0$ : There is no statistically significant association between demographic determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 25–49 years.

 $H4_a$ : There is a statistically significant association between demographic determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 25–49 years.

**Research Question 5** 

What is the association between clinical determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 18–24 years?

 $H5_0$ : There is no statistically significant association between clinical determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 18–24 years.

 $H5_a$ : There is a statistically significant association between clinical determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 18–24 years.

**Research Question 6** 

What is the association between clinical determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 25–49 years?

 $H6_0$ : There is no statistically significant association between clinical determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 25–49 years.

 $H6_a$ : There is a statistically significant association between clinical determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 25–49 years.

**Research Question 7** 

What is the synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 18–24 years?

*H7*<sub>0</sub>: There is no statistically significant synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 18–24 years.  $H7_{a}$ : There is a statistically significant synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 18–24 years.

**Research Question 8** 

What is the synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 25–49 years?

*H8*<sub>0</sub>: There is no statistically significant synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 25–49 years.

 $H8_{a}$ : There is a statistically significant synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian women aged 25–49 years.

#### **Data Collection**

I obtained the secondary data from the ZDHS identified via the Walden University database. Data collected for the ZDHS came from participants in the Northern and Lusaka Provinces in 2009–2010.

#### Results

#### **Demographics**

The sample from the ZDHS consisted of 1,441 women aged 18–49 years from Northern and Lusaka Provinces who were permanent residents of Zambia. Out of these participants, 442 (31%) were adolescents, and 999 (69%) were adults. Regarding location, 641 participants (44.5%) were from urban locations, and 800 (55.4%) were from rural locations. Of those aged 18–24 years, 181 were urban, and 211 were rural; of those aged 25–49 years, 393 were urban, and 485 were rural. Tables 1–3 show cross-tabulations of several of the variables.

### Table 1

Cross-tabulation of	<sup>c</sup> Education $\times$	Location for	Zambian W	Vomen Aged 1	8-49 Years
				0	

	Loc	cation	
Education	Urban	Rural	Total
Primary	227	432	659
Secondary	267	185	452
Higher	43	16	59
N/A	40	74	114
Total	577	707	1,284

*Note*. N/A = not available response.

### Table 2

Cross-tabulation of Marital Status  $\times$  Location for Zambian Women Aged 18–49 Years old

	Loc	ation	_
Marital status	Urban	Rural	Total
Widowed	45	32	77
Divorced	25	23	48
Separated	24	31	55
N/A	481	618	1,099
Total	575	704	1,279

*Note*. N/A = not available response.

Table 3

Government Services $\times$ Clinic Ser	vices		
and NGO services	М	SD	n
	HIV test result		
Yes × Yes			
Yes	18.76	34.517	41
No	32.62	41.405	168
Total	29.90	40.448	209
$Yes \times No$			
Yes	32.12	41.200	154
No	36.68	42.209	816
Total	35.96	42.063	970
$No \times Yes$			
Yes	2.00	0.000	3
No	32.92	42.177	25
Total	29.61	40.940	28
$No \times No$			
Yes	2.00		1
No	44.93	44.698	14
Total	42.07	44.475	15
$No \times All$			
Yes	2.00	0.000	4
No	37.23	42.908	39
Total	33.95	42.106	43
$N/A \times N/A$			
N/A	88.00	0.000	7
Total	88.00	0.000	7
	Ever tested HIV		
$Yes \times Yes$			
Yes	1.00	0.000	41
No	1.00	0.000	168
Total	1.00	0.000	209
$Yes \times No$			
Yes	1.00	0.000	154
No	1.00	0.035	816
Total	1.00	0.032	970
$No \times Yes$			
Yes	1.00	0.000	3
No	1.00	0.000	25
Total	1.00	0.000	28

Descriptive Statistics for Dependent Variables and Clinical Determinants of Zambian Women Aged 18–49 Years

Government Services × Clinic Service	S		
and NGO services	М	SD	n
$No \times No$			
Yes	1.00		1
No	1.00	0.000	14
Total	1.00	0.000	15
$N/A \times N/A$			
N/A	2.00	0.000	7
Total	2.00	0.000	7
$N/A \times All$			
N/A	2.00	0.000	7
Total	2.00	0.000	7
Ev	ver tested AIDS		
Yes × Yes			
Yes	1.00	0.000	41
No	1.00	0.000	168
Total	1.00	0.000	209
$Yes \times No$			
Yes	1.00	0.000	154
No	1.00	0.000	816
Total	1.00	0.000	970
$No \times Yes$			
Yes	1.00	0.000	3
No	1.00	0.000	25
Total	1.00	0.000	28
$No \times No$			
Yes	1.00		1
No	1.00	0.000	14
Total	1.00	0.000	15
$N/A \times N/A$			
N/A	2.00	0.000	7
Total	2.00	0.000	7
$N/A \times N/A$			
N/A	2.00	0.000	7
Total	2.00	0.000	7

*Note*. NGO = nongovernmental organization.

The sample for this study consisted of 1251 Zambian adolescent women aged 18-24 and 190 Zambian adult women aged 25 - 49. Figure 4 shows the frequencies for the HIV serostatus test for Zambian women aged 18–24 years (see figure 4).



**HIV Serostatus Test** 

*Figure 4*. HIV status for Zambian women aged 18-24 years. Note. N/A = no reply

Figure 5 illustrates for the variable ever tested AIDS, revealing that eight women (0.55%) refused to be tested for AIDS, and 1433 (99.45) women were tested for AIDS of the Zambian women aged 18–49.



*Figure 5*. Pie graph for the variable ever tested AIDS in Zambian women aged 18–49 years.

# **Hypothesis Testing 1**

Hypothesis 1 was as follows: There is no statistically significant association between behavioral determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 - 24. Tables 4, 5, and 6 indicated the test results of this hypothesis.

The MANOVA demonstrated a statistically significant (p < 0.01) for the association between the independent variable self-perceived HIV risk and the dependent variables HIV serostatus: HIV test result, ever tested HIV (see Table 4). Therefore, there is an association between the independent variables and the dependent variables for Zambian women aged 18–24 (see Table 4). Thus, I accepted the alternative hypothesis and rejected the null hypothesis.

Table 4

df Effect and test<sup>a</sup> Value Partial  $\eta^2$ Hypothesis Error F р Intercept 0.990 57.877.883<sup>b</sup> .990 Pillai's trace 2 1204 .000 0.010 57,877.883<sup>b</sup> 2 .000 .990 Wilks's lambda 1204 Hotelling's trace 96.143 57,877.883<sup>b</sup> 2 1204 .000 .990 57,877.883<sup>b</sup> Roy's largest root 96.143 2 1204 .000 .990 Sexual partners 0.623<sup>b</sup> 2 1204 .537 .001 Pillai's trace 0.001 0.999 0.623<sup>b</sup> Wilks's lambda 2 1204 .537 .001 0.001 0.623<sup>b</sup> Hotelling's trace 2 1204 .537 .001 Roy's largest root 0.001 0.623<sup>b</sup> 2 .537 .001 1204 Condom use 0.004 2.265<sup>b</sup> Pillai's trace 2 1204 .004 .104 2.265<sup>b</sup> Wilks's lambda 0.996 2 1204 .104 .004 2.265<sup>b</sup> 0.004 2 1204 .104 .004 Hotelling's trace 2.265<sup>b</sup> Roy's largest root 0.004 2 1204 .104 .004 Self-perceived HIV risk Pillai's trace 0.897 163.283 12 .448 2410 .000 Wilks's lambda 0.121 375.987<sup>b</sup> 12 2408 .000 .652 Hotelling's trace 7.110 712.751 12 2406 .000 .780 Roy's largest root 7.089 1,423.669<sup>c</sup> 1205 .000 .876 6 Sexual Partners × Condom Use Pillai's trace 0.001 0.619<sup>b</sup> 2 1204 .539 .001 0.999 0.619<sup>b</sup> .539 .001 Wilks's lambda 2 1204 0.001 0.619<sup>b</sup> 2 1204 .539 .001 Hotelling's trace

Multivariate Tests on Behavioral Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 18–24 Years

			df			
Effect and test <sup>a</sup>	Value	F	Hypothesis	Error	p	Partial $\eta^2$
Roy's largest root	0.001	0.619 <sup>b</sup>	2	1204	.539	.001
Sexual Partners × Self-Perceived HIV Risk						
Pillai's trace	0.001	0.256	4	2410	.906	.000
Wilks's lambda	0.999	0.256 <sup>b</sup>	4	2408	.906	.000
Hotelling's trace	0.001	0.256	4	2406	.906	.000
Roy's largest root	0.001	0.512 <sup>c</sup>	2	1205	.599	.001
Condom Use × Self-Perceived HIV Risk						
Pillai's trace	0.002	0.500	4	2410	.736	.001
Wilks's lambda	0.998	$0.500^{b}$	4	2408	.736	.001
Hotelling's trace	0.002	0.500	4	2406	.736	.001
Roy's largest root	0.002	0.921 <sup>c</sup>	2	1205	.398	.002
Sexual Partners $\times$ Condom Use $\times$ Self-Perceived HIV Risk						
Pillai's trace	0.000	0.175 <sup>b</sup>	2	1204	.840	.000
Wilks's lambda	1.000	0.175 <sup>b</sup>	2	1204	.840	.000
Hotelling's trace	0.000	0.175 <sup>b</sup>	2	1204	.840	.000
Roy's largest root	0.000	0.175 <sup>b</sup>	2	1204	.840	.000

<sup>a</sup>Design: Intercept + SEXPARTN + CONDOUSE + HIVSELFRISK + SEXPARTN \* CONDOUSE + SEXPARTN \* HIVSELFRISK + CONDOUSE \* HIVSELFRISK + SEXPARTN \* CONDOUSE \* HIVSELFRISK. <sup>b</sup>Exact statistic. <sup>c</sup>The statistic is an upper bound on F that yields a lower bound on the significance level.

Table 5 presented the result of MANOVA using Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference for Behavioral Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 18–24 Years. The results of the MANOVA indicated the following results for Zambian women aged 18–24 years:

- 1. Mean scores for HIV test result were statistically significantly different between the *no risk at all* and *small risk* conditions (p < .001), the *no risk at all* and *has AIDS* conditions (p < .001), the *small* and *has AIDS* conditions (p = .012), the *small* and *don't know* conditions (p = .039), the *moderate* and *has AIDS* conditions (p = .027), and the *great* and *has AIDS* conditions (p < .001).
- 2. Mean scores for the ever tested HIV were statistically significantly different between the *moderate* and *has AIDS* conditions (p = .027).

# Table 5

Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference for Behavioral Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 18–24 Years

				95	% CI
HIV self–perceived risks ( <i>I</i> & <i>J</i> )	Mean difference $(I - J)$	SE	р	LL	UL
	Dependent variable: HIV	test result			
No risk at all					
Small	14.66	2.633	.000	6.88	22.43
Moderate	11.80	5.700	.371	-5.03	28.64
Great	2.97	5.569	.998	-13.48	19.41
Has AIDS	41.38	7.806	.000	18.33	64.43
Don't know	-0.10	4.774	1.000	-14.20	14.00
Small					
No risk at all	-14.66	2.633	.000	-22.43	-6.88
Moderate	-2.86	5.775	.999	-19.91	14.20
Great	-11.69	5.646	.371	-28.37	4.98
Has AIDS	26.72	7.860	.012	3.51	49.94
Don't know	-14.76	4.863	.039	-29.12	-0.40
Moderate					
No risk at all	-11.80	5.700	.371	-28.64	5.03
Small	2.86	5.775	.999	-14.20	19.91
Great	-8.84	7.579	.907	-31.22	13.55
Has AIDS	29.58	9.346	.027	1.98	57.18
Don't know	-11.90	7.015	.618	-32.62	8.81
Great	1100	11010	1010	02.02	0101
No risk at all	-2.97	5 569	998	-19 41	13 48
Small	11 69	5 646	371	-4.98	28.37
Moderate	8 84	7 579	907	-13 55	31.22
Has AIDS	38.42	9.267	.907	11.05	65.78
Don't know	-3.07	6 909	.001	-23.47	17 34
Has AIDS	5.07	0.909	.,,,,	23.17	17.51
No risk at all	-41 38	7 806	000	-64.43	-18 33
Small	-26.72	7.860	.000	-49 94	-3.51
Moderate	-29.58	9346	027	-57.18	-1.98
Great	-38.42	9.240	.027	-65 78	-11.05
Don't know	-41.48	8 811	.001	-67.51	-15.46
Don't know	-11-10	0.011	.000	07.51	15.40
No risk at all	0.10	1 774	1 000	-14.00	14 20
Small	14 76	4.774	030	0.40	20.12
Moderate	11.00	7.015	.039	-8.81	29.12
Great	2.07	6.000	.010	-0.01 -17.24	52.02 22.47
	5.07	0.909	.999	-17.54 15.46	23.47
Has AIDS		0.011	.000	13.40	07.51
No rish at all	Dependent variable: ever	lested HIV			
	0.00	0.002	057	0.00	0.01
Small	0.00	0.002	.957	0.00	0.01
widderate	0.00	0.004	.999	-0.01	0.01
Ureat	0.00	0.004	.999	-0.01	0.01
Has AIDS	0.00	0.005	1.000	-0.01	0.02
Don't know	0.00	0.003	.998	-0.01	0.01
No risk at all	0.00	0.002	.957	-0.01	0.00

				95%	o CI
HIV self–perceived risks ( <i>I</i> & <i>J</i> )	Mean difference $(I - J)$	SE	р	LL	UL
Moderate	0.00	0.004	1.000	-0.01	0.01
Great	0.00	0.004	1.000	-0.01	0.01
Has AIDS	0.00	0.005	1.000	-0.02	0.02
Don't know	0.00	0.003	1.000	-0.01	0.01
Moderate					
No risk at all	0.00	0.004	.999	-0.01	0.01
Small	0.00	0.004	1.000	-0.01	0.01
Great	0.00	0.005	1.000	-0.02	0.02
Has AIDS	0.00	0.007	1.000	-0.02	0.02
Don't know	0.00	0.005	1.000	-0.01	0.01
Great					
No risk at all	0.00	0.004	.999	-0.01	0.01
Small	0.00	0.004	1.000	-0.01	0.01
Moderate	0.00	0.005	1.000	-0.02	0.02
Has AIDS	0.00	0.006	1.000	-0.02	0.02
Don't know	0.00	0.005	1.000	-0.01	0.01
Has AIDS					
No risk at all	0.00	0.005	1.000	-0.02	0.01
Small	0.00	0.005	1.000	-0.02	0.02
Moderate	0.00	0.007	1.000	-0.02	0.02
Great	0.00	0.006	1.000	-0.02	0.02
Don't know	0.00	0.006	1.000	-0.02	0.02
Don't know					
No risk at all	0.00	0.003	.998	-0.01	0.01
Small	0.00	0.003	1.000	-0.01	0.01
Moderate	0.00	0.005	1.000	-0.01	0.01
Great	0.00	0.005	1.000	-0.01	0.01
Has AIDS	0.00	0.006	1.000	-0.02	0.02

*Note*. CI = confidence interval; *LL* = lower limit; *UL* = upper limit.

Table 6 demonstrates a statistically significant association between condom use and HIV test result, F(1, 1222) = 0.334, p = .042, Partial  $\eta^2 = .003$  for Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Behavioral Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 18–24 years. The association between self-perceived HIV risk and HIV test result, F(1, 1222) = 6.195, p < .001, Partial  $\eta^2 = 0.030$  and the association between selfperceived HIV risk and ever tested HIV, F(1, 122) = 1418.284, p < .001, Partial  $\eta^2 =$ 0.876 were statistically significant for women aged 18–24 (see table 6). Finally, Tables 4, 5, and 6 confirmed for the acceptance of the alternative hypothesis for the hypothesis testing 1. Table 6

Type III sum of Source and dependent variable F Partial  $\eta^2$ Mean square squares df р Corrected model 135,714.155<sup>a</sup> 8,482.135 5.052 .000 .063 HIV test result 16 Ever tested HIV 6.963<sup>b</sup> 16 532.897 .000 .876 0.435 6.960<sup>c</sup> 0.435 Ever tested AIDS 16 1.000 Intercept HIV test result 74,934.645 44.635 .036 1 74.934.645 .000 Ever tested HIV 94.435 94.435 115,629.835 .000 .990 1 Ever tested AIDS 94.287 94.287 1 1.000 \_\_\_\_\_ Sexual partners HIV test result 2,090.963 2,090.963 1.245 .001 .265 1 Ever tested HIV 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.000 1 .000 0.000 0.000 Ever tested AIDS 1 \_\_\_\_ Condom use HIV test result 6,950.334 6,950.334 .003 1 4.140 .042 Ever tested HIV 0.000 1 0.000 0.334 .563 .000 0.000 0.000 Ever tested AIDS 1 \_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_ Self-perceived HIV risk HIV test result 62.399.854 10.399.976 6.195 .000 .030 6 Ever tested HIV 6.950 1.158 1,418.284 .000 .876 6 1.158 6 1.000 Ever tested AIDS 6.949 \_\_\_\_\_ Sexual Partners × Condom Use HIV test result 2,077.320 2,077.320 1.237 .001 1 .266 Ever tested HIV 0.000 1.000 0.000 1 0.000 .000 Ever tested AIDS 0.000 0.000 1

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Behavioral Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 18-24 Years

	Type III sum of					
Source and dependent variable	squares	df	Mean square	F	р	Partial $\eta^2$
Sexual Partners × Self-Perceived HIV Risk						-
HIV test result	1,717.791	2	858.896	0.512	.600	.001
Ever tested HIV	0.000	2	0.000	0.000	1.000	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	2	0.000			
Condom Use × Self-Perceived HIV Risk						
HIV test result	2,411.591	2	1,205.796	0.718	.488	.001
Ever tested HIV	0.000	2	0.000	0.266	.767	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	2	0.000			
Sexual Partners $\times$ Condom Use $\times$ Self-Perceived HIV Risk						
HIV test result	586.483	1	586.483	0.349	.555	.000
Ever tested HIV	0.000	1	0.000	0.000	1.000	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1	0.000	—		—
Error						
HIV test result	2,022,991.112	1205	1,678.831			
Ever tested HIV	0.984	1205	0.001			
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1205	0.000			
Total						
HIV test result	3,728,050.000	1222				
Ever tested HIV	1246.000	1222				
Ever tested AIDS	1243.000	1222				
Corrected total						
HIV test result	2,158,705.267	1221				
Ever tested HIV	7.948	1221				
Ever tested AIDS	6.960	1221				

a. R Squared = .119 (Adjusted R Squared = .082)

b. R Squared = 1.000 (Adjusted R Squared = 1.000)

### **Hypothesis Testing 2**

Hypothesis 2 described in the following way: there is no association between behavioral determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from age 25 to 49. Tables 7, 8, and 9 demonstrated the MANOVA results to test hypothesis testing 2 for Zambian women aged 25 – 49.

The multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) provided the following results for the association between Self perceived HIV risk (no risk at all, small, moderate, great, has AIDS, don't know) with HIV serostatus (see table 7).

- 1. The mean scores for HIV test result were statistically significantly different between the *no risk at all* and *small* conditions (p < .001), the *no risk at all* and *has AIDS* conditions (p < .001), the *small* and *has AIDS* conditions (p = .012), the *small* and *don't know* conditions (p = .039), the *moderate* and *has AIDS* conditions (p = .027), and the *great* and *has AIDS* conditions (p < .001).
- 2. The mean scores for the ever tested HIV were statistically significantly different between the *moderate* and *has AIDS* conditions (p = .027).

Table 7

*Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference for Behavioral Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 25-49 Years* 

				959	% CI
HIV self-perceived risks ( <i>I &amp; J</i> )	Mean difference $(I - J)$	SE	р	LL	UL
	Dependent variable: HIV	test result			
No risk at all					
Small	14.66	2.633	0.000	6.88	22.43
Moderate	11.80	5.700	0.371	-5.03	28.64
Great	2.97	5.569	0.998	-13.48	19.41
Has AIDS	41.38	7.806	0.000	18.33	64.43
Don't know	-0.10	4.774	1.000	-14.20	14.00
Small					
No risk at all	-14.66	2.633	0.000	-22.43	-6.88
Moderate	-2.86	5.775	0.999	-19.91	14.20
Great	-11.69	5.646	0.371	-28.37	4.98
Has AIDS	26.72	7.860	0.012	3.51	49.94
Don't know	-14.76	4.863	0.039	-29.12	-0.40
Great					
No risk at all	-2.97	5.569	0.998	-19.41	13.48
Small	11.69	5.646	0.371	-4.98	28.37
Moderate	8.84	7.579	0.907	-13.55	31.22
Has AIDS	38.42	9.267	0.001	11.05	65.78
Don't know	-3.07	6.909	0.999	-23.47	17.34
Has AIDS					
No risk at all	-41.38	7.806	0.000	-64.43	-18.33
Small	-26.72	7.860	0.012	-49.94	-3.51
Moderate	-29.58	9.346	0.027	-57.18	-1.98
Great	-38.42	9.267	0.001	-65.78	-11.05
Don't know	-41.48	8.811	0.000	-67.51	-15.46
	Dependent variable: Ever t	ested HIV			
No risk at all					
Small	0.00	0.002	0.957	0.00	0.01
Moderate	0.00	0.004	0.999	-0.01	0.01
Great	0.00	0.004	0.999	-0.01	0.01
Has AIDS	0.00	0.005	1.000	-0.01	0.02
Don't know	0.00	0.003	0.998	-0.01	0.01
Great					
No risk at all	0.00	0.004	0.999	-0.01	0.01
Small	0.00	0.004	1.000	-0.01	0.01
Moderate	0.00	0.005	1.000	-0.02	0.02
Has AIDS	0.00	0.006	1.000	-0.02	0.02
Don't know	0.00	0.005	1.000	-0.01	0.01
N/A	-1.00	0.011	0.000	-1.03	-0.97

*Note.* CI = confidence interval;*LL*= lower limit;*UL*= upper limit.

The multivariate tests in Table 8 were for associations between the dependent variables: HIV test result, ever tested HIV, and ever tested AIDS) and behavioral determinants: sexual partners, condom use, and self-perceived risk for women aged 25–49. There was a statistically significant difference association between self-perceived HIV risk and a linear combination of the three dependent variables. In this main effect, self-perceived HIV risk was statistically significant: Pillai's trace was 0.897, F(2, 2410) = 163.283, p < .001; Wilks's lambda = 0.121, partial  $\eta 2$  = .448. The other two variables, sexual partners and condom use were not statistically significant, and neither were associations between other combinations of the behavioral determinants (see table 8).

Table 8

df Value Hypothesis Partial  $\eta^2$ Effect and test Error Fр Intercept 0.990 57.877.883<sup>a</sup> .000 .990 Pillai's trace 2 1204 0.010 2 .990 Wilks's lambda 57,877.883<sup>a</sup> 1204 .000 Hotelling's trace 96.143 57,877.883<sup>a</sup> 2 1204 .000 .990 Roy's largest root 96.143 57,877.883<sup>a</sup> 2 1204 .000 .990 Sexual partners 0.001 2 1204 .537 .001 Pillai's trace  $0.623^{a}$ 0.999 Wilks's lambda 0.623<sup>a</sup> 2 1204 .537 .001 Hotelling's trace 0.001 0.623<sup>a</sup> 2 1204 .537 .001 Roy's largest root 0.001  $0.623^{a}$ .537 .001 2 1204 Condom use Pillai's trace 0.004 2.265<sup>a</sup> 2 1204 .004 .104 Wilks's lambda 0.996 2.265<sup>a</sup> 2 1204 .104 .004 0.004 2.265<sup>a</sup> 2 1204 .104 .004 Hotelling's trace Roy's largest root 0.004 2.265<sup>a</sup> 2 1204 .104 .004 Self-perceived HIV risk Pillai's trace 0.897 163.283 12 .448 2410 .000 0.121 375.987<sup>a</sup> 12 2408 .000 .652 Wilks's lambda Hotelling's trace 7.110 712.751 12 2406 .000 .780 7.089 1,423.669<sup>b</sup> Roy's largest root 6 1205 .000 .876 Sexual Partners × Condom Use Pillai's trace 0.001 0.619<sup>a</sup> 2 1204 .539 .001 0.999 .001 Wilks's lambda 0.619<sup>a</sup> 2 1204 .539 0.001 0.619<sup>a</sup> 2 1204 .539 .001 Hotelling's trace

Multivariate Tests on Behavioral Determinants of HIV Serostatus on Zambian Women Aged 25–49 Years

			df			
Effect and test	Value	F	Hypothesis	Error	p	Partial $\eta^2$
Roy's largest root	0.001	0.619 <sup>a</sup>	2	1204	.539	.001
Sexual Partners × Self-Perceived HIV Risk						
Pillai's trace	0.001	0.256	4	2410	.906	.000
Wilks's lambda	0.999	0.256 <sup>a</sup>	4	2408	.906	.000
Hotelling's trace	0.001	0.256	4	2406	.906	.000
Roy's largest root	0.001	0.512 <sup>b</sup>	2	1205	.599	.001
Condom Use × Self-Perceived HIV Risk						
Pillai's trace	0.002	0.500	4	2410	.736	.001
Wilks's lambda	0.998	$0.500^{a}$	4	2408	.736	.001
Hotelling's trace	0.002	0.500	4	2406	.736	.001
Roy's largest root	0.002	0.921 <sup>b</sup>	2	1205	.398	.002
Sexual Partners $\times$ Condom Use $\times$ Self-Perceived HIV Risk						
Pillai's trace	0.000	0.175 <sup>a</sup>	2	1204	.840	.000
Wilks's lambda	1.000	0.175 <sup>a</sup>	2	1204	.840	.000
Hotelling's trace	0.000	0.175 <sup>a</sup>	2	1204	.840	.000
Roy's largest root	0.000	0.175 <sup>a</sup>	2	1204	.840	.000

a. Design: Intercept + SEXPARTN + CONDOUSE + HIVSELFRISK + SEXPARTN \* CONDOUSE + SEXPARTN \* HIVSELFRISK + CONDOUSE \* HIVSELFRISK + SEXPARTN \* CONDOUSE \* HIVSELFRISK

b. Exact statistic

c. The statistic is an upper bound on F that yields a lower bound on the significance level

Table 9 were Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Behavioral Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 25–49 years on the associations between the dependent variables and behavioral determinants for women aged 25–49. there was a statistically significant association between condom use and HIV test result, F(1, 1222) = 4.140, p = .04, self-perceived HIV risk and HIV test result, F(1, 1222) = 6.195, p < .001, partial  $\eta^2 = .030$ , and self-perceived HIV risk and ever tested HIV, F(1, 1222) = XX, p < .001, partial  $\eta^2 = .776$ . Besides, there was a statistically significant difference association between self-perceived HIV risk and a linear combination of the three dependent variables. In this main effect, self-perceived HIV risk was statistically significant: F(2, 1222) = 532.897, p < .001; partial  $\eta^2 = .876$ . The other two variables, sexual partners and condom use, were not statistically significant with HIV test results (see table 9).

Type III sum of Partial  $\eta^2$ Source and dependent variable df Mean square F squares р Corrected model HIV test result 135,714.155<sup>a</sup> 16 8482.135 5.052 .000 .063 6.963<sup>b</sup> 0.435 532.897 .000 .876 Ever tested HIV 16 Ever tested AIDS 6.960<sup>c</sup> 16 0.435 1.000 \_\_\_\_ Intercept HIV test result 74.934.645 1 74.934.645 44.635 .000 .036 94.435 115,629.835 .000 .990 Ever tested HIV 94.435 1 Ever tested AIDS 94.287 94.287 1 1.000 \_\_\_\_ Sexual partners HIV test result 2,090.963 2,090.963 1.245 .001 1 .265 Ever tested HIV 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.000 .000 1 0.000 0.000 Ever tested AIDS 1 \_\_\_\_ Condom use 6.950.334 6,950.334 .042 .003 HIV test result 1 4.140 Ever tested HIV 0.000 1 0.000 0.334 .563 .000 0.000 0.000 1 Ever tested AIDS \_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_ Self-perceived HIV risk HIV test result 62,399.854 6 10,399.976 6.195 .000 .030 Ever tested HIV 1,418.284 .876 6 6.950 1.158 .000 Ever tested AIDS 6.949 6 1.158 1.000 \_\_\_\_ Sexual Partners × Condom Use HIV test result 2,077.320 2,077.320 1.237 .001 1 .266 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.000 .000 Ever tested HIV 1 Ever tested AIDS 0.000 1 0.000

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Behavioral Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 25-49 Years

	Type III sum of	f				Partial
Source and dependent variable	squares	df	Mean square	F	р	$\eta^2$
Sexual Partners × Self-Perceived HIV Risk	-					
HIV test result	1,717.791	2	858.896	0.512	.600	.001
Ever tested HIV	0.000	2	0.000	0.000	1.000	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	2	0.000			
Condom Use × Self-Perceived HIV Risk						
HIV test result	2,411.591	2	1,205.796	0.718	.488	.001
Ever tested HIV	0.000	2	0.000	0.266	.767	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	2	0.000			
Sexual Partners × Condom Use × Self-Perceived HIV R	lisk					
HIV test result	586.483	1	586.483	0.349	.555	.000
Ever tested HIV	0.000	1	0.000	0.000	1.000	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1	0.000			
Error						
HIV test result	2,022,991.112	1205	1,678.831			
Ever tested HIV	0.984	1205	0.001			
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1205	0.000			
Total						
HIV test result	3,728,050.000	1222				
Ever tested HIV	1246.000	1222				
Ever tested AIDS	1243.000	1222				
Corrected total						
HIV test result	2,158,705.267	1221				
Ever tested HIV	7.948	1221				
Ever tested AIDS	6.960	1221				

a. R Squared = .053 (Adjusted R Squared = .036)

b. R Squared = .804 (Adjusted R Squared = .800)

c. R Squared = 1.000 (Adjusted R Squared = 1.000)

# **Hypothesis Testing 3**

Hypothesis 3 developed as follows: there is no statistically significant association between demographic determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24. Tables 10 and 11 indicate the MANOVA results of hypothesis testing 3 by analyzing the associations between demographic determinants (location, education, and marital status) with the dependent variable HIV serostatus. It appeared a statistically significant association between education and a linear combination of the three dependent variables (see table 10).

# Table 10

Multivariate Tests on Demographic Determinants of HIV Serostatus on Zambian Women Aged 18–24 Years

			df			
Effect and test <sup>a</sup>	Value	F	Hypothesis	Error	р	Partial $\eta^2$
Intercept						
Pillai's trace	0.927	5,109.357 <sup>b</sup>	3	1215.000	.000	.927
Wilks's lambda	0.073	5,109.357 <sup>b</sup>	3	1215.000	.000	.927
Hotelling's trace	12.616	5,109.357 <sup>b</sup>	3	1215.000	.000	.927
Roy's largest root	12.616	5,109.357 <sup>b</sup>	3	1215.000	.000	.927
Location						
Pillai's trace	0.002	0.914 <sup>b</sup>	3	1215.000	.433	.002
Wilks's lambda	0.998	0.914 <sup>b</sup>	3	1215.000	.433	.002
Hotelling's trace	0.002	0.914 <sup>b</sup>	3	1215.000	.433	.002
Roy's largest root	0.002	0.914 <sup>b</sup>	3	1215.000	.433	.002
Education						
Pillai's trace	0.015	2.099	9	3651.000	.026	.005
Wilks's lambda	0.985	2.106	9	2957.141	.026	.005
Hotelling's trace	0.016	2.111	9	3641.000	.025	.005
Roy's largest root	0.015	5.930 <sup>c</sup>	3	1217.000	.001	.014
Marital status						
Pillai's trace	0.003	0.363	9	3651.000	.953	.001
Wilks's lambda	0.997	0.363	9	2957.141	.953	.001
Hotelling's trace	0.003	0.362	9	3641.000	.953	.001
Roy's largest root	0.002	0.964 <sup>c</sup>	3	1217.000	.409	.002
Location × Education						
Pillai's trace	0.002	0.225	9	3651.000	.991	.001
Wilks's lambda	0.998	0.224	9	2957.141	.991	.001
Hotelling's trace	0.002	0.224	9	3641.000	.991	.001

			df			
Effect and test <sup>a</sup>	Value	F	Hypothesis	Error	р	Partial $\eta^2$
	0.001	0.496 <sup>c</sup>	3	1217.000	.685	.001
Roy's largest root						
Location × Marital Status						
Pillai's trace	0.004	0.588	9	3651.000	.808	.001
Wilks's lambda	0.996	0.588	9	2957.141	.808	.001
Hotelling's trace	0.004	0.588	9	3641.000	.808	.001
Roy's largest root	0.004	1.576 <sup>c</sup>	3	1217.000	.193	.004
Education × Marital Status						
Pillai's trace	0.012	0.587	24	3651.000	.944	.004
Wilks's lambda	0.988	0.587	24	3524.471	.944	.004
Hotelling's trace	0.012	0.588	24	3641.000	.944	.004
Roy's largest root	0.010	1.449 <sup>c</sup>	8	1217.000	.172	.009
Location × Education × Marital Status						
Pillai's trace	0.007	0.506	18	3651.000	.957	.002
Wilks's lambda	0.993	0.506	18	3437.024	.957	.002
Hotelling's trace	0.007	0.505	18	3641.000	.957	.002
Roy's largest root	0.005	1.039 <sup>c</sup>	6	1217.000	.398	.005

a. Design: Intercept + LOCATION + EDUCATION + MARITALST + LOCATION \* EDUCATION + LOCATION \*

MARITALST + EDUCATION \* MARITALST + LOCATION \* EDUCATION \* MARITALST

b. Exact statistic

c. The statistic is an upper bound on F that yields a lower bound on the significance level.

Table 11, Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Zambian women aged 18 - 24, showed a statistically significant association between education (demographic variable) and HIV serostatus, F(3, 1245) = 5.992, p = .001,  $\eta^2 = 0.14$ . The association between demographic variables location and marital status had no statistically significant variation with the ever tested HIV and ever tested AIDS (see table 11).

#### Table 11

Source and dependent variable Partial  $\eta^2$ Type III sum of squares df Mean square F р Corrected model 107.571.421<sup>a</sup> 27 3.984.127 .049 HIV test result 2.323 .000  $0.104^{b}$ 27 0.004 0.596 .013 Ever tested HIV .950 Ever tested AIDS  $0.089^{\circ}$ 27 0.003 0.582 .957 .013 Intercept HIV test result 112,188.806 112,188.806 65.423 .051 1 .000 13,443.028 .000 .917 Ever tested HIV 86.655 1 86.655 Ever tested AIDS 86.629 1 86.629 15,341.789 .000 .927 Location 4.509.737 4,509.737 2.630 .105 .002 HIV test result 1 Ever tested HIV 0.001 0.001 0.198 .000 1 .657 0.001 0.001 .000 Ever tested AIDS 1 0.241 .624 Education .014 HIV test result 30,465.256 3 10,155.085 5.922 .001 0.009 3 0.003 0.455 .714 .001 Ever tested HIV Ever tested AIDS 0.008 3 0.003 0.460 .710 .001 Marital status HIV test result 4,825.666 3 1,608.555 0.938 .422 .002 Ever tested HIV 0.003 3 0.001 0.155 .926 .000 Ever tested AIDS 0.003 3 0.001 0.176 .912 .000 Location × Education HIV test result 1,840.615 3 613.538 0.358 .784 .001 Ever tested HIV 0.005 3 0.002 0.253 .859 .001 Ever tested AIDS 0.006 3 0.002 0.334 .001 .801 Location × Marital Status

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Demographic Determinants of HIV Serostatus on Zambian Women Aged 18–24 Years
Source and dependent variable	Type III sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	р	Partial n <sup>2</sup>
HIV test result	5,065.565	3	1,688.522	0.985	.399	.002
Ever tested HIV	0.016	3	0.005	0.831	.477	.002
Ever tested AIDS	0.015	3	0.005	0.895	.443	.002
Education × Marital Status						
HIV test result	19,802.422	8	2,475.303	1.443	.174	.009
Ever tested HIV	0.012	8	0.002	0.240	.983	.002
Ever tested AIDS	0.013	8	0.002	0.284	.971	.002
Location × Education × Marital Statu	IS					
HIV test result	10,603.796	6	1,767.299	1.031	.404	.005
Ever tested HIV	0.018	6	0.003	0.459	.839	.002
Ever tested AIDS	0.016	6	0.003	0.460	.838	.002
Error						
HIV test result	2,086,936.408	1217	1,714.820			
Ever tested HIV	7.845	1217	0.006			
Ever tested AIDS	6.872	1217	0.006			
Total						
HIV test result	3,774,579.000	1245				
Ever tested HIV	1,269.000	1245				
Ever tested AIDS	1,266.000	1245				
Corrected total						
HIV test result	2,194,507.828	1244				
Ever tested HIV	7.949	1244				
Ever tested AIDS	6.961	1244				

a. R Squared = .067 (Adjusted R Squared = .026)

b. R Squared = .111 (Adjusted R Squared = .071)

## **Hypothesis Testing 4**

Hypothesis 4 stated as follows: there is no statistically significant association between demographic determinants and HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from age 25 - 49. Tests of Between-Subjects Effects report the result on associations between demographic determinants and HIV serostatus for Zambian women aged 25–49 (see tables 12 and 13).

One of the three demographic determinant variables, education, had a statistically association with HIV test result, F(3, 1217) = 5.922, p < .001, partial  $\eta 2 = .014$  (see table 12). In table 12, the other two demographic determinant variables, location, and marital status had no statistically significant association with ever tested HIV, ever tested AIDS (see table 12).

### Table 12

Source and dependent variable	Type III sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	p	Partial $\eta^2$
Corrected model						
HIV test result	107,571.421 <sup>a</sup>	27	3,984.127	2.323	.000	.049
Ever tested HIV	0.104 <sup>b</sup>	27	0.004	0.596	.950	.013
Ever tested AIDS	0.089 <sup>c</sup>	27	0.003	0.582	.957	.013
Intercept						
HIV test result	112,188.806	1	112,188.806	65.423	.000	.051
Ever tested HIV	86.655	1	86.655	13,443.028	.000	.917
Ever tested AIDS	86.629	1	86.629	15,341.789	.000	.927
Location						
HIV test result	4,509.737	1	4,509.737	2.630	.105	.002
Ever tested HIV	0.001	1	0.001	0.198	.657	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.001	1	0.001	0.241	.624	.000
Education						
HIV test result	30,465.256	3	10,155.085	5.922	.001	.014
Ever tested HIV	0.009	3	0.003	0.455	.714	.001
Ever tested AIDS	0.008	3	0.003	0.460	.710	.001
Marital status						
HIV test result	4,825.666	3	1,608.555	0.938	.422	.002
Ever tested HIV	0.003	3	0.001	0.155	.926	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.003	3	0.001	0.176	.912	.000
Location × Education						
HIV test result	1,840.615	3	613.538	0.358	.784	.001
Ever tested HIV	0.005	3	0.002	0.253	.859	.001
Ever tested AIDS	0.006	3	0.002	0.334	.801	.001
Location $\times$ Marital Status						

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Demographic Determinants of HIV Serostatus on Zambian Women Aged 25-49 Years

Source and dependent veriable	Tupo III sum of squares	df	Maan aquara	F	n	Dortial m <sup>2</sup>
		<u> </u>		<u>Г</u> 0.007	<u> </u>	
HIV test result	5,065.565	3	1,688.522	0.985	.399	.002
Ever tested HIV	0.016	3	0.005	0.831	.477	.002
Ever tested AIDS	0.015	3	0.005	0.895	.443	.002
Education × Marital Status						
HIV test result	19,802.422	8	2,475.303	1.443	.174	.009
Ever tested HIV	0.012	8	0.002	0.240	.983	.002
Ever tested AIDS	0.013	8	0.002	0.284	.971	.002
Location × Education × Marital Status	1					
HIV test result	10,603.796	6	1,767.299	1.031	.404	.005
Ever tested HIV	0.018	6	0.003	0.459	.839	.002
Ever tested AIDS	0.016	6	0.003	0.460	.838	.002
Error						
HIV test result	2,086,936.408	1217	1,714.820			
Ever tested HIV	7.845	1217	0.006			
Ever tested AIDS	6.872	1217	0.006			
Total						
HIV test result	3,774,579.000	1245				
Ever tested HIV	1,269.000	1245				
Ever tested AIDS	1,266.000	1245				
Corrected total						
HIV test result	2,194,507.828	1244				
Ever tested HIV	7.949	1244				
Ever tested AIDS	6.961	1244				

a. R Squared = .071 (Adjusted R Squared = .041)

b. R Squared = .010 (Adjusted R Squared = -.022)

c. R Squared = .006 (Adjusted R Squared = -.026)

Table 13 indicates a statistically significant association between education and the linear combination of the dependent variable for women aged 25–49 years. In this main effect education was statistically significant in its association with HIV serostatus: Pillai's trace was 0.015, F(9, 3651) = 2.099, p = .026; Wilks's lambda was 0.985, partial  $\eta 2 = .005$ .

Ta	ble	13

Multivariate Tests on Demographic Determinants of HIV Serostatus on Zambian Women Aged 25–49 Years

× •	×			df		
Effect and test <sup>a</sup>	Value	F	Hypothesis	Error	<i>p</i>	Partial $\eta^2$
Intercept						-
Pillai's trace	0.927	5,109.357 <sup>b</sup>	3	1215.000	.000	.927
Wilks's lambda	0.073	5,109.357 <sup>b</sup>	3	1215.000	.000	.927
Hotelling's trace	12.616	5,109.357 <sup>b</sup>	3	1215.000	.000	.927
Roy's largest root	12.616	5,109.357 <sup>b</sup>	3	1215.000	.000	.927
Location						
Pillai's trace	0.002	0.914 <sup>b</sup>	3	1215.000	.433	.002
Wilks's lambda	0.998	0.914 <sup>b</sup>	3	1215.000	.433	.002
Hotelling's trace	0.002	0.914 <sup>b</sup>	3	1215.000	.433	.002
Roy's largest root	0.002	0.914 <sup>b</sup>	3	1215.000	.433	.002
Education						
Pillai's trace	0.015	2.099	9	3651.000	.026	.005
Wilks's lambda	0.985	2.106	9	2957.141	.026	.005
Hotelling's trace	0.016	2.111	9	3641.000	.025	.005
Roy's largest root	0.015	5.930 <sup>c</sup>	3	1217.000	.001	.014
Marital status						
Pillai's trace	0.003	0.363	9	3651.000	.953	.001
Wilks's lambda	0.997	0.363	9	2957.141	.953	.001
Hotelling's trace	0.003	0.362	9	3641.000	.953	.001
Roy's largest root	0.002	0.964 <sup>c</sup>	3	1217.000	.409	.002
Location × Education						
Pillai's trace	0.002	0.225	9	3651.000	.991	.001
Wilks's lambda	0.998	0.224	9	2957.141	.991	.001
Hotelling's trace	0.002	0.224	9	3641.000	.991	.001

				df		
Effect and test <sup>a</sup>	Value	F	Hypothesis	Error	p	Partial $\eta^2$
	0.001	0.496 <sup>c</sup>	3	1217.000	.685	.001
Roy's largest root						
Location × Marital Status						
Pillai's trace	0.004	0.588	9	3651.000	.808	.001
Wilks's lambda	0.996	0.588	9	2957.141	.808	.001
Hotelling's trace	0.004	0.588	9	3641.000	.808	.001
Roy's largest root	0.004	1.576 <sup>c</sup>	3	1217.000	.193	.004
Education × Marital Status						
Pillai's trace	0.012	0.587	24	3651.000	.944	.004
Wilks's lambda	0.988	0.587	24	3524.471	.944	.004
Hotelling's trace	0.012	0.588	24	3641.000	.944	.004
Roy's largest root	0.010	1.449 <sup>c</sup>	8	1217.000	.172	.009
Location × Education × Marital Status						
Pillai's trace	0.007	0.506	18	3651.000	.957	.002
Wilks's lambda	0.993	0.506	18	3437.024	.957	.002
Hotelling's trace	0.007	0.505	18	3641.000	.957	.002
Roy's largest root	0.005	1.039 <sup>c</sup>	6	1217.000	.398	.005

a. Design: Intercept + LOCATION + EDUCATION + MARITALST + LOCATION \* EDUCATION + LOCATION \*

MARITALST + EDUCATION \* MARITALST + LOCATION \* EDUCATION \* MARITALST

b. Exact statistic

c. The statistic is an upper bound on F that yields a lower bound on the significance level.

## **Hypothesis Testing 5**

The 5<sup>th</sup> hypothesis stated as follows: there is no statistically significant association between clinical determinants (government services, clinic services, NGO services) with HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from ages 18 to 24. Tables 14, 15, and 16 show the test results for hypothesis testing 5.

The multivariate tests demonstrated no statistically significant associations between clinical determinants (government services, clinic services, NGO services) with HIV serostatus (see table 14).

Table 14

Multivariate Tests on Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 18–24 Years

Effect and test <sup>a</sup>	Value	$F^{\mathrm{b}}$	р	Partial $\eta^2$
Intercept				•
Pillai's trace	0.986	43,506.206	.000	.986
Wilks's lambda	0.014	43,506.206	.000	.986
Hotelling's trace	71.380	43,506.206	.000	.986
Roy's largest root	71.380	43,506.206	.000	.986
Clinic services				
Pillai's trace	0.000	0.170	.844	.000
Wilks's lambda	1.000	0.170	.844	.000
Hotelling's trace	0.000	0.170	.844	.000
Roy's largest root	0.000	0.170	.844	.000
NGO Services				
Pillai's trace	0.003	1.658	.191	.003
Wilks's lambda	0.997	1.658	.191	.003
Hotelling's trace	0.003	1.658	.191	.003
Roy's largest root	0.003	1.658	.191	.003
Government services				
Pillai's trace	0.000	0.287	.751	.000
Wilks's lambda	1.000	0.287	.751	.000
Hotelling's trace	0.000	0.287	.751	.000
Roy's largest root	0.000	0.287	.751	.000
Clinic Services × NGO Services				
Pillai's trace	0.000	0.002	.998	.000
Wilks's lambda	1.000	0.002	.998	.000
Hotelling's trace	0.000	0.002	.998	.000
Roy's largest root	0.000	0.002	.998	.000

Effect and test <sup>a</sup>	Value	$F^{\mathrm{b}}$	р	Partial $\eta^2$
Clinic Services × Government Services			•	•
Pillai's trace	0.000	0.006	.994	.000
Wilks's lambda	1.000	0.006	.994	.000
Hotelling's trace	0.000	0.006	.994	.000
Roy's largest root	0.000	0.006	.994	.000
NGO Services × Government Services				
Pillai's trace	0.001	0.597	.551	.001
Wilks's lambda	0.999	0.597	.551	.001
Hotelling's trace	0.001	0.597	.551	.001
Roy's largest root	0.001	0.597	.551	.001
Clinic Services × NGO Services × Government Serv	vices			
Pillai's trace	0.000	0.089	.915	.000
Wilks's lambda	1.000	0.089	.915	.000
Hotelling's trace	0.000	0.089	.915	.000
Roy's largest root	0.000	0.089	.915	.000

*Note*. Hypothesis df = 2. Error df = 1219. NGO = nongovernmental organization.

a. Design: Intercept + GOVTEST + CLINICTEST + NGOTEST + GOVTEST \* CLINICTEST + GOVTEST \*

NGOTEST + CLINICTEST \* NGOTEST + GOVTEST \* CLINICTEST \* NGOTEST

b. Exact statistic

Unlike the multivariate test (see table 14), Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference (HSD) and Least Significant Difference (LSD) test in table 15 reports a statistically significant results for the association between clinical determinants of an independent variable, use of services (*yes*, *no*, and *N*/*A*) and HIV serostatus as follows:

1 Mean scores of HIV test result statistically significantly different between the *yes* and *N*/*A* conditions (p < .001) and the *no* and *N*/*A* conditions (p = .003).

2. Mean scores of ever tested HIV were statistically significantly different between the *yes* and N/A conditions (p < .001) and between the *no* and *N/A* conditions (p < .001).

¥	0		Т	ukey's HS	SD		LSD	
				95%	6 CI		95%	% CI
Use of HIV services $(I \& J)$	Mean difference $(I - J)$	SE	р	LL	UL	р	LL	UL
	Dependen	t variable: H	IV test re	esult				
Yes	_							
No	-6.18	3.012	.100	-13.25	0.88	.040	-12.09	-0.28
N/A	-58.14	15.965	.001	-95.60	-20.67	.000	-89.46	-26.81
No								
Yes	6.18	3.012	.100	-0.88	13.25	.040	0.28	12.09
N/A	-51.95	15.791	.003	-89.00	-14.90	.001	-82.93	-20.97
N/A								
Yes	58.14	15.965	.001	20.67	95.60	.000	26.81	89.46
No	51.95	15.791	.003	14.90	89.00	.001	20.97	82.93
	Dependent	t variable: ev	ver tested	HIV				
Yes	-							
No	0.00	0.002	.876	-0.01	0.00	.624	-0.01	0.00
N/A	-1.00	0.011	.000	-1.03	-0.97	.000	-1.02	-0.98
No								
Yes	0.00	0.002	.876	0.00	0.01	.624	0.00	0.01
N/A	-1.00	0.011	.000	-1.02	-0.97	.000	-1.02	-0.98
N/A								
Yes	1.00	0.011	.000	0.97	1.03	.000	0.98	1.02
No	1.00	0.011	.000	0.97	1.02	.000	0.98	1.02

Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference (HSD) and Least Significant Difference (LSD) for Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 18–24 Years

*Note*. CI = confidence interval; LL = lower limit; UL = upper limit.

*Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 18–24 indicated* no statistically significant associations between clinical determinants and the HIV serostatus (see table 16). The clinical determinants allude to the use of HIV services GOV, the use of HIV services Clinic, and the use of HIV services NGO and the dependent variables. Table 16

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 18–24 Years Type III sum of

	Type III sum of					
Source and dependent variable	squares	df	Mean square	F	p	Partial $\eta^2$
Corrected model						
HIV test result	40,836.240 <sup>a</sup>	8	5,104.530	2.945	.003	.019
Ever tested HIV	6.949 <sup>b</sup>	8	0.869	1,061.046	.000	.874
Ever tested AIDS	6.960 <sup>c</sup>	8	0.870			1.000
Intercept						
HIV test result	76,667.166	1	76,667.166	44.238	.000	.035
Ever tested HIV	71.139	1	71.139	86,896.369	.000	.986
Ever tested AIDS	71.126	1	71.126			1.000
Government services						
HIV test result	990.538	1	990.538	0.572	.450	.000
Ever tested HIV	0.000	1	0.000	0.001	.972	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1	0.000			
Clinic services						
HIV test result	584.172	1	584.172	0.337	.562	.000
Ever tested HIV	0.000	1	0.000	0.001	.972	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1	0.000			
NGO Services						
HIV test result	5,742.330	1	5,742.330	3.313	.069	.003
Ever tested HIV	0.000	1	0.000	0.001	.972	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1	0.000			
Government Services × Clinic Services						
HIV test result	19.771	1	19.771	0.011	.915	.000
Ever tested HIV	0.000	1	0.000	0.001	.972	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1	0.000			

	Type III sum of					
Source and dependent variable	squares	df	Mean square	F	р	Partial $\eta^2$
Government Services × NGO Services						
HIV test result	2,071.387	1	2,071.387	1.195	.274	.001
Ever tested HIV	0.000	1	0.000	0.001	.972	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1	0.000			
Clinic Services × NGO Services						
HIV test result	4.953	1	4.953	0.003	.957	.000
Ever tested HIV	0.000	1	0.000	0.001	.972	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1	0.000			
Government Services × Clinic Services × NGO Service	es					
HIV test result	306.166	1	306.166	0.177	.674	.000
Ever tested HIV	0.000	1	0.000	0.001	.972	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1	0.000			
Error						
HIV test result	2,114,345.002	1220	1,733.070			
Ever tested HIV	0.999	1220	0.001			
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1220	0.000			
Total						
HIV test result	3,673,895.000	1229				
Ever tested HIV	1,253.000	1229				
Ever tested AIDS	1,250.000	1229				
Corrected total						
HIV test result	2,155,181.242	1228				
Ever tested HIV	7.948	1228				
Ever tested AIDS	6.960	1228				

Note. NGO = nongovernmental organization. a. R Squared = .023 (Adjusted R Squared = .002) b. R Squared = 1.000 (Adjusted R Squared = 1.000)

#### **Hypothesis Testing 6**

Multivariate analysis of variance was performed to test hypothesis 6 stated as follows: there is no statistically significant association between clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from age 25 to 49. Tables 17, 18, and 19 validate hypothesis testing 6 for Zambian women aged 25–49 years.

Table 17 reports on associations between clinical determinants and HIV serostatus for Zambian women aged 25 - 49. The results of the Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference (HSD) and Least Significant Difference (LSD) for the use of services variable with three levels (*yes*, *no*, and *N/A*) are as follows:

- 1. Mean scores of HIV test results were statistically significantly different between the *yes* and *N/A* conditions (p < .001) and between the *N/A* and *no* conditions (p < .001).
- 2. Mean scores of ever tested HIV were statistically significantly different between the *yes* and *N*/*A* conditions (p < .001) and between the *no* and *N*/*A* conditions (p < .001) (see table 17).

	<i>J</i> O		Г	Tukey's HS	SD		LSD	
				95%	6 CI		95%	6 CI
Use of HIV services $(I \& J)$	Mean difference $(I - J)$	SE	р	LL	UL	p	LL	UL
	Dependen	t variable: H	IV test re	sult				
Yes	-							
No	-7.28	3.225	.063	-14.84	0.29	.024	-13.60	-0.95
N/A	-59.24	16.009	.001	-96.81	-21.67	.000	-90.65	-27.83
No								
Yes	7.28	3.225	.063	-0.29	14.84	.024	0.95	13.60
N/A	-51.96	15.788	.003	-89.01	-14.92	.001	-82.94	-20.99
N/A								
Yes	59.24	16.009	.001	21.67	96.81	.000	27.83	90.65
No	51.96	15.788	.003	14.92	89.01	.001	20.99	82.94
	Dependent	variable: ev	er tested	HIV				
Yes	-							
No	0.00	0.002	.898	-0.01	0.00	.659	-0.01	0.00
N/A	-1.00	0.011	.000	-1.03	-0.97	.000	-1.02	-0.98
No								
Yes	0.00	0.002	.898	0.00	0.01	.659	0.00	0.01
N/A	-1.00	0.011	.000	-1.02	-0.97	.000	-1.02	-0.98
N/A								
Yes	1.00	0.011	.000	0.97	1.03	.000	0.98	1.02
No	1.00	0.011	.000	0.97	1.02	.000	0.98	1.02

Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference (HSD) and Least Significant Difference (LSD) for Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women of Aged 25–49 Years

*Note*. CI = confidence interval; LL = lower limit; UL = upper limit.

As shown in Table 18, there were no statistically significant differences between clinical determinants and a linear combination of the three dependent variables (HIV serostatus, ever tested HIV, ever tested AIDS) for adult Zambian women (25 - 49).

Table 18

Multivariate Tests on Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 25–49 Years

Effect and test <sup>a</sup>	Value	F <sup>b</sup>	р	Partial $\eta^2$
Intercept				·
Pillai's trace	0.986	43,506.206	.000	.986
Wilks's lambda	0.014	43,506.206	.000	.986
Hotelling's trace	71.380	43,506.206	.000	.986
Roy's largest root	71.380	43,506.206	.000	.986
Clinic services				
Pillai's trace	0.000	0.170	.844	.000
Wilks's lambda	1.000	0.170	.844	.000
Hotelling's trace	0.000	0.170	.844	.000
Roy's largest root	0.000	0.170	.844	.000
NGO Services				
Pillai's trace	0.003	1.658	.191	.003
Wilks's lambda	0.997	1.658	.191	.003
Hotelling's trace	0.003	1.658	.191	.003
Roy's largest root	0.003	1.658	.191	.003
Government services				
Pillai's trace	0.000	0.287	.751	.000
Wilks's lambda	1.000	0.287	.751	.000
Hotelling's trace	0.000	0.287	.751	.000
Roy's largest root	0.000	0.287	.751	.000
Clinic Services × NGO Services				
Pillai's trace	0.000	0.002	.998	.000
Wilks's lambda	1.000	0.002	.998	.000
Hotelling's trace	0.000	0.002	.998	.000
Roy's largest root	0.000	0.002	.998	.000

Effect and test <sup>a</sup>	Value	$F^{\mathrm{b}}$	р	Partial $\eta^2$
Clinic Services × Government Services			-	·
Pillai's trace	0.000	0.006	.994	.000
Wilks's lambda	1.000	0.006	.994	.000
Hotelling's trace	0.000	0.006	.994	.000
Roy's largest root	0.000	0.006	.994	.000
NGO Services × Government Services				
Pillai's trace	0.001	0.597	.551	.001
Wilks's lambda	0.999	0.597	.551	.001
Hotelling's trace	0.001	0.597	.551	.001
Roy's largest root	0.001	0.597	.551	.001
Clinic Services × NGO Services × Government Services				
Pillai's trace	0.000	0.089	.915	.000
Wilks's lambda	1.000	0.089	.915	.000
Hotelling's trace	0.000	0.089	.915	.000
Roy's largest root	0.000	0.089	.915	.000

*Note*. Hypothesis *df* = 2. Error *df* = 1219. NGO = nongovernmental organization. a. Design: Intercept + GOVTEST + CLINICTEST + NGOTEST + GOVTEST \* CLINICTEST + GOVTEST \* NGOTEST + CLINICTEST \* NGOTEST + GOVTEST \* CLINICTEST \* NGOTEST + GOVTEST \* NGOTEST + GOVTEST \* NGOTEST b. Exact statistic

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects for Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian women aged 25–49 demonstrate no statistically significant outcomes for the association between clinical determinants and the dependent variables (see table 19). Table 19

Type III sum of Source and dependent variable df FPartial  $\eta^2$ Mean square squares р Corrected model 40,836.240<sup>a</sup> 2.945 .003 .019 HIV test result 8 5,104.530 Ever tested HIV 6.949<sup>b</sup> 8 1061.046 .000 .874 0.869 6.960<sup>c</sup> Ever tested AIDS 8 0.870 1.000 Intercept HIV test result 76,667.166 76.667.166 44.238 .035 1 .000 Ever tested HIV 71.139 71.139 86896.369 .000 .986 1 71.126 71.126 1.000 Ever tested AIDS 1 \_\_\_\_\_ Clinic services HIV test result 584.172 584.172 0.337 1 .562 .000 Ever tested HIV 0.000 0.000 0.001 .972 1 .000 0.000 0.000 Ever tested AIDS 1 \_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_ NGO Services HIV test result 5,742.330 5,742.330 3.313 .069 .003 1 Ever tested HIV 0.000 0.000 0.001 .972 .000 1 0.000 0.000 Ever tested AIDS 1 \_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_ Government services HIV test result 990.538 990.538 0.572 .450 .000 1 Ever tested HIV 0.000 0.001 .972 .000 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Ever tested AIDS 1 \_\_\_\_ Clinic Services × NGO Services 4.953 0.003 .000 HIV test result 1 4.953 .957 Ever tested HIV 0.000 0.001 .972 1 0.000 .000 Ever tested AIDS 0.000 0.000 1

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects for Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 25-49 Years

	Type III sum of					
Source and dependent variable	squares	df	Mean square	F	p	Partial $\eta^2$
Clinic Services × Government Services						
HIV test result	19.771	1	19.771	0.011	.915	.000
Ever tested HIV	0.000	1	0.000	0.001	.972	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1	0.000			
NGO Services × Government Services						
HIV test result	2,071.387	1	2,071.387	1.195	.274	.001
Ever tested HIV	0.000	1	0.000	0.001	.972	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1	0.000			
Clinic Services × NGO Services × Government Services						
HIV test result	306.166	1	306.166	0.177	.674	.000
Ever tested HIV	0.000	1	0.000	0.001	.972	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1	0.000			
Error						
HIV test result	2,114,345.002	1220	1,733.070			
Ever tested HIV	0.999	1220	0.001			
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1220	0.000			
Total						
HIV test result	3,673,895.000	1229				
Ever tested HIV	1253.000	1229				
Ever tested AIDS	1250.000	1229				
Corrected total						
HIV test result	2,155,181.242	1228				
Ever tested HIV	7.948	1228				
Ever tested AIDS	6.960	1228				

Note. NGO = nongovernmental organization.

a. R Squared = .024 (Adjusted R Squared = .016)

b. R Squared = .799 (Adjusted R Squared = .797) c. R Squared = 1.000 (Adjusted R Squared = 1.000)

## **Hypothesis Testing 7**

Multivariate analysis of variance was also performed to test hypothesis 7 stated as follows: there is no statistically significant synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from age 18 to 24. Tables 20, 21, 22, and 23 show the test results for hypothesis testing 7. The synergistic associations between sexual partners, location, and government with HIV test results were not statistically significant, leading to failing to reject hypothesis testing 7 (see table 20).

Table 20

			dj			
Effect and test <sup>a</sup>	Value	F	Hypothesis	Error	р	Partial $\eta^2$
Intercept						
Pillai's trace	0.991	63,188.837 <sup>b</sup>	2	1195.0	.000	.991
Wilks's lambda	0.009	63,188.837 <sup>b</sup>	2	1195.0	.000	.991
Hotelling's trace	105.755	63,188.837 <sup>b</sup>	2	1195.0	.000	.991
Roy's largest root	105.755	63,188.837 <sup>b</sup>	2	1195.0	.000	.991
Sexual partners						
Pillai's trace	0.001	0.257	4	2392.0	.905	.000
Wilks's lambda	0.999	0.257 <sup>b</sup>	4	2390.0	.905	.000
Hotelling's trace	0.001	0.257	4	2388.0	.905	.000
Roy's largest root	0.001	$0.508^{\circ}$	2	1196.0	.602	.001
Location						
Pillai's trace	0.001	0.438 <sup>b</sup>	2	1195.0	.645	.001
Wilks's lambda	0.999	0.438 <sup>b</sup>	2	1195.0	.645	.001
Hotelling's trace	0.001	0.438 <sup>b</sup>	2	1195.0	.645	.001
Roy's largest root	0.001	0.438 <sup>b</sup>	2	1195.0	.645	.001
Government services						
Pillai's trace	0.870	460.457	4	2392.0	.000	.435
Wilks's lambda	0.130	1,058.488 <sup>b</sup>	4	2390.0	.000	.639
Hotelling's trace	6.680	1,993.840	4	2388.0	.000	.770
Roy's largest root	6.679	3,994.196 <sup>c</sup>	2	1196.0	.000	.870
Sexual Partners × Location		-				
Pillai's trace	0.004	1.285	4	2392.0	.273	.002

Multivariate Tests on Synergistic Analysis of Behavioral, Demographic, and Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 18–24 Years

			d	f		
Effect and test <sup>a</sup>	Value	F	Hypothesis	Error	p	Partial $\eta^2$
	0.996	1.285 <sup>b</sup>	4	2390.0	.273	.002
Wilks's lambda						
Hotelling's trace	0.004	1.285	4	2388.0	.273	.002
Roy's largest root	0.004	2.471 <sup>c</sup>	2	1196.0	.085	.004
Sexual Partners × Government Services						
Pillai's trace	0.001	0.416 <sup>b</sup>	2	1195.0	.660	.001
Wilks's lambda	0.999	0.416 <sup>b</sup>	2	1195.0	.660	.001
Hotelling's trace	0.001	0.416 <sup>b</sup>	2	1195.0	.660	.001
Roy's largest root	0.001	0.416 <sup>b</sup>	2	1195.0	.660	.001
Location × Government Services						
Pillai's trace	0.000	0.039	4	2392.0	.997	.000
Wilks's lambda	1.000	0.038 <sup>b</sup>	4	2390.0	.997	.000
Hotelling's trace	0.000	0.038	4	2388.0	.997	.000
Roy's largest root	0.000	0.077 <sup>c</sup>	2	1196.0	.926	.000
Sexual Partners × Location × Government Services						
Pillai's trace	0.000	b	0	0.0		
Wilks's lambda	1.000	b	0	1195.5		
Hotelling's trace	0.000	b	0	2.0		
Roy's largest root	0.000	0.000 <sup>b</sup>	2	1194.0	1.000	.000

a. Design: Intercept + SEXPARTN + LOCATION + GOVTEST + SEXPARTN \* LOCATION + SEXPARTN \* GOVTEST + LOCATION \* GOVTEST + SEXPARTN \* LOCATION \* GOVTEST

b. Exact statistic

c. The statistic is an upper bound on F that yields a lower bound on the significance level.

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Synergistic Analysis of Behavioral,

Demographic, and Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 18–24 demonstrated no statistically significant association between government services (clinical determinant) and location (demographic determinant) with HIV test result (dependent variable) (see table 21). The research failed to reject the null hypothesis that stated there is no statistically significant synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus of Zambian female adolescents from age 18 to 24 (see table 21).

### Table 21

	Type III sum of					
Source and dependent variable	squares	$d\!f$	Mean square	F	р	Partial $\eta^2$
Corrected model						
HIV test result	34,498.711 <sup>a</sup>	10	3,449.871	1.976	.033	.016
Ever tested HIV	6.957 <sup>b</sup>	10	0.696	840.657	.000	.875
Ever tested AIDS	6.959 <sup>c</sup>	10	0.696			1.000
Intercept						
HIV test result	160,018.881	1	160,018.881	91.663	.000	.071
Ever tested HIV	104.444	1	104.444	126,203.238	.000	.991
Ever tested AIDS	104.376	1	104.376			1.000
Sexual partners						
HIV test result	966.880	2	483.440	0.277	.758	.000
Ever tested HIV	0.000	2	0.000	0.228	.796	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	2	0.000			
Location						
HIV test result	1,286.787	1	1,286.787	0.737	.391	.001
Ever tested HIV	0.000	1	0.000	0.153	.695	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1	0.000			
Government services						
HIV serostatus test	19,569.150	2	9,784.575	5.605	.004	.009
HIV test result	6.590	2	3.295	3,981.198	.000	.869
Ever tested AIDS	6.603	2	3.301			1.000
Sexual Partners × Location						
HIV test result	749.435	2	374.717	0.215	.807	.000
Ever tested HIV	0.004	2	0.002	2.380	.093	.004

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Synergistic Analysis of Behavioral, Demographic, and Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 18–24 Years

	Type III sum of					
Source and dependent variable	squares	df	Mean square	F	р	Partial $\eta^2$
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	2	0.000			
Sexual Partners × Government Services						
HIV test result	400.014	1	400.014	0.229	.632	.000
Ever tested HIV	0.001	1	0.001	0.619	.431	.001
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1	0.000			
Location × Government Services						
HIV test result	268.757	2	134.378	0.077	.926	.000
Ever tested HIV	0.000	2	0.000	0.000	1.000	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	2	0.000			
Sexual Partners × Location × Government Service	es					
HIV test result	0.000	0	_			.000
Ever tested HIV	0.000	0	_			.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	0	_			
Error						
HIV test result	2,087,891.405	1196	1,745.729			
Ever tested HIV	0.990	1196	0.001			
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1196	0.000			
Total						
HIV test result	3,635,110.000	1207				
Ever tested HIV	1,231.000	1207				
Ever tested AIDS	1,228.000	1207				
Corrected total						
HIV test result	2,122,390.116	1206				
Ever tested HIV	7.947	1206				
Ever tested AIDS	6.959	1206				

a. R Squared = .041 (Adjusted R Squared = .023)

b. R Squared = .876 (Adjusted R Squared = .874) c. R Squared = 1.000 (Adjusted R Squared = 1.000)

Table 22 shows the results of multivariate tests on associations between synergistic combinations of the behavioral determinant (condom use) demographic determinant (education), and clinical determinant (clinic services) with the dependent variables. Those tests lacked statistically significant associations between the combined effect of the independent variables and the dependent variables (see table 22).

### Table 222

			df			
Effect and test <sup>a</sup>	Value	F	Hypothesis	Error	p	Partial $\eta^2$
Intercept						
Pillai's trace	0.987	43,460.100 <sup>b</sup>	2	1183	.000	.987
Wilks's lambda	0.013	43,460.100 <sup>b</sup>	2	1183	.000	.987
Hotelling's trace	73.474	43,460.100 <sup>b</sup>	2	1183	.000	.987
Roy's largest root	73.474	43,460.100 <sup>b</sup>	2	1183	.000	.987
Condom use						
Pillai's trace	0.000	0.115	4	2368	.977	.000
Wilks's lambda	1.000	0.115 <sup>b</sup>	4	2366	.977	.000
Hotelling's trace	0.000	0.115	4	2364	.977	.000
Roy's largest root	0.000	0.158 <sup>c</sup>	2	1184	.854	.000
Education						
Pillai's trace	0.008	1.527	6	2368	.165	.004
Wilks's lambda	0.992	1.528 <sup>b</sup>	6	2366	.165	.004
Hotelling's trace	0.008	1.530	6	2364	.164	.004
Roy's largest root	0.008	3.038 <sup>c</sup>	3	1184	.028	.008
Clinic services						
Pillai's trace	0.776	375.283	4	2368	.000	.388
Wilks's lambda	0.224	658.140 <sup>b</sup>	4	2366	.000	.527
Hotelling's trace	3.463	1,023.418	4	2364	.000	.634
Roy's largest root	3.463	2,050.299 <sup>c</sup>	2	1184	.000	.776
Condom Use $\times$ Education						
Pillai's trace	0.003	0.281	12	2368	.992	.001

Multivariate Tests on Synergistic Analysis of Behavioral, Demographic, and Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 18–24 Years

			df			
Effect and test <sup>a</sup>	Value	F	Hypothesis	Error	p	Partial $\eta^2$
Wilks's lambda	0.997	$0.280^{b}$	12	2366	.992	.001
Hotelling's trace	0.003	0.280	12	2364	.992	.001
Roy's largest root	0.002	0.368 <sup>c</sup>	6	1184	.899	.002
Condom Use × Clinic Services						
Pillai's trace	0.001	0.172	4	2368	.953	.000
Wilks's lambda	0.999	$0.172^{b}$	4	2366	.953	.000
Hotelling's trace	0.001	0.172	4	2364	.953	.000
Roy's largest root	0.000	0.257 <sup>c</sup>	2	1184	.774	.000
Education × Clinic Services						
Pillai's trace	0.002	0.347	8	2368	.947	.001
Wilks's lambda	0.998	0.347 <sup>b</sup>	8	2366	.947	.001
Hotelling's trace	0.002	0.347	8	2364	.948	.001
Roy's largest root	0.002	0.446 <sup>c</sup>	4	1184	.775	.002
Condom Use × Education × Clinic Services						
Pillai's trace	0.002	0.476	6	2368	.826	.001
Wilks's lambda	0.998	$0.476^{b}$	6	2366	.826	.001
Hotelling's trace	0.002	0.476	6	2364	.827	.001
Roy's largest root	0.002	0.739 <sup>c</sup>	3	1184	.529	.002

a. Design: Intercept + CONDOUSE + EDUCATION + CLINICTEST + CONDOUSE \* EDUCATION + CONDOUSE \* CLINICTEST + EDUCATION \* CLINICTEST + CONDOUSE \* EDUCATION \* CLINICTEST

b. Exact statistic

c. The statistic is an upper bound on F that yields a lower bound on the significance level.

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Synergistic Association of Behavioral (condom use), Demographic (education), and Clinical (clinic service) Determinants with HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 18–24 was not statistically significant (see table 23).

Table 233

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on	Synergistic Association c	of Behavioral, Dem	ographic, and Clin	ical Determinants of HIV
Serostatus for Zambian Women Ageo	d 18–24 Years			

Source and dependent variable	Type III sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	р	Partial $\eta^2$
Corrected model						
HIV test result	86,213.651ª	22	3,918.802	2.279	.001	.041
Ever tested HIV	6.961 <sup>b</sup>	22	0.316	379.814	.000	.876
Ever tested AIDS	6.959°	22	0.316			1.000
Intercept						
HIV test result	86,864.115	1	86,864.115	50.510	.000	.041
Ever tested HIV	72.287	1	72.287	86,776.980	.000	.987
Ever tested AIDS	72.206	1	72.206			1.000
Condom use						
HIV test result	501.097	2	250.548	0.146	.864	.000
Ever tested HIV	0.000	2	0.000	0.086	.918	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	2	0.000			
Education						
HIV test result	15,671.279	3	5,223.760	3.038	.028	.008
Ever tested HIV	0.000	3	0.000	0.029	.993	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	3	0.000			
Clinic services						
HIV test result	10,211.055	2	5,105.527	2.969	.052	.005
Ever tested HIV	3.402	2	1.701	2,041.941	.000	.775
Ever tested AIDS	3.402	2	1.701			1.000
Condom Use × Education						
HIV test result	2,855.722	6	475.954	0.277	.948	.001
Ever tested HIV	0.001	6	0.000	0.289	.942	.001

Source and dependent variable	Type III sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	р	Partial n <sup>2</sup>
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	6	0.000			
Condom Use × Clinic Services						
HIV test result	494.468	2	247.234	0.144	.866	.000
Ever tested HIV	0.000	2	0.000	0.196	.822	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	2	0.000			
Education × Clinic Services						
HIV test result	2,362.905	4	590.726	0.343	.849	.001
Ever tested HIV	0.001	4	0.000	0.356	.840	.001
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	4	0.000			
Condom Use $\times$ Education $\times$ Clinic Services						
HIV test result	2,398.792	3	799.597	0.465	.707	.001
Ever tested HIV	0.001	3	0.000	0.475	.700	.001
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	3	0.000			
Error						
HIV test result	2,036,176.465	1184	1,719.744			
Ever tested HIV	0.986	1184	0.001			
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1184	0.000			
Total						
HIV test result	3,635,110.000	1207				
Ever tested HIV	1,231.000	1207				
Ever tested AIDS	1,228.000	1207				
Corrected total						
HIV test result	2,122,390.116	1206				
Ever tested HIV	7.947	1206				
Ever tested AIDS	6.959	1206				

a. R Squared = .041 (Adjusted R Squared = .023)
b. R Squared = .876 (Adjusted R Squared = .874)
c. R Squared = 1.000 (Adjusted R Squared = 1.000)

# **Hypothesis Testing 8**

Tables 24, 25, 26, and 27 present MANOVA results to test hypothesis testing 8. Multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was also performed to test hypothesis 8 stated as follows: there is no statistically significant synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and that of the HIV test result of Zambian female adults from age 25 to 49 (see table 24). The researcher failed to accept the null hypothesis.
# Table 244

	Type III sum of					
Source and dependent variable	squares	df	Mean square	F	р	Partial $\eta^2$
Corrected model						
HIV test result	34,498.711 <sup>a</sup>	10	3,449.871	1.976	.033	.016
Ever tested HIV	6.957 <sup>b</sup>	10	0.696	840.657	.000	.875
Ever tested AIDS	6.959 <sup>c</sup>	10	0.696			1.000
Intercept						
HIV test result	160,018.881	1	160,018.881	91.663	.000	.071
Ever tested HIV	104.444	1	104.444	126,203.238	.000	.991
Ever tested AIDS	104.376	1	104.376			1.000
Sexual partners						
HIV test result	966.880	2	483.440	0.277	.758	.000
Ever tested HIV	0.000	2	0.000	0.228	.796	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	2	0.000			
Location						
HIV test result	1,286.787	1	1,286.787	0.737	.391	.001
Ever tested HIV	0.000	1	0.000	0.153	.695	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1	0.000			
Government services						
HIV test result	19,569.150	2	9,784.575	5.605	.004	.009
Ever tested HIV	6.590	2	3.295	3,981.198	.000	.869
Ever tested AIDS	6.603	2	3.301			1.000
Sexual Partners × Location						
HIV test result	749.435	2	374.717	0.215	.807	.000
Ever tested HIV	0.004	2	0.002	2.380	.093	.004

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Synergistic Analysis of Behavioral, Demographic, and Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 25–49

(table continues)

	Type III sum of					
Source and dependent variable	squares	df	Mean square	F	р	Partial $\eta^2$
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	2	0.000			
Sexual Partners × Government Services						
HIV test result	400.014	1	400.014	0.229	.632	.000
Ever tested HIV	0.001	1	0.001	0.619	.431	.001
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1	0.000			
Location × Government Services						
HIV test result	268.757	2	134.378	0.077	.926	.000
Ever tested HIV	0.000	2	0.000	0.000	1.000	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	2	0.000			
Sexual Partners × Location × Government Service	ces					
HIV test result	0.000	0				.000
Ever tested HIV	0.000	0				.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	0				
Error						
HIV test result	2,087,891.405	1196	1,745.729			
Ever tested HIV	0.990	1196	0.001			
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1196	0.000			
Total						
HIV test result	3,635,110.000	1207				
Ever tested HIV	1,231.000	1207				
Ever tested AIDS	1,228.000	1207				
Corrected total						
HIV test result	2,122,390.116	1206				
Ever tested HIV	7.947	1206				
Ever tested AIDS	6.959	1206				

a. R Squared = .016 (Adjusted R Squared = .008)

b. R Squared = .875 (Adjusted R Squared = .874) c. R Squared = 1.000 R Squared = 1.000)

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects indicate no statistically significant association between the Synergistic associations of Behavioral (sexual partners, condom use, HIV self-perceived risk), demographic (education, location, marital status), and Clinical ( use of HIV services GOV, use of HIV services Clinic, use of HIV services NGO) determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian women aged 25–49 (see table 25). Therefore, the researcher failed to accept the null hypothesis stated as: there is no statistically significant synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from age 25 to 49.

# Table 255

Source and dependent variable	Type III sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	р	Partial n <sup>2</sup>
Corrected model						
HIV test result	86,213.651ª	22	3,918.802	2.279	.001	.041
Ever tested HIV	6.961 <sup>b</sup>	22	0.316	379.814	.000	.876
Ever tested AIDS	6.959°	22	0.316			1.000
Intercept						
HIV test result	86,864.115	1	86,864.115	50.510	.000	.041
Ever tested HIV	72.287	1	72.287	86,776.980	.000	.987
Ever tested AIDS	72.206	1	72.206			1.000
Condom use						
HIV test result	501.097	2	250.548	0.146	.864	.000
Ever tested HIV	0.000	2	0.000	0.086	.918	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	2	0.000			_
Education						
HIV test result	15,671.279	3	5,223.760	3.038	.028	.008
Ever tested HIV	0.000	3	0.000	0.029	.993	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	3	0.000			
Clinic services						
HIV test result	10,211.055	2	5,105.527	2.969	.052	.005
Ever tested HIV	3.402	2	1.701	2,041.941	.000	.775
Ever tested AIDS	3.402	2	1.701			1.000
Condom Use $\times$ Education						
HIV test result	2,855.722	6	475.954	0.277	.948	.001
Ever tested HIV	0.001	6	0.000	0.289	.942	.001
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	6	0.000			

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects on Synergistic Association of Behavioral, Demographic, and Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 25–49 Years

(table continues)

Source and dependent variable	Type III sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	р	Partial $\eta^2$
Condom Use × Clinic Services			•		-	
HIV test result	494.468	2	247.234	0.144	.866	.000
Ever tested HIV	0.000	2	0.000	0.196	.822	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	2	0.000			
Education × Clinic Services						
HIV test result	2,362.905	4	590.726	0.343	.849	.001
Ever tested HIV	0.001	4	0.000	0.356	.840	.001
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	4	0.000			
Condom Use $\times$ Education $\times$ Clinic Services						
HIV test result	2,398.792	3	799.597	0.465	.707	.001
Ever tested HIV	0.001	3	0.000	0.475	.700	.001
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	3	0.000			
Error						
HIV test result	2,036,176.465	1184	1,719.744			
Ever tested HIV	0.986	1184	0.001			
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1184	0.000			
Total						
HIV test result	3,635,110.000	1207				
Ever tested HIV	1,231.000	1207				
Ever tested AIDS	1,228.000	1207				
Corrected total						
HIV test result	2,122,390.116	1206				
Ever tested HIV	7.947	1206				
Ever tested AIDS	6.959	1206				

a. R Squared = .041 (Adjusted R Squared = .023)

b. R Squared = .876 (Adjusted R Squared = .874)

c. R Squared = 1.000 (Adjusted R Squared = 1.000)

Table 26 indicates that there were no statistically significant associations between the synergistic combination of the behavioral, demographic, and clinical variables selfperceived HIV risk, marital status, and NGO services and the dependent variables for Zambian women aged 25–49 years. The researcher failed to reject the null hypothesis, stated as: there is no statistically significant synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from age 25 to 49. Table 26

Zambian women Agea 23–49 Tears						
			df	C		
Effect and test <sup>a</sup>	Value	F	Hypothesis	Error	р	Partial $\eta^2$
Intercept						
Pillai's trace	0.987	43575.177 <sup>b</sup>	2	1183	.000	.987
Wilks's lambda	0.013	43575.177 <sup>b</sup>	2	1183	.000	.987
Hotelling's trace	73.669	43575.177 <sup>b</sup>	2	1183	.000	.987
Roy's largest root	73.669	43575.177 <sup>b</sup>	2	1183	.000	.987
Self-perceived HIV risk						
Pillai's trace	0.011	1.292	10	2368	.229	.005
Wilks's lambda	0.989	1.294 <sup>b</sup>	10	2366	.228	.005
Hotelling's trace	0.011	1.297	10	2364	.226	.005
Roy's largest root	0.011	2.597°	5	1184	.024	.011
Marital status						
Pillai's trace	0.000	0.051	6	2368	.999	.000
Wilks's lambda	1.000	0.051 <sup>b</sup>	6	2366	.999	.000
Hotelling's trace	0.000	0.051	6	2364	.999	.000
Roy's largest root	0.000	0.102 <sup>c</sup>	3	1184	.959	.000
NGO Services						
Pillai's trace	0.001	0.552 <sup>b</sup>	2	1183	.576	.001
Wilks's lambda	0.999	0.552 <sup>b</sup>	2	1183	.576	.001
Hotelling's trace	0.001	0.552 <sup>b</sup>	2	1183	.576	.001
Roy's largest root	0.001	0.552 <sup>b</sup>	2	1183	.576	.001
Self-Perceived HIV Risk × Marital Status						
Pillai's trace	0.008	0.329	28	2368	1.000	.004
Wilks's lambda	0.992	0.329 <sup>b</sup>	28	2366	1.000	.004

Multivariate Tests on Synergistic Association of Behavioral, Demographic, and Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 25–49 Years

(table continues)

			df	n		
Effect and test <sup>a</sup>	Value	F	Hypothesis	Error	p	Partial $\eta^2$
Hotelling's trace	0.008	0.329	28	2364	1.000	.004
Roy's largest root	0.008	0.657 <sup>c</sup>	14	1184	.817	.008
Self-Perceived HIV Risk × NGO Services						
Pillai's trace	0.002	0.186	10	2368	.997	.001
Wilks's lambda	0.998	0.186 <sup>b</sup>	10	2366	.997	.001
Hotelling's trace	0.002	0.186	10	2364	.997	.001
Roy's largest root	0.002	0.370 <sup>c</sup>	5	1184	.869	.002
Marital Status × NGO Services						
Pillai's trace	0.002	0.333	6	2368	.920	.001
Wilks's lambda	0.998	0.333 <sup>b</sup>	6	2366	.920	.001
Hotelling's trace	0.002	0.333	6	2364	.920	.001
Roy's largest root	0.002	0.665 <sup>c</sup>	3	1184	.574	.002
Self-Perceived HIV Risk × Marital Status × NGO Services						
Pillai's trace	0.002	0.264	10	2368	.989	.001
Wilks's lambda	0.998	0.264 <sup>b</sup>	10	2366	.989	.001
Hotelling's trace	0.002	0.264	10	2364	.989	.001
Roy's largest root	0.002	0.527 <sup>c</sup>	5	1184	.756	.002

Note. NGO = nongovernmental organization. a. Design: Intercept + CONDOUSE + EDUCATION + CLINICTEST + CONDOUSE \* EDUCATION + CONDOUSE \*

CLINICTEST + EDUCATION \* CLINICTEST + CONDOUSE \* EDUCATION \* CLINICTEST

b. Exact statistic

c. The statistic is an upper bound on F that yields a lower bound on the significance level.

Tests between Subjects Effects indicate no statistically significant synergistic associations between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants with HIV serostatus for Zambian women aged 25–49 years (see table 27). I failed to reject the null hypothesis, stated as: there is no statistically significant synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and that of HIV serostatus of Zambian female adults from age 25 to 49.

Table 27

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects for Synergistic Association of Behavioral, Demographic, and Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus for Zambian Women Aged 25-49 Years

¥X	Type III sum					
Source and dependent variable	of squares	df	Mean square	F	р	Partial $\eta^2$
Corrected model						
HIV test result	150,999.243 <sup>a</sup>	38	3,973.664	2.357	.000	.070
Ever tested HIV	6.950 <sup>b</sup>	38	0.183	217.110	.000	.874
Ever tested AIDS	6.960 <sup>c</sup>	38	0.183			1.000
Intercept						
HIV test result	69,307.004	1	69,307.004	41.114	.000	.034
Ever tested HIV	73.285	1	73.285	86991.580	.000	.987
Ever tested AIDS	73.280	1	73.280			1.000
Self-perceived HIV risk						
HIV test result	21,857.469	5	4,371.494	2.593	.024	.011
Ever tested HIV	0.000	5	0.000	0.001	1.000	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	5	0.000			
Marital status						
HIV test result	514.632	3	171.544	0.102	.959	.000
Ever tested HIV	0.000	3	0.000	0.000	1.000	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	3	0.000			
NGO Services						
HIV test result	1,860.719	1	1,860.719	1.104	.294	.001
Ever tested HIV	0.000	1	0.000	0.000	.991	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1	0.000			
Self-Perceived HIV Risk × Marital Status						
HIV test result	15,497.342	14	1,106.953	0.657	.818	.008
Ever tested HIV	0.000	14	0.000	0.003	1.000	.000

(table continues)

	Type III sum					
Source and dependent variable	of squares	df	Mean square	F	р	Partial $\eta^2$
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	14	0.000			
Self-Perceived HIV Risk × NGO Services						
HIV test result	3,121.318	5	624.264	0.370	.869	.002
Ever tested HIV	0.000	5	0.000	0.002	1.000	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	5	0.000			
Marital Status × NGO Services						
HIV test result	3,358.103	3	1,119.368	0.664	.574	.002
Ever tested HIV	0.000	3	0.000	0.002	1.000	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	3	0.000			
Self-Perceived HIV Risk × Marital Status × NGO Services						
HIV test result	4,404.772	5	880.954	0.523	.759	.002
Ever tested HIV	0.000	5	0.000	0.004	1.000	.000
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	5	0.000			
Error						
HIV test result	1,995,883.167	1184	1,685.712			
Ever tested HIV	0.997	1184	0.001			
Ever tested AIDS	0.000	1184	0.000			
Total						
HIV test result	3,666,131.000	1223				
Ever tested HIV	1247.000	1223				
Ever tested AIDS	1244.000	1223				
Corrected total						
HIV test result	2,146,882.410	1222				
Ever tested HIV	7.948	1222				
Ever tested AIDS	6.960	1222				

Note. NGO = nongovernmental organization a. R Squared = .041 (Adjusted R Squared = .023) b. R Squared = .876 (Adjusted R Squared = .874) c. R Squared = 1.000 (Adjusted R Squared = 1.000)

#### Summary

This section summarizes the results of the MANOVA for each research question. Research Question 1

The results showed a statistically significant association between HIV serostatus and the sexual partners' behavioral determinant for Zambian women aged 18–24. They also showed no significant association between HIV serostatus and the other two behavioral determinants (condom use and self-perceived HIV risk).

**Research Question 2** 

The results for women aged 25–49 years showed a significant association between HIV serostatus and self-perceived HIV risk and no association between HIV serostatus and the other behavioral determinants (sexual partners and condom use). Research Question 3

The results showed a statistically significant association between education and HIV serostatus among Zambian women aged 18–24 years. Unlike in previous studies, I found no statistically significant differences for the demographic variables' location and marital status or pairwise interactions of location and marital status, location and education, or marital status and education.

**Research Question 4** 

The results also indicated a statistically significant association between education and HIV serostatus among Zambian women aged 25–49 years. As with the results of Research Question 3, I found no statistically significant differences for the demographic variables location and marital status or pairwise interactions of location and marital status, location and education, or marital status and education.

**Research Question 5** 

MANOVA pairwise comparisons of clinical determinants indicated statistically significant variations among HIV services. Aggregate use of HIV services was associated with HIV serostatus for Zambian women aged 18–24 years. However, the use of government HIV services, clinic services, and NGO services were not individually associated with HIV serostatus among this age group.

**Research Question 6** 

The results for women aged 25–49 were similar to those for women aged 18–24 concerning the use of HIV services. There was a statistical association between aggregate use of services and HIV serostatus, but there were no associations between the use of government services, clinic services, or NGO services individually and HIV serostatus. Research Question 7

Multivariate tests indicate no statistically significant synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants of HIV serostatus for adolescent (18 -24 ) Zambian women.

**Research Question 8** 

Multivariate tests show no statistically significant outcomes for the synergistic associations between behavioral and demographic determinants with HIV serostatus for Zambian women aged 25–49 years.

Chapter 5 presents detailed discussions, conclusions, and recommendations

based on the results regarding associations between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and HIV serostatus for Zambian women.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

### Introduction

The purpose of the study was to determine the association between the demographic, behavioral, and clinical determinants and HIV serostatus in Zambian adolescents (aged 18–24 years) and adult (aged 25–49 years) women. I tested the hypotheses in the study using MANOVA.

# **Interpretation of the Findings**

The findings of this study converged with those of existing studies in some ways and diverged from them in other ways.

# **Behavioral Determinants of HIV Serostatus**

For both women aged 18–24 years and women aged 25–49 years, there was a significant association between HIV serostatus and self-perceived HIV risk but not sexual partners or condom use. This finding is partly consistent with Adeniyi et al. (2017), who also examined behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and HIV serostatus. However, Adeniyi et al. (2017) studied only one HIV serostatus variable compared to this study's three serostatus variables. They also found a significant association of sexual behavior and the use of clinical services with HIV serostatus disclosure.

The findings indicate a link between the HIV test result variable and selfperceived HIV risk for women aged 18–24 years. There was a strong association between the perception of no risk or small risk and HIV serostatus. Toska et al. (2017) reported the presence of a direct association between HIV acquisition of adolescent women (aged 18–24 years) and having multiple sexual partners, although the finding was inconclusive. That finding was in harmony with a secondary analysis of a cross-sectional study conducted in Uganda, which indicated an association between self-perceived HIV risk and incidence of HIV infection among women of all ages. This study elucidates the impact of self-perceived HIV risk. It suggests a prevention strategy for Zambian women and also probably women in similar settings and socioeconomic statuses in other parts of sub-Saharan Africa. Rosenberg et al. (2017), reporting on a population-based study, said that the spread of HIV had accelerated in older adults in South Africa and recommended the commencement of prevention activities for analogous communities in sub-Saharan African countries.

#### **Demographic Determinants of HIV Serostatus**

The findings indicated a statistically significant association between education and HIV serostatus among women in both age groups. However, unlike previous studies, there were no statistically significant differences for the demographic variables of location and marital status and pairwise interactions of location and marital status, location and education, and marital status and education. Omonaiye, Kusljic, Nicholson, and Manias (2018), Pinchoff, Boyer, Mutombo, Chowdhuri, and Ngo (2017), and Okawa et al. (2018) reported that age and education were critical to determining HIV serostatus for adolescent and adult women at individual and societal levels.

Lack of associations between HIV serostatus and age (adolescent versus adult) and location (urban versus rural) also contrasted with the findings of authors who stated strong and significant associations between HIV serostatus and age, gender, and location (Chanda-Kapata et al., 2016; McCarraher et al., 2018). Mee et al. (2018) found that being in school increased students' awareness of HIV and the practice of preventive measures and eventually contributed to the diminishing of the spread of HIV infection.

Other researchers failed to find an association between education and the use of HIV services (Sabapathy et al., 2018). Bunyasi and Coetzee (2017) suggested a direct association between accomplishment in education and the reduction of HIV prevalence. It is possible that the main reason for the association between lower incidence of HIV and higher educational achievement is the ability of educated people to implement safer sexual practices and abstain from sexual activity. Increased health literacy and academic progress could empower educated people to make informed decisions and take responsibility for themselves and their communities.

### **Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus**

The findings indicated a significant association between aggregate use of HIV services and HIV serostatus for women in both age groups. This result neither confirmed nor refuted the findings reported by authors of systematic reviews, who implied that it was essential to conduct further studies to maximize prevention through the use of HIV medications (Mark et al., 2017; Williams, Renju, Ghilardi, & Wringe, 2017). However, there were no significant associations between HIV serostatus and the use of government services, clinic services, and NGO services considered individually. This finding agreed with the results of Mustapha, Musiime, Bakeera-Kitaka, Rujumba, and Nabukeera-Barungi (2018) regarding the use of HIV services by women in Uganda. Those authors stated that HIV services for women were substandard in one sub-Saharan country, Uganda. Mustapha et al. (2018) reported that women received motivation to use services

from knowing HIV status and demotivation to use services from not knowing HIV serostatus, discrimination, and economic constraints.

Authors of systematic studies described the benefits of team-based HIV service access for triggering improved HIV prevention in sub-Saharan African countries. Reviewers of quantitative and qualitative studies explicitly described associations between HIV serostatus and the use of team-based services versus institutionalized HIV services—government, clinic, and NGO (Mukumbang, Van Belle, Marchal, & Wyk, 2017). The availability of HIV services in HIV-prone sub-Saharan African countries could be positive indicators of the containment of HIV spread and the deterrence of new infection. The use of HIV services in communities has the same level of importance. Along with HIV services, the implementation of precise HIV diagnostic tests to minimize false test outcomes is critical in sub-Saharan African countries (Kravitz et al., 2018).

#### Demographic, Behavioral, and Clinical Determinants of HIV Serostatus

Multivariate tests indicated no significant association between the synergistic association of Demographic, Behavioral, and Clinical Determinants with HIV Serostatus for Zambian women aged 18–24. Likewise, there was no significant association between the synergistic association of Demographic, Behavioral, and Clinical Determinants with HIV Serostatus for Zambian women aged 25 to 49. The community strategy outlined by health professionals, policymakers, and other entities involved in HIV prevention should be a collective drive to manage HIV epidemics in sub-Saharan Africa (Bibiana, Emmanuel, Amos, Ramsey, & Idris, 2018). The finding regarding the synergistic association between behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants with HIV serostatus could not address the recommendation by Kharsany and Karim (2016) for a study of behavioral determinants and the HIV literacy (education) gap with respect to HIV serostatus cognizance at the community level.

#### The linkage between the Findings and the Conceptual Framework

The World Health Organization's Commission for Social Determinants of Health formed the conceptual framework used for this study. The commission addresses intrinsic disparities in HIV health between sub-Saharan Africa and the rest of the world. The framework emphasizes the complexity of behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants and their role in HIV epidemics in this part of the globe. The study findings agreed with the strong associations of self-perceived HIV risk and educational attainment with HIV serostatus included in the framework. Other authors emphasized the impacts of health and academic literacy, race, age, and unsafe sexual practices on the acceleration of HIV infection (Araújo & Duarte, 2018).

#### Limitations of the Study

This study had certain limitations. The exclusion of those aged younger than 18 years and older than 49 years, prisoners, and military personnel was one of the limitations. Because resource constraints dictated that the ZDHS surveyed only two provinces, the other eight provinces were excluded from data collection. The complete absence of men could be a significant limitation. Another limitation was that the study was cross-sectional rather than longitudinal. It lacked the benefits of conducting longitudinal research, including the ability to identify temporal effects and associated changes in the dynamics of sexual behaviors, demographic shifts, and capacity and

acceptability of HIV prevention services. The last limitation was the age of the data from the ZDHS. The laps of 10 years since the data were collected means that the data may not reflect the current situation. However, I could overcome this to some extent by extrapolating the findings through the lens of other consistent HIV research findings in sub-Saharan Africa. Generalization of the findings beyond the specific setting to other similar settings appears reasonable.

#### Recommendations

The recommendations in this section apply to Zambian women and women living in similar settings throughout sub-Saharan Africa. The consequences and risks of HIV prevail in older women. Future researchers can improve the robustness of their findings by including older women. Including this age group in HIV prevention efforts and will assist in significantly diminishing HIV in sub-Saharan Africa. According to Maughan-Brown and Venkataramani (2018), the high prevalence of HIV in South Africa was due to risky sexual behaviors among older women. National and international collaboration are pivotal to lessen the spread of HIV throughout the world because HIV is a public health threat in every country. A unified approach to HIV prevention and control would have collateral health benefits when supported with measurable goals and comprehensive strategies (Baron et al., 2018; Jones, Sullivan, & Curran, 2019).

#### Implications

The dynamics of sexual behaviors and their associations with HIV serostatus indicate their impact on HIV prevalence, incidence, and epidemics in sub-Saharan Africa. One of the focuses was the paramount importance of the consolidation of leadership to mobilize communities for harmonized HIV response (Fakoya, Dybul, & Sands, 2019). In conjunction with the findings on the associations of behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants with HIV serostatus for Zambian women aged 18–49, the inclusion of female participants younger than 18 years and older than 49 years would yield more holistic findings that could be applied to fighting HIV (Rosenberg et al., 2017).

# Conclusion

The findings regarding the associations of behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants with HIV serostatus can be used to project risk, inform prevention efforts, and initiate longitudinal research. These findings suggest that self-perceived HIV risk, education, and type of HIV services are reliable indicators of HIV serostatus. The only difference between adolescent and adult Zambian women found was the synergistic association between HIV serostatus and behavioral, demographic, and clinical determinants, with a statistically significant association with the use of clinic services for women aged 25–49 and an association with the use of government services for women aged 18–24.

Effective HIV prevention and control in sub-Saharan countries should focus on developing awareness using educational advancement as a tool, recognizing HIV risks through health literacy, and addressing social determinants of HIV health. These findings complement growing evidence indicating the benefits of collaborative HIV prevention efforts that involve HIV researchers and health professionals at both the local and international levels. The willingness of policymakers and government officials to allocate resources and collaborate is a step toward the eradication of HIV, a goal that can only be reached with leadership from all entities and professionals related to HIV.

# References

- Acharya, X., Rice, B. D., Mee, P., Fearon, E., Hargreaves, J. R., Hassan, S., & Hensen,
  B. (2018). The association between being currently in school and human immunodeficiency virus prevalence among young women in nine eastern and southern African countries. *Plos ONE*, *13*(6), 1-12. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0198898
- Adamson, C. S., & Freed, E. O. (2010). Novel approaches to inhibiting human immunodeficiency virus-1 replication. *Antiviral Research*, 85(1), 119-141. doi:10.1016/j.antiviral.2009.09.009
- Adamson, P. C., Tafuma, T. A., Davis, S. M., Xaba, S., & Herman-Roloff, A. (2017). A systems-based assessment of the PrePex device adverse events active surveillance system in Zimbabwe. *Plos ONE*, *12*(12), 1-12. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0190055
- Adeniyi, O. V., Ajayi, A. I., Selanto-Chairman, N., Goon, D. T., Boon, G., & Fuentes, Y.
  O. (2017). Demographic, clinical and behavioural determinants of human immunodeficiency virus serostatus non-disclosure to sex partners among human immunodeficiency virus-infected pregnant women in the Eastern Cape, South Africa. *PLOS One*, *12*(8), 1–15. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0181730
- Agbor, I. E., Etokidem, A., & Ugwa, E. (2017). Factors responsible for disclosure of human immunodeficiency virus seropositivity among residents of Cross River State, Nigeria. *Indian Journal of Community Medicine*, 42(3), 138–142. doi:10.4103/ijcm.IJCMpass

Akinyemi, J., Adesina, O. A., Kuti, M., Ogunbosi, B., Irabor, A. E., Odaibo, G. N., &

Adewole, I. F. (2015). Temporal distribution of baseline characteristics and association with early mortality among human immunodeficiency virus-positive patients at University College Hospital, Ibadan, Nigeria. *African Journal of AIDS Research (AJAR)*, *14*(3), 201-207. doi:10.2989/16085906.2015.1052526

- Akinyemi, Y. C. (2016). Spatio-temporal pattern and gender disparity of HIV/AIDS prevalence in Nigeria. *International Social Science Journal*, 66(221/222), 303-322. doi:10.1111/issj.12135
- Alvarez-Tostado, P., Inozemtseva, O., Aguiñiga, M. A., López, E., & Matute, E. (2016).
  The relationship between cognitive reserve and the clinical stage of human immunodeficiency virus infection. *AIDS Care*, 28(5), 633-638.
  doi:10.1080/09540121.2015.1124985
- Amoyaw, J. A., Kuuire, V. Z., Boateng, G. O., Asare-Bediako, Y., & Ung, M. (2015).
  Conundrum of sexual decision making in marital relationships: Safer-Sex
  knowledge, behavior, and attitudes of married women in Zambia. *Journal of Sex Research*, 52(8), 868–877. doi: 10.1080/00224499.2014.996280
- Andersen, R. J., Ntie-Kang, F., & Tietjen, I. (2018). Natural product-derived compounds in HIV suppression, remission, and eradication strategies. *Antiviral Research*, 15863-77. doi: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2018.07.016
- Anderson, S., Ghys, P. D., Ombam, R., & Hallett, T. B. (2017). HIV prevention where it is needed most: comparison of strategies for the geographical allocation of interventions. *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, 20(4), 1–N.PAG. doi:10.1002/jia2.25020

- Anto, E. O., Obirikorang, C., Acheampong, E., Amankwaa, B., Afranie, B. O., Donkor, S., Osaah, E. (2018). Evaluation of individual and combined markers of urine dipstick parameters and total lymphocyte count as a substitute for CD4 (CD4) count in low-resource communities in Ghana. *Disease Markers*, 1–7. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1155/2018/7485942
- Araújo Maranhão, T., & Duarte Pereira, M. L. (2018). Social determination of HIV/Aids: Integrative review. *Revista Baiana de Enfermagem*, 32, 1–15. doi:10.18471/rbe.v32.20636
- Asiimwe, S. B., Kanyesigye, M., Bwana, B., Okello, S., & Muyindike, W. (2016).
  Predictors of dropout from care among human immunodeficiency virus-infected patients initiating antiretroviral therapy at a public sector HIV treatment clinic in sub-Saharan Africa. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, *16*, 1–10.
  https://doi:10.1186/s12879-016-1392-7
- Awad, S. F., Sgaier, S. K., Tambatamba, B. C., Mohamoud, Y. A., Lau, F. K., Reed, J. B., & Abu-Raddad, L. J. (2015). Investigating voluntary medical male circumcision program efficiency gains through subpopulation prioritization: Insights from application to Zambia. *Plos ONE*, *10*(12), 1-25. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0145729
- Áy, É., Hunyadi, A., Mezei, M., Minárovits, J., & Hohmann, J. (2019). Flavonol 7-O-Glucoside Herbacitrin inhibits HIV-1 replication through simultaneous integrase and reverse transcriptase inhibition. *Evidence-Based Complementary & Alternative Medicine (ECAM)*, 1–6. Doi:10.1155/2019/1064793

Babbie, E. (2017). Basics of social research (7th ed.). Boston, MA: Cengage Learning.

- Bankole, A. (2017). Survey of HIV Status and Fertility Preferences in Sub-Saharan Africa, 2009-2010. Ann Arbor, MI: Inter-university Consortium for Political and Social Research [distributor], 2017-04-10. doi.org/10.3886/ICPSR36718.v2
- Baron, D., Essien, T., Pato, S., Magongo, M., Mbandazayo, N., Scorgie, F., & Delany-Moretlwe, S. (2018). Collateral benefits: How the practical application of good participatory practice can strengthen human immunodeficiency virus research in sub-Saharan Africa. *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, 21, e25175. doi.org/10.1002/jia2.25175
- Bashiri, K., Rezaei, N., Nasi, M., & Cossarizza, A. (2018). The role of latency reversal agents in the cure of HIV: A review of current data. *Immunology Letters*, 196135-139. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2018.02.004

Bayati, M., Feyzabadi, V. Y., & Rashidian, A. (2017). Geographical disparities in the health of Iranian women: Health outcomes, behaviors, and health-care access indicators. *International Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 1-9. doi: 10.4103/ijpvm.IJPVM\_67\_16

- Bazzi, A. R., Leech, A. A., Biancarelli, D. L., Sullivan, M., & Drainoni, M. L. (2017).
  Experiences using pre-exposure prophylaxis for safer conception among human immunodeficiency virus serodiscordant heterosexual couples in the United States. *AIDS Patient Care & STDs*, *31*(8), 348–355. Doi:10.1089/apc.2017.0098
- Beltrami, J., Dubose, O., Carson, R., & Cleveland, J. C. (2018). Using human immunodeficiency virus surveillance data to link people to HIV medical care, 5

US States, 2012-2015. *Public Health Reports*, *133*(4), 385-391. doi:10.1177/0033354918772057

- Bibiana, N. E., Emmanuel, P. O., Amos, D., Ramsey, Y. M. & Idris, A. N. (2018).
  Knowledge, attitude and factors affecting voluntary HIV counseling and testing services among women of reproductive age group in an Abuja Suburb community, Nigeria. *Medical Journal of Zambia*, 45(1), 13–22.
- Bobbitt, K. R., Peters, R. M., Li, J., Rao, S. D., Woodcroft, K. J., & Cassidy-Bushrow, A.
  E. (2015). Early pregnancy vitamin D and patterns of antenatal inflammation in
  African–American women. *Journal of Reproductive Immunology*, *107*52-58. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2014.09.054
- Bock, P., Phiri, C., Piwowar-Manning, E., Kosloff, B., Mandla, N., Young, A., & Ayles,
  H. (2017). Understanding low sensitivity of community-based human
  immunodeficiency virus rapid testing: experiences from the HPTN 071 (PopART)
  trial in Zambia and South Africa. *Journal of the International AIDS Society,*20(6), n/a. doi:10.7448/IAS.20.7.21780
- Borkotoky, K., & Unisa, S. (2014). Indicators to examine quality of large-scale survey data: an example through district level household and facility survey. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(3), 1–11. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0090113
- Bradley, E. L., Vidot, D. C., Gaul, Z., Sutton, M. Y., & Pereyra, M. (2018). Acceptability of oral rapid human immunodeficiency virus testing at dental clinics in communities with high HIV prevalence in South Florida. *PloS one*, *13*(4), e0196323.

- Bunluepuech, K., Tewtrakul, S., & WattanapiromsakuL, C. (2016). Anti-human immunodeficiency virus -1 Protease Activity of Compounds from Cassia garrettiana. Walailak Journal of Science & Technology, 13(10), 827–835.
- Bunyasi, E. W., & Coetzee, D. J. (2017). Relationship between socioeconomic status and human immunodeficiency virus infection: Findings from a survey in the Free State and Western Cape Provinces of South Africa. *BMJ Open*, *7*, e016232. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016232
- Burman, C. J., Aphane, M., & Delobelle, P. (2015). Reducing the overall human immunodeficiency virus -burden in South Africa: is 'reviving ABC' an appropriate fit for a complex, adaptive epidemiological human immunodeficiency virus landscape? *African Journal of AIDS Research (AJAR)*, *14*(1), 13-28. doi:10.2989/16085906.2015.1016988
- Buthelezi, U. E., Davidson, C. L., & Kharsany, A. B. (2016). Strengthening human immunodeficiency virus surveillance: measurements to track the epidemic in real time. *African Journal of AIDS Research* (AJAR), 15(2), 89-98. doi:10.2989/16085906.2016.1196223
- Butts, S. A., Kayukwa, A., Langlie, J., Rodriguez, V. J., Alcaide, M. L., Chitalu, N., & Jones, D. L. (2018). Human immunodeficiency virus knowledge and risk among Zambian adolescent and younger adolescent girls: challenges and solutions. *Sex Education*, *18*(1), 1-13. doi:10.1080/14681811.2017.1370368
- Camlin, C. S., Akullian, A., Neilands, T. B., Getahun, M., Eyul, P., Maeri, I., & Charlebois, E. D. (2018). Population mobility associated with higher risk sexual

behavior in eastern African communities participating in a universal testing and treatment trial. *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, 211. doi:10.1002/jia2.25115

- Campain, N., Parnham, A., Spasojevic, N., Reeves, F., Venn, S., & Biyani, C. (2017).
  Use of a simulated model to teach male adult circumcision in Sub-Saharan Africa. *World Journal of Surgery*, 41(1), 10–13. doi:10.1007/s00268-016-3681-0
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2015). About HIV/AIDS. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/
- Chanda, M. M., Ortblad, K. F., Mwale, M., Chongo, S., Kanchele, C., Kamungoma, N., & Oldenburg, C. E. (2017). Human immunodeficiency virus self-testing among female sex workers in Zambia: a cluster randomized controlled trial. *Plos Medicine*, *14*(11), 1-19. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002442
- Chanda-Kapata, P., Kapata, N., Klinkenberg, E., William, N., Mazyanga, L., Musukwa, K., & Mwaba, P. (2016). The adult prevalence of human immunodeficiency virus in Zambia: Results from a population-based mobile testing survey conducted in 2013–2014. *Active Immunodeficiency Syndrome Research & Therapy*, VV, 131–139. doi:10.1186/si2981-015-0088-1
- Chanda-Kapata, P., Klinkenberg, E., Maddox, N., Ngosa, W., & Kapata, N. (2016). The prevalence and socioeconomic determinants of HIV among teenagers aged 15–18 years who were participating in a mobile testing population-based survey in 2013–2014 in Zambia. *BMC Public Health*, *16*(1), 1–7. doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3449-3

- Chen, W., Zhou, F., Hall, B. J., Tucker, J. D., Latkin, C., Renzaho, A. N., & Ling, L.
  (2017). Is there a relationship between geographic distance and uptake of HIV testing services? A representative population-based study of Chinese adults in Guangzhou, China. *Plos ONE*, *12*(7), 1-15. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0180801
- Cheng, H. G., & Phillips, M. R. (2014). Secondary analysis of existing data:
  opportunities and implementation. *Shanghai Archives of Psychiatry*, 26(6), 371-5.
  doi: 10.11919/j.issn.1002-0829.214171
- Chupradit, K., Moonmuang, S., Nangola, S., Kitidee, K., Yasamut, U., Mougel, M., & Tayapiwatana, C. (2017). Current peptide and protein candidates challenging human immunodeficiency virus therapy beyond the vaccine Era. *Viruses (1999-4915)*, 9(10), 1-14. doi:10.3390/v9100281
- Church, K., Machiyama, K., Todd, J., Njamwea, B., Mwangome, M., Hosegood, V., & Wringe, A. (2017). Identifying gaps in HIV service delivery across the diagnosis-to-treatment cascade: findings from health facility surveys in six sub-Saharan countries. *Journal of the International Active Immunodeficiency Syndrome Society*, 201-14. doi:10.7448/IAS.20.1.21188
- Coelho, L., Cardoso, S. W., Luz, P. M., Hoffman, R. M., Mendonça, L., Veloso, V. G., & Lake, J. E. (2015). Vitamin D3 supplementation in human immunodeficiency virus infection: effectiveness and associations with antiretroviral therapy.
   *Nutrition Journal*, *14*(1), 1-9. doi:10.1186/s12937-015-0072-6
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- De Luca, A., & Zazzi, M. (2015, July). Interplay between transmitted and acquired human immunodeficiency virus type 1 drug resistance: Reasons for a disconnect. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, pp. 5-7. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiv008. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiv008
- De Medeiros, R. M., Valverde-Villegas, J. M., Junqueira, D. M., Gräf, T., Lindenau, J. D., de Mello, M. G., & Chies, J. B. (2016). Rapid and slow progressors show increased IL-6 and IL-10 levels in the pre-active immunodeficiency syndrome stage of human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Plos ONE*, *11*(5), 1-12. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0156163
- Delaugerre, C., Antoni, G., Mahjoub, N., Pialoux, G., Cua, E., Pasquet, A., & Ipergay study, G. (2017). Assessment of HIV screening tests for use in preexposure prophylaxis programs. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 216(3), 382-386. doi:10.1093/infdis/jix297
- Devadas, K., Biswas, S., Ragupathy, V., Lee, S., Dayton, A., & Hewlett, I. (2018).
  Modulation of HIV replication in monocyte-derived macrophages (MDM) by steroid hormones. *Plos ONE*, *13*(1), 1-19. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0191916
- DiStefano, A. S., & Takeda, M. (2017). HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis and postexposure prophylaxis in Japan: context of use and directions for future research and action. *AIDS Patient Care & Stds*, *31*(2), 60-77. doi:10.1089/apc.2016.0160
- Doherty, I. A., Myers, B., Zule, W. A., Minnis, A. M., Kline, T. L., Parry, C. D., &Wechsberg, W. M. (2016). Seek, test and disclose: knowledge of humanimmunodeficiency virus testing and serostatus among high-risk couples in a South

African township. *Sexually Transmitted Infections*, 92(1), 5-11. doi:10.1136/sextrans-2014-051882

- Dube, B. N. R., Marshall, T. P., Ryan, R. P., & Omonijo, M. (2018). Predictors of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection in primary care among adults living in developed countries: a systematic review. *Systematic reviews*, 7(1), 82. doi:10.1186/s13643-018-0744-3
- Dubé, K., Luter, S., Lesnar, B., Newton, L., Galea, J., Brown, B., & Gianella, S. (2018).
  Use of 'eradication' in human immunodeficiency virus cure-related research: a public health debate. *BMC Public Health*, *18*245. doi:10.1186/s12889-018-5141-2
- Eggers, S. M., Mathews, C., Aarø, L. E., McClinton-Appollis, T., Bos, A. E. R., & de Vries, H. (2017). Predicting primary and secondary abstinence among adolescent boys and girls in the Western Cape, South Africa. *Active Immunodeficiency Syndrome and Behavior*, 21(5), 1417–1428. Doi:10.1007/s10461-016-1438-2
- Evans, W., Kadirov, K., Thior, I., Ganesan, R., Ulasevich, A., & Deperthes, B. (2019).
  Willingness to pay for condoms among men in Sub-Saharan Africa. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *16*(1), 34.
  doi:10.3390/ijerph16010034
- Fakoya, A. O., Dybul, M. R., & Sands, P. (2019). Getting local: Focusing on communities to achieve greater impact in the next phase of the HIV response. *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, 22(7), PP–PP. doi: 10.1002/jia2.25366
- Fransen, K., de Baetselier, I., Rammutla, E., Ahmed, K., Owino, F., Agingu, W., Crucitti,T. (2017). Performance of serological and molecular tests within acute human

immunodeficiency virus infection. *Journal of Clinical Virology*, 93, 81–84. https://doi:10.1016/j.jcv.2017.03.010

- Freeman, A., Newman, J., Hemingway-Foday, J., Iriondo-Perez, J., Stolka, K., Akam, W., & Atibu, J. (2012). Comparison of HIV-positive women with children and without children accessing HIV care and treatment in the IeDEA Central Africa cohort. *Active Immunodeficiency Syndrome Care*, 24(6), 673-679. doi:10.1080/09540121.2011.630364
- Friis, R. H., & Sellers T. A. (2004). *Epidemiology for public health practice* (3rd ed.). Sudbury, MA: Jones and Bartlett.
- Fryer, H. R., Wolinsky, S. M., & McLean, A. R. (2018). Increased T cell trafficking as adjunct therapy for HIV-1. *PLoS computational biology*, 14(3), e1006028. Doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1006028
- Gascón, M. R. P., Vidal, J. E., Mazzaro, Y. M., Smid, J., Marcusso, R. M. N., Capitão, C.
  G., de Oliveira, A. C. P., (2018). Neuropsychological assessment of 412 HIV-Infected individuals in São Paulo, Brazil. *Active Immunodeficiency Syndrome Patient Care & STDs*, 32(1), 1–8. doi:10.1089/apc.2017.0202
- German Advisory Committee Blood (Arbeitskreis Blut), Subgroup "Assessment of Pathogens Transmissible by Blood." (2016). Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV). *Transfusion Medicine and Hemotherapy*, 43(3), 203–222. doi.org/10.1159/000445852
- Ghisetti, V., Coignard, C., Allice, T., & Duong, L. T. (2017). Evaluation of the performance of a new automated HIV combination assay. *Journal of Clinical*

Virology, 96, 80-83. doi:10.1016/j.jcv.2017.09.008

- Goldberg, R. E., & Short, S. E. (2016). What do we know about children living with human immunodeficiency virus-infected or active immunodeficiency syndromeill adults in Sub-Saharan Africa? A systematic review of the literature. *AIDS Care*, 28(sup2), 130-141. doi:10.1080/09540121.2016.1176684
- Golin, C. E., Knight, K., Carda-Auten, J., Gould, M., Groves, J., White, B. L., & L
  White, B. (2016). Individuals motivated to participate in adherence, care, and treatment (imPACT): development of a multi-component intervention to help HIV-infected recently incarcerated individuals link and adhere to human immunodeficiency virus care. *BMC(BMC) Public Health*, *16*(1), 1-16. doi:10.1186/s12889-016-3511-1
- Gonah, L., & Mukwirimba, A. (2016). Determinants of optimal adherence to antiretroviral therapy among people living with HIV/AIDS registered for antiretroviral therapy in Zimbabwe. *Medical Journal of Zambia*, 43(4), 174-183.
- Gorenec, L., Lepej, S. Z., Grgic, I., Planinic, A., Bes, J. I., Vince, A., & Begovac, J. (2016). The comparison of Th1, Th2, Th9, Th17 and Th22 cytokine profiles in acute and chronic human immunodeficiency virus (HIV-1) infection. *Microbial pathogenesis*, 97, 125-130. doi:10.1016/j.micpath.2016.06.008
- Govender, S., Otwombe, K., Essien, T., Panchia, R., de Bruyn, G., Mohapi, L., Gray, G.,
  & Martinson, N. (2014). Cluster of differentiation 4 (CD4) counts and viral loads of newly diagnosed human immunodeficiency virus-infected individuals: implications for treatment as prevention. *PloS one*, *9*(3), e90754. doi:

10.1371/journal.pone.0090754

- Guerra, G., Borde, E., & de Snyder, V. N. S. (2016). Measuring health inequities in low and middle-income countries for the development of observatories on inequities and social determinants of health. *International journal for equity in health*, *15*(1), 9. doi:10.1186/s12939-016-0297-9
- Harbertson, J., Hale, B. R., Tran, B. R., Thomas, A. G., Grillo, M. P., Jacobs, M. B.,
  Shaffer, R. A. (2017). Self-reported HIV-positive status but subsequent human immunodeficiency virus-negative test result using rapid diagnostic testing algorithms among seven sub-Saharan African military populations. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(7), 1–11. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0180796
- Havers, F. P., Detrick, B., Cardoso, S. W., Berendes, S., Lama, J. R., Sugandhavesa, P., & Gupta, A. (2014). Change in vitamin D levels occurs early after antiretroviral therapy initiation and depends on treatment regimen in resource-limited settings. *Plos ONE*, *9*(4), 1-9. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0095164
- Hegdahl, H. K., Fylkesnes, K. M., & Sandøy, I. F. (2016). Sex differences in HIV prevalence persist over time: Evidence from 18 Countries in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Plos ONE*, 11(2), 1-17. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0148502
- Herbeck, J. T., Peebles, K., Edlefsen, P. T., Rolland, M., Murphy, J. T., Gottlieb, G. S., & Goodreau, S. M. (2018). Human immunodeficiency virus population-level adaptation can rapidly diminish the impact of a partially effective vaccine. *Vaccine*, *36*(4), 514-520. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.12.004

Hino, S., Grodensky, C., Rutstein, S. E., Golin, C., Smith, M. K., Christmas, L., &

Pettifor, A. (2018). HIV status disclosure during acute human immunodeficiency virus infection in Malawi. *PloS ONE*, *13*(7), e0201265. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0201265

Hood, J. E., Katz, D. A., Bennett, A. B., Buskin, S. E., Dombrowski, J. C., Hawes, S. E., & Golden, M. R. (2017). Integrating human immunodeficiency virus surveillance and field services: Data quality and care continuum in King County, Washington, 2010–2015. *American Journal of Public Health*, *107*(12), 1938-1943. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2017.304069

Inzaule, S. C., Ondoa, P., Peter, T., Mugyenyi, P. N., Stevens, W. S., de Wit, T. R., & Hamers, R. L. (2016). Affordable human immunodeficiency virus drug-resistance testing for monitoring of antiretroviral therapy in sub-Saharan Africa. *Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 16(11), e267-e275. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(16)30118-9

Jacobsen, M. M., & Walensky, R. P. (2016). Modeling and cost-effectiveness in human immunodeficiency virus prevention. *Current Human Immunodeficiency Virus/Active Immunodeficiency Syndrome Reports*, 13(1), 64–75. doi.org/10.1007/s11904-016-0303-2

Johnson, C. C., Fonner, V., Sands, A., Ford, N., Mahklouf Obermeyer, C., Tsui, S., & Baggaley, R. (2017). To err is human, to correct is public health: a systematic review examining poor quality testing and misdiagnosis of HIV status. *Journal of the International Active Immunodeficiency Syndrome Society*, 20, 7–18. doi:10.7448/IAS.20.7.21755

Jones, J., Sullivan, P. S., & Curran, J. W. (2019). Progress in the human
immunodeficiency virus epidemic: Identifying goals and measuring success. *PLOS Medicine*, *16*, e1002729. doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002729

- Joseph, D. D. L., Wall, K. M., Kilembe, W., Khu, N. H., Brill, I., V walika, B., & Allen, S. (2018). Difficult decisions: Evaluating individual and couple-level fertility intentions and human immunodeficiency virus acquisition among human immunodeficiency virus serodiscordant couples in Zambia. *Plos ONE*, *13*(1), 1-15. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0189869
- Jun-Fang, X., Zhong-Qiang, M., Yu-Qian, Z., Pei-Cheng, W., Jun, J., & Feng, C. (2017). Family support, discrimination, and quality of life among antiretroviral therapytreated human immunodeficiency virus -infected patients: a two-year study in China. *Infectious Diseases of Poverty*, 61-10. doi:10.1186/s40249-017-0364-5
- Júnior, A. J. B., Andrade, A. L. V., Ferreira, A. A. G., Oliveira, S. M. A., & Pinheiro, T. S. (2014). Human Immunodeficiency Virus HIV: A Review. *Brazilian Journal of Surgery & Clinical Research*, 9(2), 43–48. Retrieved from https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=a9h&AN=101950497&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Kabogo, J., Muniu, E., Wamunyokoli, F., Musoke, R., & Songok, E. (2018). Evidence of reduced treatment adherence among HIV infected pediatric and adolescent populations in Nairobi at the onset of the UNAIDS Universal Test and Treat Program. *BMC Research Notes*, *11*1. doi:10.1186/s13104-018-3205-0
- Kamali, A., Price, M. A., Lakhi, S., Karita, E., Inambao, M., Sanders, E. J., & Brill, I. K. (2015). Creating an African human immunodeficiency virus clinical research and

prevention trials network: Human immunodeficiency virus prevalence, incidence and transmission. *Plos ONE*, *10*(1), 1-19. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0116100

- Kelly-Hanku, A., Aggleton, P., & Shih, P. (2014). 'We call it a virus but I want to say it is the devil inside': Redemption, moral reform and relationships with God among people living with human immunodeficiency virus in Papua New Guinea. *Social Science & Medicine*, *119*106-113. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.08.020
- Kharsany, A. B. M. & Karim, Q. A. (2016). Human immunodeficiency virus infection and acquired immunodeficiency syndrome in sub-Saharan Africa: Current status, challenges, and opportunities. *The Open Active Immunodeficiency Syndrome Journal*, 10, 34–48. doi:10.2174/1874613601610010034
- Kosack, C. S., Shanks, L., Beelaert, G., Benson, T., Savane, A., Ng'ang'a, A., & Page, A.
  L. (2017). HIV misdiagnosis in sub-Saharan Africa: performance of diagnostic algorithms at six testing sites. *Journal of the International Active Immunodeficiency Syndrome Society*, 20, 1–18. doi: 10.7448/IAS.20.1.21419
- Kravitz, D. S. A. S., Parekh, B., Douglas, M. O. K., Edgil, D., Kuritsky, J., & Nkengasong, J. (2018). A commitment to HIV diagnostic accuracy—a comment on "Towards more accurate human immunodeficiency virus testing in sub-Saharan Africa: A multi-site evaluation of human immunodeficiency virus Rapid diagnostic tests (RDTs) and risk factors for false positives" and "human immunodeficiency virus misdiagnosis in sub-Saharan Africa: A performance of diagnostic algorithms at six testing sites." *Journal of the International Active Immunodeficiency Syndrome Society*, *21*, e25177. doi:10.1002/jia2.25177

- Krogstad, E. A., Atujuna, M., Montgomery, E. T., Minnis, A., Ndwayana, S., Malapane, T., & van der Straten, A. (2018). Perspectives of South African youth in the development of an implant for human immunodeficiency virus prevention. *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, 21(8), 1. doi: 10.1002/jia2.25170
- Kufa, T., Kharsany, A. B. M., Cawood, C., Khanyile, D., Lewis, L., Grobler, A., Puren,
  A. (2017). Misdiagnosis of HIV infection during a South African communitybased survey: implications for rapid human immunodeficiency testing. *Journal of the International Active Immunodeficiency Syndrome Society*, 20, 35–43. doi:10.7448/IAS.20.7.21753
- Laeyendecker, O., Konikoff, J., Morrison, D. E., Brookmeyer, R., Jing, W., Celum, C., & Eshleman, S. H. (2018). Identification and validation of a multi-assay algorithm for cross-sectional human immunodeficiency virus incidence estimation in populations with subtype C infection. *Journal of the International Active Immunodeficiency Syndrome Society*, 21(2), 1-7. doi:10.1002/jia2.25082
- Lucera, M. B., Fleissner, Z., Tabler, C. O., Schlatzer, D. M., Troyer, Z., & Tilton, J. C. (2017). HIV signaling through cluster of differentiation 4 (CD4) and CCR5 activates Rho family GTPases that are required for optimal infection of primary cluster of differentiation 4+ (CD4+) T cells. *Retrovirology*, *14*1-13. doi:10.1186/s12977-017-0328-7
- Luo, W., Sullivan, V., Smith, T., Peters, P. J., Gay, C., Westheimer, E., & Masciotra, S.
  (2019). Performance evaluation of the Bio-Rad Geenius human
  immunodeficiency1/2 supplemental assay. *Journal of Clinical Virology*, 111, 24–

28. doi:10.1016/j.jcv.2018.12.006

- Mackworth-Young, C. R., Bond, V., Wringe, A., Konayuma, K., Clay, S., Chiiya, C., & Stangl, A. L. (2017). "My mother told me that I should not": a qualitative study exploring the restrictions placed on adolescent girls living with human immunodeficiency virus in Zambia. *Journal of the International Active Immunodeficiency Syndrome Society*, 20(4), 1-N.PAG. doi:10.1002/jia2.25035
- Madiba, S., & Ngwenya, N. (2017). Cultural practices, gender inequality and inconsistent condom use increase vulnerability to human immunodeficiency virsu infection: narratives from married and cohabiting women in rural communities in Mpumalanga province, South Africa. *Global Health Action*, *10*N.PAG. doi:10.1080/16549716.2017.1341597
- Madrid-Elena, N., García-Bermejo, M. L., Serrano-Villar, S., Santiago, A. D., Sastr, B.,
  Gutiérrez, C., & Moreno, S. (2018). Maraviroc Is associated with latent HIV-1
  reactivation through NF-κB activation in resting cluster of differentiation (CD4+)
  T cells from human immunodeficiency virus-infected individuals on suppressive
  antiretroviral therapy. *Journal of Virology*, *92*(9), 1-13. doi:10.1128/JVI.01931-17
- Malik, T., Chauhan, G., Rath, G., Murthy, R. R., & Goyal, A. K. (2017). "Fusion and binding inhibition" key target for human immunodeficiency virus -1 treatment and pre-exposure prophylaxis: targets, drug delivery and nanotechnology approaches. *Drug Delivery*, 24(1), 608-621. doi:10.1080/10717544.2016.1228717
- Margolis, D. M., Garcia, J. V., Hazuda, D. J., & Haynes, B. F. (2016). Latency reversal and viral clearance to cure human immunodeficiency virus -1. *Science*,

353(6297), aaf6517-1-aaf6517-7. doi:10.1126/science. aaf6517

- Mark, D., Armstrong, A., Andrade, C., Penazzato, M., Hatane, L., Taing, L., Ferguson, J. (2017). HIV treatment and care services for adolescents: A situational analysis of 218 facilities in 23 sub-Saharan African countries. *Journal of the International Active Immunodeficiency Syndrome Society*, 20, e21591.
  doi.org/10.7448/IAS.20.4.21591
- Marston, M., Zaba, B., & Eaton, J. W. (2018). Relative patterns of sexual activity and fertility among human immunodeficiency virus positive and negative women—
  Evidence from 46 DHS. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(10), 1–16.
  doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0204584
- Marty, L., Cazein, F., Panjo, H., Pillonel, J., Costagliola, D., & Supervie, V. (2018).
  Revealing geographical and population heterogeneity in HIV incidence, undiagnosed HIV prevalence and time to diagnosis to improve prevention and care: estimates for France. *Journal of the International Active Immunodeficiency Syndrome Society*, 21(3), 1. doi:10.1002/jia2.25100
- Masciotra, S., Luo, W., Westheimer, E., Cohen, S. E., Gay, C. L., Hall, L., & Owen, S.
  M. (2017). Performance evaluation of the Federal Drug Administration -approved
  Determine<sup>TM</sup> human immunodeficiency virus -1/2 Ag/Ab Combo assay using
  plasma and whole blood specimens. *Journal of Clinical Virology*, *91*95-100. doi:
  10.1016/j.jcv.2017.03.019
- Masic, I. (2018). Public health aspects of global population health and well-being in the 21st century regarding determinants of health. *International Journal of Preventive*

Medicine, 1–4. doi:10.4103/ijpvm.IJPVMpass:476\_17

- Mastaglia, S., Watson, D., Bello, N., Fridman, V., Stecher, D., & Oliveri, B. (2017).
  Vitamin D levels and their impact on mineral metabolism in HIV infected patients: an exploratory study. *Clinical Cases in Mineral & Bone Metabolism*, *14*(1), 18-22. doi: 10.11138/ccmbm/2017.14.1.018
- Masters, S. H., Agot, K., Obonyo, B., Napierala, M., S., Maman, S., & Thirumurthy, H. (2016). Promoting partner testing and couples testing through secondary distribution of human immunodeficiency virus self-tests: a randomized clinical trial. *Plos Medicine*, *13*(11), 1-15. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002166
- Mathur, S., Okal, J., Musheke, M., Pilgrim, N., Kishor Patel, S., Bhattacharya, R., & Pulerwitz, J. (2018). High rates of sexual violence by both intimate and non-intimate partners experienced by adolescent girls and young women in Kenya and Zambia: Findings around violence and other negative health outcomes. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(9), 1–13. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0203929
- Maughan-Brown, B., & Venkataramani, A. S. (2018). Accuracy and determinants of perceived human immunodeficiency virus risk among young women in South Africa. *BMC(BMC) Public Health*, 18(1), 42. doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4593-0
- Maughan-Brown, B., Evans, M., & George, G. (2016). Sexual behavior of men and women within age-disparate partnerships in South Africa: implications for young women's human immunodeficiency virus risk. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(8), 1–16. https://doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0159162

Mayaphi, S. H., Martin, D. J., Olorunju, S. S., Williams, B. G., Quinn, T. C., & Stoltz, A.

C. (2018). High-risk exposure to human immunodeficiency virus among sexually active individuals who tested negative on rapid human immunodeficiency virus tests in the Tshwane District of South Africa—The importance of behavioral prevention measures. *Plos ONE*, *13*(2), 1-14. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0192357

- Mayaphi, S. H., Martin, D. J., Quinn, T. C., Laeyendecker, O., Olorunju, S. A., Tintinger, G. R., & Stoltz, A. C. (2016). Detection of Acute and Early HIV-1 Infections in an HIV Hyper-Endemic Area with Limited Resources. *PloS one*, *11*(10), e0164943. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0164943
- McCarraher, D. R., Packer, C., Mercer, S., Dennis, A., Banda, H., Nyambe, N., &
  Denison, J. A. (2018). Adolescents living with human immunodeficiency virus in
  the Copperbelt Province of Zambia: their reproductive health needs and
  experiences. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(6), 1–13. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0197853
- Mee, P., Fearon, E., Hassan, S., Hensen, B., Acharya, X., Rice, B. D., & Hargreaves, J.
  R. (2018). The association between being currently in school and HIV prevalence among young women in nine eastern and southern African countries. *PLOS One*, *13*, e0198898. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0198898
- Merdad, L., & Ali, M. M. (2018). Timing of maternal death: Levels, trends, and ecological correlates using sibling data from 34 sub-Saharan African countries. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(1), 1–13. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0189416
- Modified World Health Organization. (2010). A conceptual framework for action on the social determinants of health.

Mojola, S. A. (2017). AIDS in Africa: progress and obstacles. Current History, 116(790),

170-175.

- Mokwena, K., & Morabe, M. (2016). Sexual abstinence: What is the understanding and views of secondary school learners in a semi-rural area of North West Province, South Africa? Sahara-J: Journal of Social Aspects of HIV/AIDS, 13(1), 81-87.
- Monteiro, J. F., Escudero, D. J., Weinreb, C., Flanigan, T., Galea, S., Friedman, S. R., & Marshall, B. D. (2016). Understanding the effects of different HIV transmission models in individual-based microsimulation of HIV epidemic dynamics in people who inject drugs. *Epidemiology and infection*, *144*(8), 1683–1700. doi:10.1017/S0950268815003180
- Moodley, Y. (2017). The impact of an unknown human immunodeficiency virus serostatus on inpatient mortality. *Pan African Medical Journal*, 28, 1–7. doi:10.11604/pamj.2017.28.285.11860
- Moshoeu, M. P., Kuupiel, D., Gwala, N., & Mashamba-Thompson, T. P. (2019). The use of home-based HIV testing and counseling in low-and-middle-income countries: a scoping review. *BMC(BMC) Public Health*, *19*(1), N.PAG. doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-6471-4
- Motayo, B. O., Olusola, B. A., Faneye, A. O., Aturaka, S., Oluwasemowo, O., &
  Ogiogwa, J. I. (2017). Dynamics of cluster of differentiation 4 (CD4) cell count among HIV-infected individuals in Lagos, Nigeria. *Journal of Immunoassay & Immunochemistry*, *38*(6), 569-578. doi:10.1080/15321819.2017.1350706
- Mtenga, S. M., Pfeiffer, C., Tanner, M., Geubbels, E., & Merten, S. (2018). Linking gender, extramarital affairs, and human immunodeficiency virus: a mixed

methods study on contextual determinants of extramarital affairs in rural Tanzania. *AIDS Research & Therapy*, *15*(1), N.PAG. doi:10.1186/s12981-018-0199-6

- Mujib, S., Jun, L., Rahman, A. N., Schwartz, J. A., Bonner, P., Feng Yun, Y., & Mario
  A., O. (2017). Comprehensive cross-clade characterization of antibody-mediated
  recognition, complement-mediated lysis, and cell-mediated cytotoxicity of HIV-1
  envelope-specific antibodies toward eradication of the human immunodeficiency
  virus -1 reservoir. *Journal of Virology*, *91*(16), 1-23. doi:10.1128/JVI.00634-17
- Mukumbang, F. C., Van Belle, S., Marchal, B., & van Wyk, B. (2017). An exploration of group-based human immunodeficiency virus /active immunodeficiency syndrome treatment and care models in Sub-Saharan Africa using a realist evaluation (Intervention-Context-Actor-Mechanism-Outcome) heuristic tool: a systematic review. *Implementation Science*, 12, 1–20.
- Mumtaz, G. R., Awad, S. F., Feizzadeh, A., Weiss, H. A., & Abu-Raddad, L. J. (2018).
  human immunodeficiency virus incidence among people who inject drugs in the
  Middle East and North Africa: mathematical modeling analysis. *Journal of the International Active Immunodeficiency Syndrome Society*, 21(3), 1.
  doi:10.1002/jia2.25102
- Musheke, M., Merten, S., & Bond, V. (2016). Why do marital partners of people living with HIV not test for HIV? A qualitative study in Lusaka, Zambia. *BMC(BMC) Public Health*, 16(1), 1–13. doi:10.1186/s12889-016-3396-z

Mustapha, M., Musiime, V., Bakeera-Kitaka, S., Rujumba, J., & Nabukeera-Barungi, N.

(2018). Utilization of "prevention of mother-to-child transmission" of human immunodeficiency virus services by adolescent and young mothers in Mulago Hospital, Uganda. *BMC(BMC) Infectious Diseases*, *18*(1), N.PAG. doi:10.1186/s12879-018-3480-3

- Muzyamba, C., Broaddus, E., & Campbell, C. (2015). "You cannot eat rights": A qualitative study of views by Zambian human immunodeficiency virus vulnerable women, youth, and men having sex with men (MSM) on human rights as public health tools. *BMC(BMC) International Health & Human Rights*, *15*(1), 1–16. doi:10.1186/s12914-015-0067-6
- Mwenge, L., Sande, L., Mangenah, C., Ahmed, N., Kanema, S., d'Elbée, M., & Terris-Prestholt, F. (2017). Costs of facility-based human immunodeficiency virus testing in Malawi, Zambia, and Zimbabwe. *Plos ONE*, *12*(10), 1-16. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0185740
- Myszka, M., & Klinger, M. (2014). Immunomodulacyjne działanie witaminy D. Advances in Hygiene & Experimental Medicine/Postepy Higieny I Medycyny Doswiadczalnej, 68865-878. doi:10.5604/17322693.1110168
- Nabukenya, A. M., & Matovu, J. K. B. (2018). Correlates of HIV status awareness among older adults in Uganda: results from a nationally representative survey.
   *BMC Public Health*, 18(1), N.PAG. doi:10.1186/s12889-018-6027-z
- Nehl, E. J., Elifson, K., DePadilla, L., & Sterk, C. (2016). Sex partner type, drug use and condom use self-efficacy among African Americans from disadvantaged neighborhoods: Are associations with consistent condom use moderated by

gender? Journal of Sex Research, 53(7), 805–815.

doi:10.1080/00224499.2015.1092018

Nesbeth, C. O., Kandala, R., Najeeb, S., Nazneen, R., & Murthy, B. (2018). HIV mortality difference between black and white women. *Journal of Health Disparities Research & Practice*, *11*(1), 179–190. Retrieved from https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=a9h&AN=130383313&site=ehost-live&scope=site

Ngure, K., Vusha, S., Mugo, N., Emmanuel-Fabula, M., Ngutu, M., Celum, C., & Heffron, R. (2016). "I never thought that it would happen ..." Experiences of human immunodeficiency virus seroconverters among human immunodeficiency virus -discordant partnerships in a prospective human immunodeficiency virus prevention study in Kenya. *Active Immunodeficiency Syndrome Care*, 28(12), 1586-1589. doi:10.1080/09540121.2016.1191610

- Normand, J., Montaner, J., Chi-Tai, F., Zunyou, W., & Yi-Ming, C. (2013). Human immunodeficiency virus: Seek, test, treat, and retain. *Journal of Food & Drug Analysis*, 21s4-s6. doi: 10.1016/j.jfda.2013.09.020
- Nyirenda, M., Street, R., Reddy, T., Hoffman, S., Dawad, S., Blanchard, K., Ramjee, G. (2018). Food insecurity, human immunodeficiency virus status, and prior testing at South African primary healthcare clinics. *South African Journal of Science*, *114*(9/10), 42–47. doi:10.17159/sajs.2018/4407
- Okawa, S., Mwanza-Kabaghe, S., Mwiya, M., Kikuchi, K., Jimba, M., Kankasa, C., & Ishikawa, N. (2018). Sexual and reproductive health behavior and unmet needs

among a sample of adolescents living with human immunodeficiency virus in Zambia: a cross-sectional study. *Reproductive Health*, *15*1. doi:10.1186/s12978-018-0493-8

- Olusola, O. A., David, O. T., Yomi, A. R., Samson, E. S., Abraham, O. A., Olurotimi, S. J., & Joy, O. A. (2017). Immunosuppressive Acidic Protein-Haematological correlates in human immunodeficiency virus-infected subjects. *Asian Journal of Medical Sciences*, 8(5), 8-16. doi:10.3126/ajms. v8i5.17323
- Omonaiye, O., Kusljic, S., Nicholson, P., & Manias, E. (2018). Medication adherence in pregnant women with human immunodeficiency virus receiving antiretroviral therapy in sub-Saharan Africa: A systematic review. *BMC Public Health*, 18(1), PP–PP. doi:10.1186/s12889-018-5651-y
- Omooja, J., Nannyonjo, M., Sanyu, G., Nabirye, S. E., Nassolo, F., Lunkuse, S., Kapaata, A., Segujja, F., Kateete, D. P., Ssebaggala, E., Bbosa, N., Aling, E., Nsubuga, R. N., Kaleebu, P., & Ssemwanga, D. (2019). Rates of HIV-1 virological suppression and patterns of acquired drug resistance among fisherfolk on first-line antiretroviral therapy in Uganda. *The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy*, *74*(10), 3021–3029. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkz261
- Östlin, P., Schrecker, T., Sadana, R., Bonnefoy, J., Gilson, L., Hertzman, C., & Vaghri,
  Z. (2011). Priorities for research on equity and health: towards an equity-focused health research agenda. *Plos Medicine*, 8(11), 1-6. doi:
  10.1371/journal.pmed.1001115

Pankrac, J., Klein, K., & Mann, J. S. (2017). Eradication of human immunodeficiency

virus -1 latent reservoirs through therapeutic vaccination. *Active Immunodeficiency Syndrome Research & Therapy*, 1-4. doi:10.1186/s12981-017-0177-4

- Parker, L., Pettifor, A., Maman, S., Sibeko, J., & MacPhail, C. (2014). Concerns about partner infidelity are a barrier to adoption of human immunodeficiency virus prevention strategies among young South African couples. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, 16(7), 792-805. doi:10.1080/13691058.2014.905707
- Perez-Brumer, A. G., Reisner, S. L., McLean, S. A., Silva-Santisteban, A., Huerta, L., Mayer, K. H., & Lama, J. R. (2017). Leveraging social capital: multilevel stigma, associated human immunodeficiency virus vulnerabilities, and social resilience strategies among transgender women in Lima, Peru. *Journal of the International Active Immunodeficiency Syndrome Society*, 201-8. doi:10.7448/IAS.20.1.21462
- Perriat, D., Balzer, L., Hayes, R., Lockman, S., Walsh, F., Ayles, H., & Dabis, F. (2018).
   Comparative assessment of five trials of universal human immunodeficiency virus testing and treatment in sub-Saharan Africa. *Journal of the International Active Immunodeficiency Syndrome Society*, 21(1), 1–N.PAG. doi:10.1002/jia2.25048
- Perry-Mitchell, T., & Davis-Maye, D. (2017). Evidence-based African-centered human immunodeficiency virus /active immunodeficiency syndrome prevention interventions: Best practices and opportunities. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 27(1/2), 110-131. doi:10.1080/10911359.2016.1266861
- Persson, A. (2013). Notes on the concepts of serodiscordance and risk in couples with mixed human immunodeficiency virus status. *Global Public Health*, 8(2), 209–

220. doi:10.1080/17441692.2012.729219

- Peruski, A. H., Dong, X., & Selik, R. M. (2018). Trends in testing algorithms used to diagnose human immunodeficiency virus infection, 2011–2015, United States and six dependent areas. *Journal of Clinical Virology*, 10319-24. doi: 10.1016/j.jcv.2018.03.008
- Peter, T., Zeh, C., Katz, Z., Elbireer, A., Alemayehu, B., Vojnov, L., Jani, I. (2017).
  Scaling up HIV viral load-lessons from the large-scale implementation of human immunodeficiency virus early infant diagnosis and cluster of differentiation 4 (CD4) testing. *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, 20, 9–15. doi: 10.1002/jia2.25008
- Pilgrim, N., Jani, N., Mathur, S., Kahabuka, C., Saria, V., Makyao, N., & Pulerwitz, J. (2018). Provider perspectives on pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) for adolescent girls and young women in Tanzania: The role of provider biases and quality of care. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(4), 1–21. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.019628
- Pinchoff, J., Boyer, C. B., Mutombo, N., Chowdhuri, R. N., & Ngo, T. D. (2017). Why don't urban youth in Zambia use condoms? The influence of gender and marriage on non-use of male condoms among young adults. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(3), 1–15. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0172062
- Platt, L., Easterbrook, P., Gower, E., McDonald, B., Sabin, K., McGowan, C., Vickerman, P. (2016). Prevalence and burden of hepatitis C (HCV) co-infection in people living with human immunodeficiency virus: a global systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 16(7), 797–808.

https://doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00485-5

- Powers, K. A., Price, M. A., Karita, E., Kamali, A., Kilembe, W., Allen, S., & Sanders, E. J. (2018). Prediction of extended high viremia among newly human immunodeficiency virus -1-infected persons in sub-Saharan Africa. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(4), 1–11. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0192785
- Pulerwitz, J., Mathur, S., & Woznica, D. (2018). How empowered are girls/young women in their sexual relationships? Relationship power, human immunodeficiency virus risk, and partner violence in Kenya. *PloS one*, *13*(7), e0199733.doi.10.1371/journal.pone.0199733
- Qiao, S., Zhang, Y., Li, X., & Menon, J. A. (2018). Facilitators and barriers for human immunodeficiency virus -testing in Zambia: A systematic review of multi-level factors. *Plos ONE*, *13*(2), 1-27. doi:10.1371/0192327
- Rana, J. (2016). Social determinants of awareness and behavior regarding STDs and human immunodeficiency virus /active immunodeficiency syndrome among evermarried women in Bangladesh. *Family Medicine & Primary Care Review*, (4), 460-469. doi:10.5114/fmpcr.2016.63702
- Ranganathan, M., MacPhail, C., Pettifor, A., Kahn, K., Khoza, N., Twine, R., & Heise, L.
  (2017). Young women's perceptions of transactional sex and sexual agency: A
  qualitative study in the context of rural South Africa. *BMC Public Health*, *17*, 1–
  16. doi:10.1186/s12889-017-4636-6
- Rohr, J. K., Gómez-Olivé, F. X., Rosenberg, M., Manne-Goehler, J., Geldsetzer, P., Wagner, R. G., & Bärnighausen, T. (2017). Performance of self-reported human

immunodeficiency virus status in determining true human immunodeficiency virus status among older adults in rural South Africa: a validation study. *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, 201-7. doi.org/10.7448/IAS.20.1.21691

Rosenberg, M. S., Gómez-Olivé, F. X., Rohr, J. K., Houle, B. C., Kabudula, C. W.,
Wagner, R. G., Bärnighausen, T. (2017). Sexual Behaviors and human
immunodeficiency virus Status: A Population-Based Study Among Older Adults
in Rural South Africa. *Journal of acquired immune deficiency syndromes*(1999), 74(1), e9–e17. doi:10.1097/QAI.00000000001173

Rozhnova, G., van der Loeff, M. S., Heijne, J. M., & Kretzschmar, M. E. (2016). Impact of heterogeneity in sexual behavior on effectiveness in reducing human immunodeficiency virus transmission with test-and-treat strategy. *Plos Computational Biology*, *12*(8), 1-20. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1005012

- Sabapathy, K., Hensen, B., Varsaneux, O., Floyd, S., Fidler, S., & Hayes, R. (2018). The cascade of care following community-based detection of human immunodeficiency virus in sub-Saharan Africa—a systematic review with 90-90-90 targets in sight. *PLOS One*, *13*, e0200737. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0178106
- Saffier, I. P., Kawa, H., & Harling, G. (2017). A scoping review of prevalence, incidence, and risk factors for human immunodeficiency virus infection amongst young people in Brazil. *BMC infectious diseases*, *17*(1), 675.doi: 10.1186/s12879-017-2795-9
- Salam, R. A., Faqqah, A., Sajjad, N., Lassi, Z. S., Das, J. K., Kaufman, M., & Bhutta, Z.A. (2016). Improving adolescent sexual and reproductive health: A systematic

review of potential interventions. *The Journal of Adolescent Health*, *59*(4 Suppl), S11–S28. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.05.022

- Salazar, L. F., Crosby, R. A., & DiClemente, R. J. (2015). *Research methods in health promotion*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Schwartz, S. R., Kavanagh, M. M., Sugarman, J., Solomon, S. S., Njindam, I. M., Rebe,
  K., & Baral, S. (2017). Human immunodeficiency virus viral load monitoring
  among key populations in low- and middle-income countries: challenges and
  opportunities. *Journal of the International Active Immunodeficiency Syndrome Society*, 2043-49. doi:10.1002/jia2.25003
- Schwetz, T. A., & Fauci, A. S. (2019). The extended impact of human immunodeficiency virus/active immunodeficiency syndrome research. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 219(1), 6–9. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiy441
- Sgaier, S. K., Sharma, S., Eletskaya, M., Prasad, R., Mugurungi, O., Tambatamba, B., & Kretschmer, S. (2017). Attitudes and decision-making about early-infant versus early-adolescent male circumcision: demand-side insights for sustainable human immunodeficiency virus prevention strategies in Zambia and Zimbabwe. *Plos ONE*, *12*(7), 1-17. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0181411
- Sharma, M., Barnabas, R. V., & Celum, C. (2017). Community-based strategies to strengthen men's engagement in the human immunodeficiency virus care cascade in sub-Saharan Africa. *PLoS medicine*, *14*(4), e1002262. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1002262
- Shaw, S. A., McCrimmon, T., Mergenova, G., Sultangaliyeva, A., & El-Bassel, N.

(2017). Islamic influence on human immunodeficiency virus risk and protection among central Asian male migrant workers in Kazakhstan. *Qualitative Health Research*, *27*(10), 1553-1561. doi:10.1177/1049732317697101

- Shisana, O., Risher, K., Celentano, D. D., Zungu, N., Rehle, T., Ngcaweni, B., & Evans, M. G. (2016). Does marital status matter in a human immunodeficiency virus hyperendemic country? Findings from the 2012 South African National human immunodeficiency virus Prevalence, Incidence, and Behaviour Survey. *Active Immunodeficiency Syndrome Care*, 28(2), 234–241. doi:10.1080/09540121.2015.1080790
- Shu, Y., Daihai, H., Jing, L., Weizhong, C., Xiaohong, Y., Min, W., Ziqian, Z. (2017). Simulation of human immunodeficiency virus /active immunodeficiency syndrome distribution using GIS based cellular automata model. *Biomedical Research (0970-938X)*, 28(9), 4053–4057.
- Sia, D., Onadja, Y., Hajizadeh, M., Heymann, S. J., Brewer, T. F., & Nandi, A. (2016).
  What explains gender inequalities in human immunodeficiency virus /active immunodeficiency syndrome prevalence in sub-Saharan Africa? Evidence from the demographic and health surveys. *BMC Public Health*, *16*(1), 1–18. doi:10.1186/s12889-016-3783-5
- Spivak, A. M., & Planelles, V. (2016). HIV-1 Eradication: Early trials (and tribulations). *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, 22(1), 10–27. doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2015.11.004

Ssewanyana, D., Mwangala, P. N., van Baar, A., Newton, C. R., & Abubakar, A. (2018).

Health risk behavior among adolescents living with human immunodeficiency virus in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. BioMed Research International, 2018, 1–18. doi:10.1155/2018/7375831

- Stafylis, C., & Klausner, J. D. (2017). Evaluation of two 4th generation point-of-care assays for the detection of human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Plos ONE*, *12*(8), 1-7. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0183944
- Story, C. R., Kao, W.K., Currin, J., Brown, C., & Charles, V. (2018). Evaluation of the southern harm reduction coalition for human immunodeficiency virus prevention: Advocacy accomplishments. *Health Promotion Practice*, *19*(5), 695–703. doi:10.1177/1524839917742850
- Tadesse, B. T., Foster, B. A., & Berhan, Y. (2015). Cross sectional characterization of factors associated with pediatric human immunodeficiency virus status disclosure in Southern Ethiopia. *PLoS One*, *10*(7), e0132691.
  doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0132691

Teasdale, C. A., Abrams, E. J., Chiasson, M. A., Justman, J., Blanchard, K., & Jones, H.
E. (2018). Incidence of sexually transmitted infections during pregnancy. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(5), 1–13. https://doi-

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0197696

Tecle, A. S., & Andrasik, M. (2015). Breaking the silence: Interpreting African-born women's knowledge about human immunodeficiency virus and concurrency. *Health & Social Work*, 40(2), e32-e41. doi:10.1093/hsw/hlv014

Toska, E., Pantelic, M., Meinck, F., Keck, K., Haghighat, R., & Cluver, L. (2017). Sex in

the shadow of human immunodeficiency virus: a systematic review of prevalence, risk factors, and interventions to reduce sexual risk-taking among human immunodeficiency virus-positive adolescents and youth in sub-Saharan Africa. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(6), e0178106. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0178106

- Tripathy J. P. (2013). Secondary Data Analysis: Ethical Issues and Challenges. *Iranian journal of public health*, *42*(12), 1478-9.
- Trovato, M., D'Apice, L., Prisco, A., & De Berardinis, P. (2018). HIV Vaccination: A roadmap among advancements and concerns. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 19(4), 1-14. doi:10.3390/ijms19041241
- Udeh, E. O., Obiezue, R. N. N., Okafor, F. C., Ikele, C. B., Okoye, I. C., & Otuu, C. A.
  (2019). Gastrointestinal Parasitic Infections and Immunological Status of human immunodeficiency virus /active immunodeficiency syndrome Coinfected Individuals in Nigeria. *Annals of global health*, 85(1).
- Vanamail, L. P., Sehgal, R., & Kriplani, A. (2014). Status and awareness of human immunodeficiency virus /active immunodeficiency syndrome among antenatal Indian women. *Indian Journal of Health & Wellbeing*, 5(3), 358-361.
- Venkatapuram, S. (2010). Global justice and the social determinants of health. *Ethics & International Affairs*, 24(2), 119-130. doi:10.1111/j.1747-7093.2010.00252.x
- Vieira, N., Rasmussen, D., Oliveira, I., Gomes, A., Aaby, P., Wejse, C., & Unger, H.
  (2017). Awareness, attitudes, and perceptions regarding human
  immunodeficiency virus and prevention of mother to child transmission (PMTCT)
  amongst pregnant women in Guinea-Bissau- a qualitative study. *BMC Women's*

Health, 17(1), 1-11. doi:10.1186/s12905-017-0427-6

- Viljoen, L., Ndubani, R., Bond, V., Seeley, J., Reynolds, L., & Hoddinott, G. (2017).
  Community narratives about women and human immunodeficiency virus risk in 21 high-burden communities in Zambia and South Africa. *International Journal of Women's Health*, 9, 861–870. doi:10.2147/IJWH.S143397
- Wakeham, K., Harding, R., Levin, J., Parkes-Ratanshi, R., Kamali, A., & Lalloo, D. G. (2017). The impact of antiretroviral therapy on symptom burden among human immunodeficiency virus outpatients with low cluster of differentiation 4 (CD4) count in rural Uganda: Nested longitudinal cohort study. *BMC Palliative Care*, *17*, 1–9. doi:10.1186/s12904-017-0215-y
- Warner, R. M. (2013). Applied statistics: From bivariate through multivariate techniques(2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Warren, E. A., Paterson, P., Schulz, W. S., Lees, S., Eakle, R., Stadler, J., & Larson, H. J. (2018). Risk perception and the influence on uptake and use of biomedical prevention interventions for human immunodeficiency virus in sub-Saharan Africa: A systematic literature review. *Plos ONE*, *13*(6), 1-18. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0198680

Wei, S., Mulatu, M. S., Rorie, M., Hui, Z., & Gilford, J. W. (2017). Human immunodeficiency virus testing and positivity patterns of partners of human immunodeficiency -diagnosed people in partner services programs, United States, 2013-2014. *Public Health Reports*, *132*(4), 455-462. doi:10.1177/0033354917710943 Williams, S., Renju, J., Ghilardi, L., & Wringe, A. (2017). Scaling a waterfall: A metaethnography of adolescent progression through the stages of human immunodeficiency virus care in sub-Saharan Africa. *Journal of the International active immunodeficiency syndrome Society*, 20, 1–17. doi:10.7448/IAS.20.1.21922

Williams-Orlando, C. (2017). Human immunodeficiency virus and herbal medicine. *Alternative & Complementary Therapies*, 23(2), 51-59. doi: 10.1089/act.2017.29099

- Wilson, C., Oliver, V., Flicker, S., Prentice, T., Jackson, R., Larkin, J., & Mitchell, C.
  (2016). 'Culture' as HIV prevention. *Gateways: International Journal of Community Research & Engagement*, 9(1), 74-88. doi:10.5130/ijcre. v9i1.4802
- Witzel, T. C., Lora, W., Lees, S., & Desmond, N. (2017). Uptake contexts and perceived impacts of human immunodeficiency virus testing and counseling among adults in East and Southern Africa: A meta-ethnographic review. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(2), 1–16. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0170588
- World Health Organization. (2010). A conceptual framework for action on the social determinants of health.

 World Health Organization. (2017). Policy brief: Consolidated guidelines on human immunodeficiency virus prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations (No. World Health Organization/Human Immunodeficiency Virus/2017.05). World Health Organization.

Xu, W., Li, H., Wang, Q., Hua, C., Zhang, H., Li, W., & Lu, L. (2017). Advancements in

developing strategies for sterilizing and functional Human Immunodeficiency Virus cures. *Biomed Research International*, 1-12. doi:10.1155/2017/6096134

Xueyan, Z; Yanping, W; Jianfeng, G; & Jiying, W. (2018). Correlation analyses of CpG island methylation of cluster of differentiation 4 protein with gene expression and T lymphocyte subpopulation traits. *Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences*, *31*(8), 1141–1149. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.5713/ajas.17.0805

- Yah, C. S. (2017). Nurturing the continuum of human immunodeficiency virus testing, treatment, and prevention matrix cascade in reducing human immunodeficiency virus transmission. *Ethiopian Journal of Health Sciences*, 27(6), 621-630. doi:10.4314/ejhs. v27i6.7
- Yeatman, S., Eaton, J. W., Beckles, Z., Benton, L., Gregson, S., & Zaba, B. (2016). Impact of ART on the fertility of human immunodeficiency virus-positive women in sub-Saharan Africa. *Tropical Medicine & International Health*, 21(9), 1071– 1085. doi-org.ezp.10.1111/tmi.12747
- Zainiddinov, H., & Habibov, N. (2016). Trends and predictors of knowledge about human immunodeficiency virus /active immunodeficiency syndrome and its prevention and transmission methods among women in Tajikistan. *European Journal of Public Health*, 26(6), 1075-1079. doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckw077
- Zbinden, A., Dürig, R., Shah, C., Böni, J., & Schüpbach, J. (2016). Importance of an early human immunodeficiency virus antibody differentiation immunoassay for detection of dual infection with human immunodeficiency virus -1 and human

immunodeficiency virus -2. PloS one, 11(6), e0157690.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0157690

- Zemp, M., Johnson, M. D., & Bodenmann, G. (2019). Out of Balance? Positivity-negativity ratios in couples' interaction impact child adjustment. *Developmental Psychology*, 55(1), 135–147. doi:10.1037/dev0000614
- Zgambo, M., Kalembo, F. W., & Mbakaya, B. C. (2018). Risky behaviours and their correlates among adolescents living with human immunodeficiency virus in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. *Reproductive Health*, 15(1), N.PAG. doi:10.1186/s12978-018-0614-4
- Zhang, J., Jemmott III, J. B., & Heeren, G. A. (2017). Sub-Saharan African university students' beliefs about abstinence, condom use, and limiting the number of sexual partners. *Behavioral Medicine*, 43(1), 9–20. doi:10.1080/08964289.2015.1028321